

## Genomic Characterization of Three Novel *Acidovorax* Phage Genera and Their Potential in Phage Biocontrol

### Francisca Manuel Gaspar Vieira

Thesis to obtain the Master of Science Degree in

## **Biological Engineering**

Supervisors: Prof. Miguel Nobre Parreira Cacho Teixeira Dr. Jeroen Wagemans

### **Examination Committee**

Chairperson: Prof. Ana Margarida Nunes da Mata Pires de Azevedo Supervisors: Prof. Miguel Nobre Parreira Cacho Teixeira Members of the Committee: Prof. Leonilde de Fátima Morais Moreira

### October 2021

### Preface

The work presented in this thesis was performed at the Laboratory of Gene Technology, Department of Biosystems of the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven (Leuven, Belgium), during the period February-July 2021, under the supervision of Dr. Jeroen Wagemans and Dominique Holtappels, and within the frame of the Erasmus programme. The thesis was co-supervised at Instituto Superior Técnico by Prof. Miguel Teixeira.

### Declaration

I declare that this document is an original work of my own authorship and that it fulfills all the requirements of the Code of Conduct and Good Practices of the Universidade de Lisboa.

ii

## Acknowledgments

This master's thesis would not have been possible to conclude without the support of colleagues, friends and family, so I would like to express a few words of gratitude.

First of all, I would like to thank all my supervisors for all the time and guidance dedicated to me. To Dr. Jeroen Wagemans, thank you for giving me the opportunity to work in LoGT. Also, for reading my thesis at an incredible speed and for all the remarks and suggestions you made. To Prof. Miguel Teixeira, thank you for the support through all this time. And finally, a huge thank you to my daily supervisor, Dominique Holtappels, for such an amazing guidance. Thank you for your availability and accessibility, for all the corrections and insights, and especially for all your energy and enthusiasm that turned every moment better. Thanks a lot for everything that you have taught me.

My thanks also go to all the team from the Laboratory of Gene Technology, who accompanied me through the whole semester and helped me everytime I needed. Thank you for making me feel welcome in the lab, for the warm cooperation and great atmosphere despite the Corona-measures.

A special thank you to all my family. To my parents and grandparents, for everything they did for me and for the unconditional support. To my sisters, that believed in me like no one else, always giving me confidence and that, despite the distance, never left me alone. A big and very special thank you to Elena, for all the help, time and patience, for always encouraging me to do better in such an honest and direct way, and for never letting me go down in moments of stress.

#### Abstract

Bacterial black spot, caused by Acidovorax valerianellae, is responsible for significant yield losses in lamb's lettuce (Valerianella locusta) in many producing countries, especially in Europe. To date, no resistant varieties of V. locusta are available that effectively control the disease under field conditions. Moreover, concerns over the environmental impact of chemical pesticides and the development of bacterial resistance to antibiotics has urged the discovery of new approaches for disease management. Bacteriophage-based biocontrol has been suggested as a sustainable and natural alternative strategy to combat bacterial pathogens. In this study, novel phages infecting A. valerianellae and A. cattleyae, Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3, Acica and Aval, were isolated and characterized, being representative of three new phage genera. Aval and Acica phages revealed genomic features characteristic of temperate lifestyle, encoding toxins likely associated with lysogenic conversion, which is in sharp contrast to Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3 phages, that displayed a lytic lifestyle. Alfacinha3 was selected for application as a biocontrol agent during seed steeping. It could achieve an 87% reduction in bacterial concentration on artificial infested seeds, and an increase in germination rate from 58.9% to 93.3%. Additionally, after 22 days of growth, the infected seedlings had a dramatic reduction in vigor index, whilst the phage-treated ones had a vigor index similar to the negative control, reinforcing the ability of bacteriophages to effectively reduce disease progression. This study shows how genomic analyses represent an essential route to ensure safe phage application and demonstrates the potential of a phage-based biocontrol strategy against A. valerianellae.

Keywords: Acidovorax, Bacteriophages, Biocontrol, Lamb's lettuce, Genome analysis

#### Resumo

O patógeno Acidovorax valerianellae provoca uma doença caracterizada por manchas pretas nos canónigos (Valerianella locusta), responsável por perdas consideráveis no rendimento em muitos países produtores, especialmente na Europa. Atualmente, nenhuma variedade resistente de V. locusta foi encontrada e não é possível controlar eficazmente esta doença. Além disso, a preocupação com o impacto ambiental dos pesticidas e desenvolvimento de resistência aos antibióticos tem obrigado a procura de novas abordagens para o controlo de doenças. Nesse sentido, o biocontrolo baseado em bacteriófagos tem surgido como uma estratégia alternativa sustentável. Neste estudo, os primeiros fagos a infetar A. valerianellae e A. cattleyae, Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3, Acica e Aval, foram isolados e caracterizados, sendo representativos de três novos géneros. Os fagos Aval e Acica revelaram características genómicas particulares de atividade lisogénica, codificando toxinas associadas a conversão lisogénica, em contraste com os fagos Alfacinha1 e Alfacinha3, que mostraram seguir um ciclo de vida lítico. Alfacinha3 foi selecionado para tratamento de sementes contra A. valerianellae, permitindo atingir uma redução de 87% na concentração bacteriana dentro da semente e aumentar a taxa de germinação de 58,9% para 93,3%. Além disso, após 22 dias de crescimento, as plantas infetadas apresentaram uma redução acentuada no índice de vigor, ao contrário daguelas tratadas com o fago cujo índice de vigor era semelhante ao controlo negativo, reduzindo, portanto, a progressão da doença. Este estudo mostra como a análise genómica representa uma ferramenta essencial para garantir a aplicação segura de fagos e demonstra o potencial do biocontrolo baseado em fagos contra A. valerianellae.

Keywords: Acidovorax, Bacteriófagos, Biocontrolo, Canónigos, Análise genómica

# Contents

Ał	ostra	ct		iii
Re	esum	0		v
Li	st of	Tables		xi
Li	st of	Figure	S	xiii
1	Intro	oductio	n	1
2	Lite	rature	Review	3
	2.1	Impor	tance of Crop Protection	3
		2.1.1	Pest Management Strategies	3
	2.2	Acido	vorax Plant Diseases	4
		2.2.1	General description of Acidovorax genus	4
		2.2.2	Acidovorax spp. are notorious pathogens infecting a wide array of different plant	
			hosts	5
		2.2.3	Acidovorax valerianellae: An emerging pathogen of lamb's lettuce	7
		2.2.4	Integrated pest management of Acidovorax	9
	2.3	Bacter	riophages as a Strategy in Biocontrol	10
		2.3.1	History of Bacteriophages	10
		2.3.2	The Sequencing Era and Phage Taxonomy	10
		2.3.3	Life and Infection Cycles	11
		2.3.4	Application of Bacteriophages in Biocontrol	14
			2.3.4.1 General Considerations	14
			Phage selection	14
			Phage persistence in the plant environment	15
			Chemical's interference	17
			Co-evolution of bacteria and phage	17
			2.3.4.2 Phage Commercialization and Market	18
			2.3.4.3 Phage Biocontrol of <i>Acidovorax</i>	18
3	Mate	erials a	Ind Methods	21
	3.1	Bacter	rial Strains and Growth Conditions	21
	3.2	Phage	Manipulations	21
		3.2.1	Bacteriophage Isolation, Amplification, and Purification	21
		3.2.2	Electron Microscopy	23
		3.2.3	Host Range Analysis	23
		3.2.4	Adsorption and Infection Curves	24

в	Pha	ge Genome Annotations	79
A	Plac	que Morphologies	77
Bi	bliog	raphy	56
	5.3	General conclusion	55
	5.2	Alfacinha3 may be a promising seed-coating agent for biocontrol of Acidovorax valerianellae	54
		host-phage interactions	53
	5.1	The characterization of the new Acidovorax isolated phages reveals a high diversity of	
5	Con	clusions and Future Perspectives	53
		4.3.5 DISCUSSION	49
		4.3.4 Seeu Bloassay	4/
		4.3.3.2 Intection Curves	46
		4.3.3.1 Adsorption Assay	46
		4.3.3 Microbiological Characterization of Altacinha3	45
		4.3.2 Protein Isolation	45
		4.3.1 Genomic Analysis	39
	4.3	New Clade Consisting of two Phage Genera Infecting A. valerianellae and A. cattleyae	39
		4.2.5 Discussion	38
		4.2.4 Assessing the Lysogen Activity of Aval	36
		4.2.3 Infection Curve	36
		4.2.2 Protein Isolation	35
		4.2.1 Genomic Analysis	31
	4.2	Aval - an Orphan Temperate A.valerianellae Phage	31
		4.1.1 Host Range	30
	4.1	Isolation of Novel Bacteriophages	29
4	Res	ults and Discussion	29
		3.6.2 Seedlings bioassay in vitro	27
		3.6.1 Seed bioassay <i>in vitro</i>	26
	3.6	Bioassays	26
		3.5.2 Data Processing and Analysis	26
		3.5.1 DNA Extraction and Sequencing	26
	3.5	Genome Analysis	26
		3.4.2 SDS-PAGE	25
		3.4.1 Protein Isolation	25
	3.4 Proteome Analysis		
	3.3	Lysogeny Assessment	24

# **List of Tables**

2.1	Plant pathogenic members of the Acidovorax genus	5
3.1	Bacterial strains used in this study.	22
4.1	Host range analysis.	31
4.2	Summary of the main genomic characteristics of Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Acica	40
4.3	Measurements of the seedlings.	49
B.1	Annotation of the genome of the bacteriophage Aval	79
B.2	Annotation of the genome of the bacteriophage Alfacinha1	80
B.3	Annotation of the genome of the bacteriophage Alfacinha3	81
B.4	Annotation of the genome of the bacteriophage Acica.	83

# **List of Figures**

2.1 2.2	Overview of the disease cycle of <i>Acidovorax valerianellae</i>	8 11
2.2	Overview of phage life cycles.	13
3.1	Layout of the enrichment with soil samples in 96-deep-well blocks.	23
3.2	Screening pipeline for lysogen activity of a given phage	25
4.1	Transmission Electron Microscopy images.	30
4.2	Variation in coverage of the sequencing reads over the genome of Aval.	32
4.3	Neighbor-joining tree of large terminase protein sequences of Aval and other phages	32
4.4	Proteomic tree based on genomic relationships between Aval and other known phages.	33
4.5	Heatmap based on the calculated sequence similarities between Aval and related phages.	33
4.6	Phylogenetic tree of the major capsid protein.	34
4.7	Genome map of phage Aval.	34
4.8	Analysis of the Aval structural proteins by SDS-PAGE.	35
4.9	Infection curves of A.valerianellae GBBC 3357 with Aval with MOI 0.1.	36
4.10	Screening of spontaneous phage release from spot assays.	37
4.11	Screening of homoimmunity and superinfection exclusion.	37
4.12	Neighbor-joining tree of large terminase protein sequences of Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3,	
	Acica and other phages.	40
4.13	Proteomic tree based on genomic relationships between Acica, Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3	
	and other known phages.	41
4.14	Heatmap based on the calculated sequence similarities between Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3,	
	Acica and related phages.	41
4.15	Phylogenetic trees of the major capsid protein and large terminase subunit.	42
4.16	Genome map of the Acidovorax phages Acica, Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3 and of the	
	Ralstonia phages phiRSA1 and RSY1	43
4.17	Proteome comparison of Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Acica.	44
4.18	Analysis of Alfacinha1 structural proteins by SDS-PAGE.	45
4.19	Adsorption curve of Alfacinha3 to the host strain A. valerianellae GBBC 3161, with MOI=0.01.	46
4.20	Infection curves of A.valerianellae GBBC 3161 infected with Alfacinha3 at different multi-	
	plicities of infection.	47
4.21	Bacterial and phage concentration on the seeds.	47
4.22	Lamb's lettuce seedlings after germination.	48
4.23	Measurements of the shoot(A) and root (B) length.	49
A.1	Plaque morphologies of the four phages Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3, Aval anad Acica	77

# **List of Acronyms**

Abi	Abortive infection
ASM	Acibenzolar-S-methyl
BFB	Bacterial fruit blotch
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
Вр	Base pair
CFBP	Collection Francaise de Bactéries Phytopathogènes
CFU	Colony forming unit
CRISPR	Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeat
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dsDNA/RNA	Double stranded DNA/RNA
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EPS	Extracellular polymeric substances
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
GBBC	Culture collection of plant pathogenic bacteria at ILVO
HGT	Horizontal Gene Transfer
нтн	Helix-turn-helix
НТР	High-throughput
ICTV	International Committee on the Taxonomy of Viruses
ICNV	International Committee on Nomenclature of Viruses
ILVO	Instituut voor Landbouw en Visserijonderzoek
IPSP-CNR	Istituto per la Protezione Sostenibile delle Piante
kb	Kilobase(s)
LB	Lysogeny Broth
LB <sub>ms</sub>	Lysogeny Broth, medium salt
LMG	Laboratory of Microbiology of Ghent University
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
ΜΟΙ	Multiplicity of infection
MS	Murashige and Skoog basal medium

MTase	Methyltransferase
OD	Optical density
ORF	Open reading frame
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PCG	Provinciaal Proefcentrum voor de groenteteelt Oost-Vlaanderen
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PFU	Plaque forming unit
РНВ	Poly-3-hydroxybutyrate
PHBV	Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) copolymer
PMVE	Polymethyl vinyl ether
PSKW	Proefstation voor de groenteteelt Sint-Katelijne Waver
pv	Pathovar
QS	Quorum sensing
RBP	Receptor binding protein
RHS	Rearrangement hotspot
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RPM	Rotations per minute
SAR	Systemic acquired resistance
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SmR	Streptomycin-resistance
ssDNA/RNA	Single stranded DNA/RNA
ТЕМ	Transmission electron microscopy
USA	United States of America
UV	Ultraviolet

## **Chapter 1**

## Introduction

Each year, the world faces an increasing challenge regarding crop production. While a boost in the agricultural yield is crucial to satisfy the global growing demand, agriculture is, on other hand, limited by the increasing scarcity and diminishing quality of land and water resources. Moreover, climate change already negatively affects all agricultural sectors, and this impact is likely to become stronger in the coming years if no substantial investments are made to develop and implement more resource-saving and climate-friendly technologies. A changing course is thus critical to avoid a future characterized by persistent food insecurity and unsustainable economic growth. A sustainable way forward is to improve the performance and efficiency of the current croplands rather than continue to expand and clear more areas. For this purpose, major constraints, such as bacterial plant diseases, should be minimized. Given the emergent crisis of antibiotic-resistant pathogens and the lack of efficient methods to control them, along with the increasing demand for chemical-free food, there is a high demand for research in sustainable and natural pest control strategies. Bacteriophages are emerging as a suitable alternative for more consumer-friendly organic farming, since they are antibacterial agents that occur naturally in the environment, posing no harm to humans who are in constant exposure to them.

In recent years, phage biocontrol has indeed shown promising outcomes in a number of major bacterial plant diseases. However, despite the growing benefits of phage application in different crops, phage biocontrol studies in *Acidovorax* pathogens, responsible for heavy economic losses in a wide array of plants, have hardly been reported. One major target is lamb's lettuce, mainly sold as a ready-to-eat vegetable. This market has recently gained significant attention, given the increasing consumer interest in practical and labeled products, leading to higher prices and, in turn, higher economic benefits for those involved in the production chain.

The overall objective of this thesis was to characterize novel bacteriophages and evaluate their potential in the biocontrol of *Acidovorax valerianellae*, the causing agent of black spot disease in lamb's lettuce. As a first step, bacteriophages were isolated from soil samples, and their host range was screened using an established collection of diverse *Acidovorax* strains (Chapter 4.1). The phage isolates were subsequently characterized in depth to assess their suitability and safety for application in biocontrol (Chapters 4.2 and 4.3). This included a genomic characterization by whole genome sequencing to unravel basic genomic features and to prospect the diversity of host-phage interactions. As newly sequenced phages, the relationship with other known viruses was also explored based on genome-wide sequence similarities along with phylogenetic analyses. Chapter 4.2 focuses on the characterization of one of the isolated bacteriophages, the orphan phage Aval, and explores its infection route. Chapter 4.3 includes the characterization of the other clade of isolated phages, Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Acica. In a last phase, based on the infection strategy, the best phage candidate, Alfacinha3, was selected for further microbiological assays (Chapter 4.3.3), including investigation of speed and efficiency of adsorption and infection, and for a seed bioassay to assess its efficacy as seed-coating agent against *A. valerianellae* (Chapter 4.3.4).

In summary, this research project provides a proof of concept for the use of bacteriophages as a potential alternative to the current control techniques to combat bacterial plant diseases.

### Chapter 2

## **Literature Review**

### 2.1 Importance of Crop Protection

According to an estimate by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), the world population will reach almost 10 billion by 2050 [1]. The role of agriculture in continuously providing safe food to a growing global human population is thus of utmost importance. Even more, sustainability is key to minimize the impact on the environment, given the threat of climate change, biodiversity loss and freshwater eutrophication [2]. Several predictions have shown that global crop production needs to double by 2050 to keep up with the projected demands from a rising population, diet transitions, and increasing biofuels consumption. Nevertheless, the world is now facing a major challenge given that the agricultural yields are not improving accordingly to meet that increase [3]. Even though, opportunities do exist to boost crop production over clearing more land. The agricultural expansion of croplands has been prevented due to the high environmental cost to biodiversity and carbon emissions [4]. Some additional strategies should also be noted to reduce this expected demand growth in food, namely reducing food waste and modifying to a more plant-based diet [3].

In order to boost crop production, limiting factors need to be minimized. In this respect, bacterial plant diseases place major constraints on crop production and account for significant annual losses up to 40% on a global scale, according to the FAO, representing an important threat to the food security and economy [5]. However, the identification and deployment of disease management solutions for bacterial diseases still remain a formidable challenge.

### 2.1.1 Pest Management Strategies

Chemical bactericides, such as copper-based compounds and antibiotics have been the most common and effective way of controlling disease outbreaks in many pathosystems in the absence of permanent and robust host disease resistance. Although they have been relatively successful disease management tools, its extensive use over multiple years is correlated with the selection of resistance in pathogen populations [6].

Streptomycin has, for example, been the most widely used antibiotic for plant disease control since its introduction in 1955 [7]. It has been used primarily for the control of fire blight by *Erwinia amylovora*, but also targeting other pathogens such as *Pseudomonas syringae*, *Xanthomonas campestris* and *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* [8]. Due to its longest use for the treatment of a wide range of crops throughout the largest geographic region, streptomycin resistance is now quite widespread among plant-pathogenic bacteria. The majority of streptomycin-resistant (SmR) plant pathogens encode the transmissible SmR

transposon Tn5393, originally isolated from *E. amylovora*, that harbors *strAB*, a tandem resistance gene pair that confers streptomycin resistance through inactivation of the streptomycin molecule through either phosphorylation or adenylylation [8, 9].

Despite the use of antibiotics has generally been discouraged, a few others, such as oxytetracycline, gentamicin and kasugamycin, have been used to control various crop diseases caused by species including *Erwinia*, *Pectobacterium*, *Pseudomonas*, *Ralstonia*, and *Xanthomonas*, and especially in areas where streptomycin is no longer effective because of resistance [7, 10]. These antibiotics have, however, also been linked to incidences of resistance. For instance, tetracycline resistance was reported in a few plant-pathogenic bacteria, including *P. syringae* [11] and *A. tumefaciens* [12], and resistance to kasugamycin was reported for two bacterial rice pathogens, *Acidovorax avenae* and *Burkholderia glumae* [13]. Although there are few reports of resistance, multiple tetracycline resistance genes are present within the genomes of several different plant-pathogenic bacteria, including multiple *Xanthomonas* and *Pseudomonas* species, *Ralstonia solanacearum* and *Erwinia piriflorinigrans* [14]. Given the horizontal gene transfer and the acquisition of resistance genes by plant pathogens in many ecosystems, it is to be expected that with any newly introduced antibiotic there will be an evolution of resistance.

As a result of the recent restrictions on general antibiotics and chemicals to ensure public health and to limit the occurrence of resistant strains, the search for sustainable, natural biocontrol of bacterial pathogens has reached a critical stage, especially given the increased food production demand [15]. Governments, such as the European Commission, agreed to establish integrated pest management strategies as the standard for crop protection. These strategies are based on the implementation of sustainable pest control strategies with the emphasis on biological control not to eradicate pests, but to maintain their populations to avoid economical losses [15]. An integrated management approach can include the use of plant host resistance or the growth of less susceptible cultivars, cultural practices directed at inoculum reduction, but also the intervention with chemical and/or biological controls. The latter can be broadly defined as the use of beneficial microbes or their byproducts or byproducts/extracts from plants or animals in the suppression of plant disease [6]. To develop such strategies, a thorough understanding of the ecology of potential antagonists, interactions with plants and with its microbiome and interactions with pathogens is needed for improved and sustainable deployment in commercial systems. Functional genomic analyses appear to represent a solid route to obtain knowledge on current gold-standard biocontrol agents [6].

A questionnaire launched by Mansfield and colleagues in 2012, asking for the most prominent bacterial species in plant pathology includes *P. syringae*, *A. tumefaciens* and *E. amylovora* [16]. Nevertheless, *Acidovorax* spp. infecting cucurbits, cereal crops, lettuce, among others, are also prominent bacterial species causing losses in the respective crops. In this literature review, we will dig deeper into this bacterial genus and discuss the implementation of phage biocontrol to control the diseases caused by these bacterial species.

### 2.2 Acidovorax Plant Diseases

#### 2.2.1 General description of Acidovorax genus

The genus *Acidovorax* was established in 1990 and initially contained only the non-phytopatogenic species *A. facilis*, *A. temperans* and *A. delafeldii* [17]. The plant pathogenic members of the genus, originally classified in the genus *Pseudomonas*, were transferred into the genus *Acidovorax* in 1992 by Willems *et al.* [18]. The genus *Acidovorax* belongs to the beta division of the Proteobacteria [17] and includes a variety of species that exhibit distinctive lifestyles. From the *Acidovorax* described species, it is shown that some are well adapted to water and soil environments while others can interact with

eukaryotic organisms, acting mainly as phytopathogens. Among the latter, some species were found to cause disease to a variety of agriculturally and economically important crops, including *A. citrulli*, *A. avenae*, *A. oryzae*, *A. cattleyae*, *A. konjaci*, *A. anthurii*, and *A. valerianellae* [18, 19, 20, 21], that are summarized in Table 2.1. On the other hand, some of the *Acidovorax* environmental species occupying water and soil habitats have shown interesting features due to their ability to degrade environmental pollutants, including arsenic removal from wastewater [22], capability of degrading human-made toxic compounds polychlorinated biphenyl/biphenyl and 2-nitrotoluene [23, 24] and biodegradation of some commercial polyesters such as PHB and PHBV [25].

Pathogen	Host	Disease	
A. anthurii	Anthurium spp.	Leaf-spot	
A. avenae	Poaceae	Red stripe of sugarcane; Leaf blight of maize and sorghum	
A cattlevae	Cattleya spp.,	L oof coot	
A. calleyae	Phalaenopsis spp.	Lear-spor	
A. citrulli	Cucurbitaceae	Fruit blotch	
A. konjaci	Amorphophallus konjac	Leaf-spot	
A. oryzae	Oryzae sativa	Brown stripe	
A. valerianellae	Valerianella locusta	Leaf-spot	
Acidovorax sp.	Geranium and petunia	Leaf-spot	

Table 2.1: Plant	pathogenic memb	ers of the Acidovo	rax genus.
------------------	-----------------	--------------------	------------

### 2.2.2 Acidovorax spp. are notorious pathogens infecting a wide array of different plant hosts

As summarized by Table 2.1, Acidovorax consists of diverse species of bacteria infecting a wide array of plants. One of the most prominent species in this genus is A. avenae. This species was transferred from the genus Pseudomonas to the genus Acidovorax by Willems et al. (1992) [18] as three subspecies: A. avenae subsp. cattleyae, A. avenae subsp. citrulli, and A. avenae subsp. avenae. However, a study was performed by Schaad et al. (2008) [21] to re-evaluate the phylogenetic relatedness among the above phytopathogenic A. avenae subspecies. Genetic (16S rDNA and 16S-23S rDNA internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region sequencing, DNA/DNA reassociation assays, AFLP analysis) and phenotypic data, including fatty acid profiles, revealed four distinct genotypes among the A. avenae strains, supporting an emendation of the species. Therefore, nowadays, several authors adopt the reclassification up to species level as A. avenae, A. cattleyae, A. citrulli, and the new species A. oryzae for the rice isolates. A. avenae infects Poaceae family members, including maize, sorghum, corn, oat, barley, rye, various millet strains, vasey grass, and sugarcane [26, 27]. Recently, A. avenae causing bacterial leaf blight on tea was also demonstrated [28]. On sugarcane, A. avenae causes red stripe and top rot [29]. This disease affects sugarcane crops practically worldwide, being present in more than 50 countries, and is related to serious global losses in yield [26, 30, 31]. Symptoms appear on the leaves and leaf sheaths as water-soaked stripes that gradually turn reddish and a stem rot which normally begins near the growing point. It can significantly reduce theoretically recoverable sucrose when its incidence exceeds 25% [32]. Also, severe infection of sorghum has been reported to occur under greenhouse conditions. The leaves of sorghum infected by the pathogen develop a greyishgreen color with red borders or small, irregular and reddish necrotic stripes which may coalesce to form extensive necrotic areas covering a large proportion of leaf [29]. Despite its importance, there is little information on the use of chemicals to control diseases caused by A. avenae. However, copper sulphate

and streptocycline (which is a combination of streptomycin and tetracycline) have been used to control infection in maize [29].

Another economical relevant pathogen within the *Acidovorax* species, *A. cattleyae* was first isolated from diseased orchids with leaf spot by Pavarino (1911) in Italy [33], as *Pseudomonas cattleyae*. Infections by this bacterium in *Cattleya spp.*, *Phalaenopsis spp.* and their hybrids have been reported in Australia, Italy, the Netherlands, Philippines, Portugal, Taiwan, Poland and the USA [34, 35, 36], resulting in heavy losses to the orchid industry. The pathogen enters the plant through the stomata [37], and symptoms begin as small, dark green, water-soaked spots on the bottom of the leaves. These lesions increase in size rapidly to kill the entire leaves and possibly even invading the growing point of the plant, causing death [38]. Usually, the color turns from light to dark brown with age and older spots may be surrounded by a light green or yellow halo. Despite its relevance to the horticultural sector and even though this disease has been detected often over the last years very little research has been published about it.

This is in sharp contrast to A. citrulli, which has been the focus of several studies in literature. This member of the Acidovorax genus causes bacterial fruit blotch (BFB), an economically important disease in the cucurbit production industry. The pathogen was first reported by Webb and Goth (1965) [39] as the causal agent of BFB in commercial watermelon fields in Georgia. Since then, it was also reported in several other countries around the world, representing nowadays a serious threat to cucurbit crop production worldwide [40, 41, 42]. Although the pathogen is known to mainly infect watermelon and melon, BFB has been reported in many other cucurbits such as pumpkin, honeydew, cucumber, squash, anguria fruit, burr gherkin and gramma (Cucurbita moschata) [29, 41]. Apart from cucurbitaceous species, A. citrulli was also isolated from diseased eggplant seedlings and tomato seeds [43]. Symptoms of BFB can appear on all developmental stages of plant growth and include water-soaked lesions on cotyledons, hypocotyls, and leaves, and also light brown-reddish colored lesions on the leaves. In addition, small and irregular water-soaked regions on a fruit surface progress through the rind, resulting in decays and cracks, that can lead to total fruit loss, resulting in large economic losses up to 90% [44]. The application of copper-containing bactericides or antibiotics on infested fields showed to be ineffective [45], and to date there is still no BFB-resistant cultivars commercially available [40]. It is reported that A. citrulli displays remarkable longevity in stored cucurbit seeds [41, 46], and since it is a seed-borne disease, the use of pathogen-free seed has been a priority for disease control.

*A. oryzae* (formerly *A. avenae* subsp. *avenae*) that has been gaining attention more recently, is the causal agent of bacterial brown stripe of rice (*Oryza sativa*). This disease has caused heavy economic loss in many countries in the whole world, with special incidence in rice-growing regions of East Asia; China, South Korea and Japan [47, 48]. The contaminated seeds represent the main source of inocula for outbreak of the disease [49]. The first symptoms appear as brown stripes on the lower part of the leaf sheath and frequently extend into the sheaths by spreading along the leaf midrib [50]. Rice is expected to be a leading crop to feed rising world's population, which is expected to increase by 70% in 2050 [51, 52]. Therefore, it is of great importance to find an adequate and sustainable control strategy. Several chemical antimicrobial agents in the form of pesticides and antibiotics (triazoles, tetracycline, nalidixic acid, chloramphenicol and sulfamethoxazole) have been used to control and prevent rice diseases [53, 52]. However, it is not only expensive and environmentally corrosive but also leads to pathogen resistance against these chemicals. Recently, nanotechnology has emerged as an alternative to conventional chemical control methods. Several studies have reported the use of metal nanoparticles for its potential antimicrobial activity against the rice pathogens such as *A. oryzae* [52, 54, 55, 56, 48, 57].

Some other plants have also been the target of diseases caused by *Acidovorax* pathogens. For instance, *A. anthurii* causes bacterial leaf spot of anthurium (*Anthurium andreanum*), an important or namental cash crop found in most tropical-humid countries, particularly the Caribbean, Latin America

and Hawaii. It has been identified as a serious limiting factor for commercial anthurium production, especially in the French West Indies and Trinidad and Tobago [19]. The pathogen enters the vascular system of anthurium leaves via natural openings or wounds. The disease begins as necrotic lesions close to the veins and leaf margins which can rapidly become in large, black necrotic spots which turn grey on older leaves. Infection can become systemic resulting in tissue discoloration and lead to eventual plant death [58]. It is still a challenge to control this disease since cultural control methods have proven to be inadequate in controlling the disease, related with the phytotoxicity of copper for *Anthurium spp.*, and due to the lack of resistant varieties [58, 59]. It is mostly argued that the development of resistant cultivars is the only means of sustainable management of this disease [59], and there is currently some effort to investigate the genetics of resistance and improve breeding efficiency in order to revitalize the anthurium industry [60].

Another example is *A. konjaci*, previously described as *Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes* subsp. *konjaci* [61] that causes bacterial leaf blight of konjac (*Amorphophallus konjac*). Konjac is grown in East and Southeast of Asia for its large starchy corms, used to create a flour and jelly, and also used as a vegan substitute for gelatin. The major symptoms of the disease are leaf spots and leaf blight, but under severe conditions the petioles become infected, and the plant will wilt and the roots may rot [61]. The bacterium enters the plant through stomatal openings and wounds and spreads by wind, rain and contact with diseased material [62], being able to survive for extended periods of time in plant debris and soil. Recently, it has also been reported that this bacterium causes black rot disease on Korean radish (*Raphanus sativus*) [63], an important vegetable crop in Korea, showing brownish-black symptoms on both exterior and interior of the roots, significantly reducing the value of the agricultural product. It was also reported black spot disease on cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*) with the detection of water-soaked leaves and black spots [64].

A last, more subtle yet emerging member of the *Acidovorax* genus, is *Acidovorax valerianellae*, subject of this Master's dissertation.

#### 2.2.3 Acidovorax valerianellae: An emerging pathogen of lamb's lettuce

*A. valerianellae* causes bacterial black spot of lamb's lettuce (*Valerianella locusta*), also called corn salad [65], a member of the family *Valerianaceae*. In Asia, it was also reported that *A. valerianellae* can infect watermelon [66, 67], tea [68] and hydrangea [69].

Bacterial black spot was observed for the first time in western France fields in 1991 and since then widespread in several other countries in Europe, being responsible for economic losses in corn salad cropping of at least 10% in tonnage every year [70, 71]. Typical disease symptoms appear as black spots on cotyledons, leaves, petioles and stems. Cotyledons and leaves initially develop water-soaked, angular lesions, which later develop into black necrotic spots. In the case of severe infection, foliar lesions may also coalesce into blights [72]. This reduces corn salad quality significantly, making the affected batches unmarketable [71]. The period between infection and symptom expression ranges from 3 to 21 days, and is influenced by temperature, plant age, and soil characteristics, including the nutrient status of the plants. A. valerianellae colonizes leaves and roots shortly after seed germination and can be detected even without symptom development [72]. Transmission by contaminated seeds and soil are discussed as major infection sources [73]. Bacteria released from leaf and stem lesions in exudates can also be spread via splashing water and wind driven rain, facilitating short-distance pathogen dispersal, entering the host tissue through natural openings, such as stomata, or wounds possibly caused by agronomic operations [72]. Figure 2.1 shows the dispersal of the disease in the cultivation method of the crop. During the late stages of lamb's lettuce production, when plants are densely planted and overhead watering is used, this poses a major danger for the development of a black spot pandemic. Between lamb's lettuce plantings, *A. valerianellae* persists in contaminated seeds and infected plant debris in the soil, being able to be recovered from soil for up to 39 days after harvest of a diseased crop [70]. Continuous lamb's lettuce cultivation raises soil inoculum levels, which leads to infection of subsequent crops during germination and other plant growth stages.



**Figure 2.1: Overview of the disease cycle of** *Acidovorax valerianellae.* Infection of leaf and vascular tissue in crops can occur through infection of the seed or by external factors. This infection leads to the development of foliar symptoms, which in turn results into the decay of the xylem and ends with a systemic infection of the plant. The pathogen can be further dispersed by contaminated seeds which results into the formation of infected seedlings, or it can survive in a debris-filled soil. Splashing water and wind driven rain facilitates short-distance pathogen dispersal, that can enter other host through natural openings, such as stomata, or wounds possibly caused by agronomic operations. Adapted from [74].

In recent years, fresh-cut vegetables have attracted consumer interest as a practical alternative to traditional vegetable crops presenting a wide number of advantages, such as freshness, safety, convenience, and labeled information [75]. These factors often result in higher prices and so to economic benefits for those involved in the production chain [76]. Therefore, the production of ready-to-eat leafy vegetables have gained increasingly importance in Europe. Lamb's lettuce grows in a low rosette with spatulate dark green leaves up to 15.2 cm long. It is mainly produced for the preparation of ready-to-use salad, but also for traditional sale in trays [20]. The plants grow wild in Europe, northern Africa and western Asia, and has been traditionally cultivated for use in salad during autumn and winter months [72]. In Europe, it is produced mainly in France, Germany and Italy. The Nantes area in western France accounts for 90% of French lamb's lettuce output, which represented 75% of global production in 2000 [20]. Furthermore, lamb's lettuce is among the mostly requested baby-leaves commercialized in the Italian market [77]. For a long time, corn salad was strictly considered a winter salad. Out-of-season (April to September) cultivation is now feasible due to the use of advance cultivation techniques allowing for continuous, year-round production of this leaf vegetable [78]. It is cultivated under plastic tunnels that create high humidity conditions that promote plant growth and, by extension, bacterial disease development [72]. The growing period of corn salad varies according to the weather; harvesting can begin from 40 to 110 days after sowing. Harvesting takes place when 3-4 pairs of leaves for sealed plastic bags, 4-6 pairs of leaves for sales in plastic punnets and 7-8 pairs of leaves for traditional sale in trays [78].

Currently, it is particularly difficult the control of black spot of lamb's lettuce in the field once an

outbreak occurs. To date, no resistant varieties of *V. locusta* or chemicals are available that effectively control the disease under field conditions. Nevertheless, significant efforts to seek for seed treatments have been made [79, 80], and other management strategies have been explored to control *Acidovorax* pathogens.

### 2.2.4 Integrated pest management of Acidovorax

As *Acidovorax* pathogens have shown resistance to antibiotics [13], and because its overuse has been raising public concern, alternative control strategies are eminent.

A wide range of seed treatments, including thermotherapy, chemical and biochemical methods, have been conducted for the control of *Acidovorax* pathogens, such as *A. citrulli* and *A. valerianellae*. However, it remains a big challenge to completely decontaminate the infested seeds, once the pathogen is located in the embryo, where it is protected from external antimicrobial compounds [41, 81]. For instance, fermentation of cucurbitaceous seeds with chitosan, streptomycin sulphate, sodium hypochlorite, peroxyacetic acid, mercury chloride, hydrochloric acid, calcium chloride, have been reported to significantly reduce seed-to-seedling transmission of BFB disease, but unable to fully eradicate *A. citrulli* [41, 81]. In lamb's lettuce, several seed disinfection methods were tested, including aerated steam, hot water, sodium hypochlorite, ethanol and calcium hydroxide [79]. Although sodium hypochlorite revealed to have an effect against *A. valerianellae*, it is not allowed in organic farming since it presents poor degradability and potential toxicity [80].

Steam treatment of the soil has also been used in lamb's lettuce production once a year [72]. Depending on the type of culture, steam is injected into the soil to a specified depth. Pathogens and weeds are killed when the soil temperature reaches 80-85°C, without compromising the physical and chemical soil qualities that are necessary for plant growth [72]. Although superficial soil disinfestation decreases bacterial inoculum it does not totally eradicate pathogen propagules.

Biological control with natural antagonistic microorganisms present in the rhizosphere has been exploited against different plant diseases, among which the *Bacillus* genus is one of the most frequently studied biological control agents. Some attempts have been made to control BFB using *Bacillus*, by developing seed coating formulations and treatments, that significantly reduced BFB seed transmission [82, 83, 84, 85]. For instance, the antagonistic *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* 54 showed potential in control the BFB by increasing the expression level of defense-related gene PR1 and the accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in the plant [84], and *B. subtilis* 9407 efficiently controlled BFB through the production of surfactin [83]. Also, Masum *et al.* showed the ability of halotolerant bacteria from the group *B. amyloliquefaciens* to inhibit the growth of *A. oryzae*, demonstrating the great potential of biocontrol of the rice brown stripe disease [86].

Fessehaie and Walcott demonstrated that biological seed treatment with a strain of *A. avenae* effectively reduced transmission of infection by *A. citrulli* in growth chamber and green house conditions [87]. Additionally, it was also successful in reducing seed infestation when applied as a protectant to female watermelon blossoms. However, the *A. avenae* strain used in these experiments is pathogenic to maize and therefore could not be commercialized as a biocontrol agent [87].

Another biocontrol approach is based on the generation of nonpathogenic strains of phytopathogens and has been used before to manage plant diseases. These strains can occur naturally or can be generated by mutagenesis. Johnson *et al.* [88] developed a nonpathogenic mutant of *A. citrulli* that was able to reduce BFB seedling transmission.

Some other biocontrol strategies have also been explored to treat BFB, including the use of rhizobacteria [89], yeasts [90] and bacteriophages [42, 91]. The latter will be further described in Section 2.3.4.

### 2.3 Bacteriophages as a Strategy in Biocontrol

### 2.3.1 History of Bacteriophages

Bacteriophages are the most abundant biological entity in the biosphere with an estimated number of 10<sup>31</sup> [92]. Phages are viruses that infect bacteria, subverting the metabolism of their bacterial hosts in order to replicate, and displaying the ability to kill them while not affecting cell lines from other organisms.

Bacteriophages were found out in parallel by Frederick Twort [93] and Félix d'Herelle [94]. With the quick recognition of their potential as antibacterial agents, the application of phages has been proposed since its inception as a therapy to treat acute and chronic infections [95]. Studies were also initiated with the aim of using phages to control plant diseases. Mallmann and Hemstreet (1924) showed the inhibition of *Xanthomonas campestris* pv. *campestris* in cabbage [96], and Kotila and Coons (1925) demonstrated the prevention of soft rot by *Pectobacterium atrosepticum* and *Pectobacterium carotovorum* ssp *carotovorum* on potato and carrot, respectively [97, 98]. The first field trials were also performed by Thomas (1935), who showed the reduction of the incidence of Stewart's wilt disease by treating seeds with phage against the phytopathogen *Pantoea stewartii* [99].

The initial fervor over phage therapy as a treatment for bacterial diseases in the pre-antibiotic era was understandably big, but also highly controversial and not widely accepted by the public or medical community alike. The emergence of age of antibiotic chemotherapy with the introduction of sulfa drugs in the 1930s and later penicillin in the 1940s further dampened enthusiasm on phage research, remaining an active area of research and development only in the former USSR and Poland [95]. However, over the last decade, the west is facing a 'phage therapy revival' brought on by the emergence of multi-drug resistant bacteria that led investigators to re-consider this approach.

### 2.3.2 The Sequencing Era and Phage Taxonomy

The classification of phages has been a subject of discussion since their discovery with different classification schemes for the taxonomy of phages being proposed over time. Nevertheless, they have been traditionally classified according to their morphology, using electron microscopy images, their genetic content (DNA vs. RNA), their specific host, their habitat and their life cycle [95]. The importance of phage genome sequence comparisons has been recognized more recently. The International Committee on the Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) is now in charge of creating an internationally agreed upon viral taxonomy and ratification of newly proposed viral taxa.

The vast majority of the identified phages belong to the order *Caudovirales* [100], proposed in 1998 by Hans-Wolfgang Ackermann, that unifies all tailed phages. For tailed phages, the formal taxonomy adopted in 1971 by the International Committee on Nomenclature of Viruses (ICNV), and later accepted by ICTV in 1981 and 1984, has been classifying them into three morphotypes: *Myoviridae* which have a contractile tail, *Siphoviridae* with a long, non-contractile tail and *Podoviridae* with a short non-contractile tail [101], as illustrated in Figure 2.2. Based on morphology and genetic material, the non-tailed phages have been organized into other 11 distinct phage families [102] (Fig. 2.2), not limited to a single order. For example, filamentous phages have been included in the *Inoviridae* family.



Figure 2.2: Phage families based on morphology and genetic material (ss/ds DNA/RNA) and generalized structure of a tailed phage. Adapted from [102].

With the beginning of the genomic era in the early 2000s, the sequencing of phage genomes showed far more genomic variety than previously thought, particularly in bacteriophages belonging to the order *Caudovirales*. This resulted in a more frequent updating and formation of new families and subfamilies, that today already accounts for 14 different families in the *Caudovirales* [103], and also a higher number of non-tailed phage families, belonging to several different orders.

In order to address the recent increasing genomic diversity, ICTV has been expanding taxonomic ranks and is now proposing some other fundamental changes to classification, including the abolishment of the order *Caudovirales* and of the classical families *Myoviridae*, *Podoviridae*, and *Siphoviridae*, to replace them with monophyletic, genome-based families [101]. Despite this, it is suggested that the terms myovirus, podovirus, and siphovirus continue to be used to describe phage morphology [101]. Specific criteria for ranking tailed phages in the class *Caudoviricetes*, have also been defined. Two phages are assigned to the same species if their genomes are more than 95% identical at the nucleotide level over their full genome length, tested reciprocally. To create distinct genera, 70% nucleotide identity of the full genome length was established as the cut-off. Subfamilies are created when two or more discrete genera are related below the family level. A family is represented by a cohesive and monophyletic group in the main predicted proteome-based clustering tools (ViPTree, GRAViTy dendrogram, vConTACT2 network), and its members share a significant number of orthologous genes. Orders should be proposed when two or more families are related [101].

### 2.3.3 Life and Infection Cycles

Phages can display different life cycles within the bacterial host: lytic, lysogenic, pseudolysogenic, and chronic infection [95], as illustrated in Figure 2.3.

Independently of the type of cycle of a phage life, the first step in phage infection is the attachment to specific receptors of the bacterial cell wall by specialized adsorption structures, such as fibers or spikes. The type and location of host cell receptors vary considerably, ranging from peptide sequences to polysaccharide moieties, influencing the spectrum of the possible phage-bacteria interactions [95]. More than one receptor may also be involved in the adsorption process, and specific cofactors can be required for binding, such as divalent cations like Ca<sup>2+</sup> or Mg<sup>2+</sup> [104]. In Gram-positive bacteria, peptido-

glycan and teichoic acid are often involved in bacteriophage adsorption, while in Gram-negative bacteria cell proteins and constituents of the LPS are usually used [105]. Additionally, other bacterial structures, such as flagella, pili and capsules can also serve as receptors for phages, as described for the Pseudomonas phage MP22 that attach to the pili [106] and for Salmonella phage iEPS5 that uses a flagellar protein [107]. Bacteria can develop resistance to a specific phage through mutational loss or by altering the receptor [108]. For example, Zaleski et al. demonstrated the loss of a lipo-oligosaccharide phage receptor in Haemophilus influenzae strains in defense against phage infection [109]. However, losing a specific receptor does not provide protection to other phages binding to other receptors. In addition, phages can acquire compensating adaptations to their receptor binding protein (RBP) which leads to host range mutant phages, mostly a result from alterations in their tail fibers [110]. For instance, Bordetella phage BPP-1 can alter its host specificity through a reverse transcriptase-mediated mechanism, introducing a combination of specific mutations in a region upstream of the RBP [111]. Some phages are also able to synthesize specific enzymes (such as hydrolases or polysaccharidases and polysaccharide lyases) that degrade exopolysaccharide structure capsules before the interaction with their specific receptor. This has been described for phage  $\phi$ K1-5, that expresses an endosialidase, which allows this phage to attach to and degrade the E. coli K1 polysaccharide capsules and a lyase, that specifically cleaves the E. coli K5-capsular polymer [112].

Upon irreversible binding, phages induce a pore in the bacterial cell wall and inject its DNA into the cell, while the viral capsid remains outside of the bacteria. Phages protect their DNA from degradation by the host by circularizing the linear DNA or protecting the genome ends. In addition, some phages inhibit the nuclease of the host or protect the genome against nucleases using modified nucleotides or through evolutionary loss of genome sites that would have been recognized [110].

This is followed by the expression of phage early genes, which, in the case of lytic phages, redirects the bacterial synthetic machinery to the reproduction of viral nucleic acids and proteins [95]. The DNA is then packaged into preassembled icosahedral protein shells, procapsids [110]. There are different DNA packaging strategies: single-stranded cohesive ends; circularly permuted direct terminal repeats ("headful packaging"); short direct terminal repeats; long direct terminal repeats; terminal host DNA sequences, and covalently bound terminal proteins [113].

Finally, phages' late enzymes are employed for cell lysis and virion burst in the extracellular environment. The phage holin creates pores within the cytoplasmic membrane, enabling the phage-encoded endolysin to gain access to the peptidoglycan layer that it hydrolyzes [114]. The number of viral particles released varies depending to several factors including the phage itself, the state of the bacteria host and environmental factors such as nutritive compounds surrounding the host [95].

In the case of lysogenic cycle, temperate phages insert their genetic content into the bacterial chromosome using a phage-encoded integrase enzyme. A specific phage repressor (CI in phage lambda) inhibits the transcription of most of the genes, including those required for the lytic cycle, and the prophage becomes quiescent, remaining silent for extended periods. The presence of several prophages was already identified in many bacterial plant-pathogen genomes, including *Acidovorax citrulli, Agrobacterium* and *Burkholderia* [115]. Prophages are replicated as part of the bacterial chromosome during cell division and vertically transmitted to its progeny until the induction of the lytic cycle [114]. Spontaneous prophage induction can be triggered by extrinsic factors, such as DNA damage by reactive oxygen species and UV radiation, and the effects of antibiotics such as mitomycin C and fluoroquinolones, or by intrinsic factors which affect genomic DNA or RecA and induce a SOS response [116].



**Figure 2.3: Overview of phage life cycles: chronic, lytic, lysogenic and pseudolysogenic cycles.** Host-phage interactions range from true non-lethal parasitism (stable coexistence in the chronic cycle) to fatal lytic infection (lytic cycle), with intermediate mutualistic lifestyles (lysogenic and pseudolysogenic cycles). Adapted from [117].

Prophages can impact host fitness in many different ways. In addition to the metabolic cost to replicate extra DNA and the lysis of the host after prophage induction, prophages can also cause host gene disruption upon integration and genome rearrangement by homologous or illegitimate recombination [118]. For example, the integration of the phage PHB09 reduced the virulence of Bordetella bronchiseptica through disruption of a gene encoding a pilin protein, a known pathogenicity factor [119]. In another case, the attenuated pathogenicity of Bacillus anthracis was found to be associated with a large chromosomal inversion, caused by an internal recombination between homologous regions within two prophages [120]. On other hand, there are also several cases of mutualistic interactions between temperate phages and their hosts. Prophages can provide immunity against lytic infection, which is achieved through different mechanisms, mainly involving alterations to the cell surface or other cell envelope components that inhibit DNA entry [121]. E. coli phage HK97 expresses, for instance, a gene that produces a small likely inner membrane protein that inhibits superinfection by HK97 by preventing DNA entry into the cytoplasm [122]. Furthermore, prophages can express a wide variety of adaptive accessory genes that can provide host fitness advantage, augmenting its metabolism, immunity and evolution, or encode toxins or virulence factors that contribute to bacterial colonization and pathogenesis [121]. Varani et al. showed that 37 fully sequenced bacterial plant-pathogen genomes carried approximately 5000 genes of phage origin, including virulence factors contributing to pathogenicity and others associated with diversified functions such as cell division, lipid synthesis, transport, conjugation, and plasmid recombination [115]. Moreover, prophages can act as vehicles for horizontal transfer of bacterial genes either by generalized transduction, when the phage packages exclusively host DNA instead of its own, or specialized transduction, in which the packaged DNA is a hybrid piece comprising some phage genome linked to the bacterial DNA [123]. Generalized transduction has been shown to be used as a tool for cooperation between temperate phages with their hosts to survive in rapidly-changing environments [124, 125]. For instance, the ability of lysogens to acquire beneficial genes, such as antibiotic resistance genes, from neighboring cells through autotransduction was demonstrated by Haaber et al [125].

Lysogenic phages can also mutate after infecting the bacteria and lose the capacity to induce a lytic replication cycle (chronic infection). The phage DNA becomes a new part of the bacterial chromosome and becomes a long-term prophage sequence. This life cycle is usually associated with the release of phages from the bacteria without causing cell lysis [126].

Another remarkable observation in phage infection, referred to as pseudolysogeny and the phage carrier-state, represents an alternative developmental route, usually triggered by conditions of suboptimal growth or starvation [127]. Here, the viral DNA is carried by the bacteria as a plasmid rather than integrated into the bacterial chromosome, and can be terminated with initiation of either true lysogenization or lytic growth when growth conditions improve [128]. Interestingly, the plasmid is not distributed among all daughter cells during cell division, illustrating that the phage DNA is not copied and passed on to later generations in the bacterial community. This has been shown by Cenens *et al.* with the asymmetrical segregation of an episomal P22 element in *Salmonella typhimurium* [129]. The emergence of pseudolysogeny in response to an infection by a lytic phage in minimally subcultured *P. aeruginosa* was investigated by Latino *et al.*, demonstrating its important role in allowing the maintenance of the phage [130, 131]. However, a resulting destabilization of the genome was also observed with a high level of large chromosomal deletions arising during phage-maintenance. No accumulation of phage virions in the pseudolysogens was detected, in contrast to the carrier state established by the levivirus LeviOr01 in *P. aeruginosa*, described in another study, in which large quantities of virions could be observed inside enlarged cells [132].

### 2.3.4 Application of Bacteriophages in Biocontrol

#### 2.3.4.1 General Considerations

#### Phage selection

The success of phage control starts with the isolation and characterization of suitable phages. Phage isolation methods from environmental samples are already relatively well established [133]. A representative collection of bacterial strains of the intra pathovar diversity can be used in enrichment techniques to isolate novel phages, which are likely to be present in environmental niches in which the host bacterium is present. Phages in that niche are most likely adapted to the local environmental conditions and bacterial host [134]. Notably, phages were already isolated from highly diverse environments ranging from common sources like soil or sewage to extreme environments such as hot springs [135], glaciers [136], sea ice [137] and saltwater lakes [138]. Despite the large amount and diversity of bacteriophages, finding the one that best suits a particular downstream application often requires many repetitive and time-consuming steps and involves many failed attempts. High-throughput (HTP) approaches have then been arising to carry out phage isolation and analysis in a large-scale and automated manner. Microtiter plates, when combined with robotic liquid handlers and HTP incubators, can continuously process a large number of samples and bacteriophages, performing most of the steps required for phage isolation and characterization such as host range, virulence, growth assays and bacterial resistance development [139, 140]. HTP image analysis can, in turn, be used to increase the rate and accuracy of analysis of phage plaques [141]. For instance, the company Locus Biosciences, Inc. is currently using a highthroughput robotic platform to automate the process of phage discovery [142].

The main deciding factor whether an isolated phage is applicable for biocontrol (and also therapy in humans or animals) is whether the phage is exclusively lytic (virulent) or instead temperate in nature [92]. Since the clarity of a plaque gives an indication of the efficiency at which a phage can lyse its host, phages that produce clear plaques are preferentially selected to reduce the isolation of temperate phages. One of the main concerns with temperate phages is the spread of virulence or antibi-
otic resistance genes by transduction. The mobility and shuffling of phage-borne toxin genes makes them particularly dangerous and facilitates the emergence of novel pathogens by lysogenic conversion, since in some cases the presence of a single toxin gene can make the difference between a harmless and harmful bacteria. For example, upon the integration of the prophage VPI $\Phi$  that encodes the toxin co-regulated pilus, *Vibrio cholerae* was converted from a harmless water-dwelling bacteria to a major pathogen [143]. By excluding the use of temperate phages, the possibility of specialized transduction is, in turn, eliminated. In addition, generalized transduction, typically associated with phages that use a headful packaging mechanism [144], can be avoided with the respective phage genomic characterization and identification of the packaging mechanism.

On the other hand, engineering temperate phages to become virulent was demonstrated as a possible alternative strategy for selecting phages for phage therapy. The removal of a repressor gene of a temperate *Mycobacterium smegmatis* phage led to the production of larger and clearer plaques on *Mycobacterium abscessus* and to an increase of the efficiency of plating by 100-fold [145]. This modified phage was then used in the successful treatment of a patient with *M. abscessus* infection.

The suitability of filamentous phages, which chronically infect their host, for biocontrol is also questionable since it has been reported that their infection can have varying effects on host virulence [146]. While some filamentous phages offer an opportunity for environmentally safe biocontrol of pathogens by reducing the pathogenicity of their bacterial host, as shown by Addy *et al.* with  $\Phi$ RSM in *Ralstonia solanacearum* [147] and by Ahmad *et al.* with XacF1 in *Xanthomonas axonopodis* [148], it was also reported the reverse effect, with the enhancement of the virulence of *R. solanacearum* by the infection of the phage  $\Phi$ RSS1 [149]. Recently, Akremi *et al.* demonstrated in a bioassay that a cocktail of four filamentous phages can reduce by 40% fire blight symptom development of *E. amylovora* infection in pear [150]. Therefore, besides filamentous phages can be potential biocontrol agents they should be extremely well characterized before use.

Subsequently, to ensure the selected phages are appropriate candidates for biocontrol, *in vitro* characterization of the phages is essential to allow a rational design of a phage cocktail and to enable the tracking of phages during bioassays and field trials. The determination of a broad host range that allows productive infection on all strains of the pathogen species being targeted is desired. Also, it should be able to lyse the host quickly while replicate rapidly producing a high burst size and diffuse easily though the environment [92]. Thereby, basic growth parameters, such as adsorption curves, length of infection and burst size, or stability assays within the conditions likely to be encountered in the field, have been widely performed in the context of phage biocontrol research [151, 152, 153, 154]. Furthermore, identification of the phage receptors can assist in the rational selection of phages that target through different mechanisms to reduce the frequency of resistance [155]. Also, by using mutant bacterial hosts it is possible to enrich for the isolation of phages with alternative receptors [156].

While the traditional characterization by molecular methods and transmission electron microscopy has been essential to the understanding of the phage biology, whole-genome sequencing has arisen as a powerful tool to gain deep knowledge into the phage genome, allowing the identification of genes required for integration and lysogeny or that encode known toxins, antibiotic resistance, or virulence factors [151].

Following phage characterization, bioassays and/or field trials are usually performed to assess the efficacy of the selected phages [151].

#### Phage persistence in the plant environment

It is crucial to test the persistence of prospective phages in the setting where they will be applied once they have been selected. Although bioassays under laboratory conditions can be very useful in determining, in a first stage, whether the selected phages are effective for the desired control, the deployment of phages in agricultural systems has shown to be much more challenging given the need to maintain high phage populations on plant surfaces for extended periods of time, as well as the delivery of phages at sufficient quantities to the appropriate sites [157].

The rhizosphere is the area of soil which is in close proximity to the roots of a plant. Several factors of soil structure and chemistry, including pH, moisture levels, presence of organic matter and soil type, have an impact on phage transport and survival of free phages and their hosts [92]. For instance, clay loam soils appear better at maintaining phage at low soil moisture levels and high soil temperatures than that of sandy loam soils [158]. Low soil pH can also negativity affect phage survivability [159]. Usually, soils are only partially hydrated which complicates phage diffusion. Furthermore, phage transport can be limited to biofilms. Phages can also reversible bound to particles such as clays, once these minerals have positively and negatively charged surfaces to which phage can adsorb [160]. Such adsorption can be influenced by pH [161] as well as the presence of organic materials [162]. In general, adsorption limits phage transport, but on other hand can also have a protective effect by keeping them in a hydrated environment [163]. It is reported that if under favorable conditions, phages persist at relatively stable concentrations for several weeks in soil [164].

When bacteria grow, swim or diffuse into phage vicinity or when the soil particle is transferred to the presence of the host bacteria, phage infection can start [165]. A study of the dynamics of the interaction of *Bacillus subtilis* with bacteriophages in soil indicated that an initial phage amplification occurs when bacterial density reaches a critical limit of around  $5 \times 10^6$  CFU/g soil, after which follows a stable equilibrium that can last weeks or months [166]. Disruption of this equilibrium can result in disease.

The phyllosphere, on the other hand, is the portion of the plant which is above the ground and phages can readily be isolated from this location. It can represent, however, a harsh environment for phages to survive, especially during daylight hours. The destructive influence of UV light from the sun has been reported to be a limiting factor for the application of phages for successful biocontrol [167]. Other factors that can cause phage decline on the phyllosphere are desiccation, temperature and pH [168]. Poor persistence on the phyllosphere is then one limitation to effective phage biocontrol on crops. Nevertheless, several methods have been explored to overcome this problem. Avoiding daylight during application might improve phage-based biocontrol [168]. On other side, a range of natural substances that absorb UV and biodegradable polymers were reported to enhance phage performance in the phyllosphere by limiting phage exposure [169, 170]. The application of phages together with UVprotectants was indeed tested in greenhouse trials by Orynbayev et al., in the aim of controlling black rot caused by Xanthomonas campestris pv. campestris on cabbage. The addition of skimmed milk and riboflavin proved to significantly increase phage survival, rising the phage titer in 6.7 and 5.0 times, respectively, when comparing to control without any UV protector [171]. Additionally, survival of phage in the phyllosphere and rhizosphere can be improved if accompanied by a viable host. This can be an avirulent strain of the pathogen being targeted or indeed another species of bacteria which occurs naturally in that environment. For example, the biological suppression of black rot of broccoli caused by Xanthomonas campestris pv. campestris was demonstrated in field trials when using a mixture of the bacteriophage XcpSFC211 with a non-pathogenic Xanthomonas sp. strain [172]. Given the ability of phages to be systemically translocated inside plants, soil-based phage delivery is suggested as an alternative approach to control foliar plant diseases rather than phage application by foliar spraying. Indeed, Iriarte et al. showed that the Xanthomonas perforans 97-2 phage mixture reached the upper leaves of a tomato and maintained a leaf tissue concentration of 10<sup>4</sup> PFU/g for seven days, while a typical foliar application would generally drop to undetectable levels within one or two days [157].

#### Chemical's interference

The combined application of bacteriophages with chemical control has been proposed to establish synergies and decrease the likelihood of resistance evolution [173]. Therefore, the analysis of the possible interactions between bacteriophages and other antimicrobial compounds can be an important part of the development of phage-based products. Despite it has been shown that phages are stable over a range of agrichemicals [174, 175, 176], precautions need to be taken with some combinations of chemicals with phage. Chemical biocides can contain a range of phage inactivating substances such as surfactants and chelators [177, 178]. Also, copper-based bactericides can inactivate some phages, which can be avoided with the delayed application of phage (4–7 days) after initial application of copper-based bactericide [168]. Li *et al.* demonstrated that lipid-containing phages were most susceptible to copper toxicity, whereas most dsDNA phages were unaffected [179]. The combined effects of bacteriophages with systemic acquired resistance inducers have also been studied in plant protection framework. For instance, several combinations of harpin protein and acibenzolar-S-methyl (ASM) with bacteriophages were compared by Obradovic *et al.* in field experiments for the control of tomato bacterial spot caused by the pathogen *Xanthomonas vesicatoria.* In result, reduction in disease pressure and a more efficient foliar disease control were obtained with a combination of ASM and phage [180].

### Co-evolution of bacteria and phage

There has always been a constant race between phage and bacteria in nature, and their interaction in soil results in a co-evolutionary process that drives the diversification of both. The role of bacteria-phage coevolution in natural populations has been the focus of a number of studies due to its broad importance in a range of ecological and evolutionary processes, including population dynamics and extinction risk, the evolution of diversity, speciation and mutation rates, and the evolutionary ecology of pathogen virulence. For instance, Gómez *et al.* explored the coevolution in vitro in infectivity and resistance through time. They also demonstrated that intraspecific competition and parasitism play a more substantial role than interspecific competition in driving evolution within microbial soil communities [181]. In addition, experimental studies by Lopez-Pascua *et al.* [182, 183, 184] have suggested that the level of resources available for hosts shapes the outcome of coevolution, by influencing for instance the cost of mutating receptors.

Like the acquired resistance to chemicals, bacteria can also become resistant to phage infection. However, unlike chemicals, phages are biological entities which can evolve and overcome these biological alterations in their hosts. The proliferation of bacteriophage resistant strains is a natural process associated with spontaneous mutations, often related to modifications in bacteriophage receptors [185]. Bacterial mechanisms to resist phage infection include the prevention of phage adsorption, the blocking of DNA entry, or systems such as Restriction Modification [186], the Altruistic Abortive Infection (Abi) [187] and the CRISPR-Cas [188]. For example, in the phytopathogen *Pectobacterium atrosepticum* different resistance mechanisms were already detected, including mutations in receptors [156, 189] and both Abi [190] and CRISPR-Cas [191] systems.

Even though, the resistance against phage infection is not necessarily a negative development in the context of phage biocontrol, as it frequently compromises bacterial virulence. Phage-resistance mutations are mainly located in the receptors involved in the phage attachment, that in turn are frequently also involved in the bacterial virulence process, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [189], extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) [192], flagella [156] and pili [193]. For example, resistant mutants of *Pectobacterium atrosepticum* containing mutations in LPS [189] and in flagella [156] showed attenuation in virulence. Therefore, the acquirement of resistance is often accompanied by a secondary fitness cost

that can result in reduced disease severity [194]. In addition, phages can also be selected to avoid the other resistance mechanisms, like the Abi system [195] and the CRISPR-Cas [196, 197].

#### 2.3.4.2 Phage Commercialization and Market

Recently, a number of phage biocontrol products have reached the market.

A USA based company Omnilytics, part of Phagelux, was the first to receive registration for their phage-based biopesticide product, Agriphage [198]. This product line contains four commercial products that have been registered as biopesticides by the US Environmental Protection Agency and are commercialized by Certis USA. These bacteriophage cocktails address bacterial speck and spot disease in tomato and pepper, bacterial canker in tomato, fire blight in apple and pear trees and citrus canker in citrus trees [198]. Another phage product approved for use in the USA was developed by the company Otsuka Pharmaceutical, named XyIPhi-PD, which contains bacteriophages infecting *Xylella fastidiosa*, the causal agent of Pierce disease of grape [199].

There is a conflict in European legislation regarding the registration of viruses, particularly bacteriophages. Therefore, in Europe, a very limited number of phage-based products is available on the market in the crop production field. A Hungarian company Enviroinvest was authorized to locally sell a phage cocktail, named Erwiphage, for the control of fire blight of apple trees (active against *Erwinia amylovora*) [200] under strict regulations during the spring of 2021. The Scottish company, APS biocontrol, has developed a postharvest bacteriophage-based wash solution (Biolyse) for potatoes tubers, which is to be used for prevention of soft rot disease (specific against *Enterobacteriacea*) during storage [201].

Several pesticide companies are shifting away from investing in conventional pesticides and instead focusing on biopesticides. In 2014, the pesticide market was roughly \$56 billion, with biopesticides accounting for just \$2-3 billion of that [202]. In 2020, the biopesticides market increased to \$5 billion and is projected to reach \$11 billion in 2026 [203]. The expansion of the biopesticide business is likely to outstrip that of conventional pesticides in the future. This shift is thought to be the result of increased customer demand for chemical residue-free foods and increased legislation on the use of synthetic pesticides in some parts of the world. Furthermore, many biopesticides are potentially less expensive to develop and bring to market [202]. Nowadays, to develop a new synthetic pesticide, more than \$280 million are required, taking nearly 12 years. A biopesticide, on the other hand, costs between \$3 and \$7 million to develop and takes four years or less to reach the market in the US [204]. Given the rise of biopesticides and their reduced cost and development time, large agrichemical companies are now acquiring biopesticide companies and products to use in integrated programs with their chemicals [204]. With this economic context, one might anticipate increasing engagement in the development of phage biocontrol as a feasible option for crop disease control in the future. Indeed, a review by Holtappels et al. showed that there has been a growing number of scientific publications and patenting activity concerning phage biocontrol over the last years. However, non-profit organizations still continue to show a stronger interest when compared to industry [15].

### 2.3.4.3 Phage Biocontrol of Acidovorax

In recent years, a number of major bacterial plant diseases have gained notoriety for phage biocontrol once traditional techniques have proven ineffective or are restricted in particular parts of the world.

Dickeya, Pectobacterium, Xanthomonas, E. amylovora, R. solanacearum, P. syringae and Xylella fastidiosa are the most common crop pathogens where phage biocontrol has been studied and has shown promising outcomes [92]. Despite the growing evidence of the benefits of phage application in several plant diseases in different crops, phage biocontrol studies in *Acidovorax* pathogens have hardly been reported.

Rahimi-Midani and Choi demonstrated the potential of phage biocontrol for controlling Bacterial Fruit Blotch (BFB) of cucurbit crops. Novel bacteriophages for A. citrulli, named as ACP17 [91] and ACPWH [205], were fully characterized and tested by both seed coating [205] and soil-based [206] plant assays. Coating of watermelon seeds with the Myoviridae- and Siphoviridae- family bacteriophages ACP17 and ACPWH enhanced plant germination and survival, modulating the progression of BFB [206]. In particular, the phage ACPWH, that has a wider host range than ACP17, showed a germination rate of up to 90%, in the presence of A. citrulli, in contrast to untreated seeds, where no germination or germinated juveniles with BFB symptoms were observed [42]. Although these phages proved to be effective for seed coating and, thereby, prevention of BFB at an early stage, BFB can develop at a later stage due to contamination from soil, workers, and tools and can infect the foliar part. Therefore, ACPWH ability to control BFB by soil application was tested, including the evaluation of the absorption and translocation from soil to the top part of plants [206]. The phage was detected in various parts of plants 8 h following addition to soil, and its abundance increased thereafter. As a result, the melon plants treated with phage ACPWH showed only 20% disease severity, compared to 80% in the control, and the symptoms did not progress [206]. Therefore, this study demonstrated that the application of phage in the soil can effectively treat the infection at a later stage of plant growth.

As seen in the Section 2.2, the current techniques for controlling *Acidovorax* diseases are insufficient, and the abuse in use of pesticides has raised public concern, making biological control measures even more important. The success shown by Rahimi-Midani and Choi in controlling *A. citrulli* with phages indicates that they might be a useful and low-cost biocontrol tool also for other *Acidovorax* infections.

# **Chapter 3**

# Materials and Methods

## 3.1 Bacterial Strains and Growth Conditions

The bacterial strains used in this study, supplied by the Institute for Agricultural and Fisheries Research (ILVO, Belgium), are listed in Table 3.1. The bacteria were grown at 25°C in Lysogeny Broth with medium salt concentrations (LB<sub>ms</sub>) (10 g/L Trypton (Neogen), 5 g/L yeast extract (Neogen) and 1.5 g/L NaCl (Acros Organics)), while shaking at 200 rpm. LB<sub>ms</sub> was supplemented with 1.5% agar (bacteriological agar (Neogen)) for plating and with 0.5% agar for agar overlays. For long term storage at -80°C, cell stocks were prepared by adding glycerol (Acros Organics) to an overnight culture to a final concentration of 20%.

## 3.2 Phage Manipulations

## 3.2.1 Bacteriophage Isolation, Amplification, and Purification

Phages were isolated from soil samples received from Proefcentrum voor de Groenteteelt (PCG), Proeftuin Sint-Katelijne-Waver (PSKW) and Inagro, from Flanders, Belgium. To enrich for phages, overnight cultures of all bacterial strains (Table 3.1) were grown in 1 mL LB<sub>ms</sub> at 25°C in 96-deepwell plates and around 1 g of each soil sample was added in each well, following the layout described in Figure 3.1. After overnight incubation, 1 drop of chloroform was added in each well and incubated for 1h. The mixture was then centrifuged (30min, 3000rpm, 4°C), using a Sorvall Legend RT+ centrifuge (Thermo Scientific), and 3 µL of the supernatant was spotted on a soft agar layer that contained the bacterial host. Lysis zones were picked up with sterile toothpicks and suspended in 100 µL phage buffer (10 mM Trizma base (Sigma Aldrich); 10 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub> (Sigma Aldrich); 150 mM NaCl (Acros Organics); pH 7.5). These suspensions were plated by pooling 250 µL overnight bacterial host culture, 100 µL phage suspension and 4 mL LB overlay agar. After overnight incubation at 25°C, single plaques were picked up again. Three successive single plaque isolations were performed to achieve pure phage isolates. **Table 3.1: Bacterial strains used in this study, their year of isolation and geographical and biological origin.** <sup>a</sup> GBBC: culture collection of plant pathogenic bacteria at ILVO; CFBP, Collection Française de Bactéries Phytopathogènes; LMG, Belgian Coordinated Collections of Microorganisms at the Laboratory of Microbiology of Ghent University with <sup>T</sup> as type strains.

Species and	Year of	Geographical	Biological
Strain <sup>a</sup>	isolation	origin	origin
Acidovorax anthuri			
CFBP 3232 <sup>T</sup>	1991	Martinique	Anthurium
Acidovorax oryzae			
CFBP 2426 <sup>T</sup>	1963	Japan	Oryza sativa
Acidovorax citrulli			
LMG 5376 <sup>T</sup>	1977	USA	Citrullus lanatus
• • • • • • • • •			
Acidovorax cattleyae	1001		
LMG 52861	1961	USA	
GBBC 705	2000	Belgium	Phalaenopsis
GBBC 1100	2011	Belgium	Phalaenopsis
GBBC 1148		Belgium	Phalaenopsis
GBBC 1149		Belgium	Phalaenopsis
GBBC 1303		Belgium	Phalaenopsis
A - i-l			
		_	
CFBP 6945	2006	France	Valerianella locusta seeds
GBBC 3037	2015	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3038	2015	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3039	2015	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3042	2015	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3043	2015	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3129	2016	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3161	2016	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3208	2017	Belgium	Valerianella locusta cv. Calarasi
GBBC 3209	2017	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3340	2019	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3341	2019	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3342	2019	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3353	2019	Belgium	<i>Valerianella locusta</i> cv. Trophy
GBBC 3354	2019	Belgium	Valerianella locusta cv. Trophy
GBBC 3355	2019	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3356	2019	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3357	2019	Belgium	Valerianella locusta
GBBC 3358	2019	Belgium	Valerianella locusta



Figure 3.1: Layout of the enrichment with soil samples in 96-deep-well blocks. In each row a different soil sample was added. In each column, a different strain of *Acidovorax* from Table 3.1 was grown in LB and incubated overnight.

Phages were amplified by infecting a liquid culture (in LB supplemented with 10 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 5 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>) of the respective bacterial host at OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.3 with a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.01. For Alfacinha1 and Aval the bacterial host used for amplification was GBBC 3357, while for Alfacinha3 this was GBBC 3161 and for Acica was GBBC 1148. After overnight incubation, the supernatant was filtered over a 0.45  $\mu$ m pore size filter (Millex-HV; Merck Millipore Ltd.). To obtain a phage stock for downstream experiments, polyethylene glycol (PEG<sub>8000</sub>) (Acros Organics) was added to the filtered phage lysate to a final concentration of 30% v/v. After overnight incubation at 4°C, phages were precipitated by centrifugation (30 min, 4000 rpm, 4°C, Sorvall Legend RT+ centrifuge, Thermo Scientific) and the pellet was dissolved in 2 mL phage buffer.

### 3.2.2 Electron Microscopy

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) pictures were made by Dr. Marta Vallino (IPSP-CNR, Turin). In short, the phage suspensions adsorbed for 3 min on carbon and formvar-coated copper-palladium grids, which were then rinsed several times with water. The grids were negatively stained with aqueous 0.5% uranyl acetate and the excess fluid was removed with filter paper. Observations and photographs were made with a Philips CM10 transmission electron microscope (TEM) (Eindhoven, The Netherlands) at 80 kV. Micrograph films were developed and digitally acquired at high resolution with a D800 Nikon camera. Finally, the images were trimmed and adjusted for brightness and contrast using the Fiji software [207].

### 3.2.3 Host Range Analysis

To test the susceptibility of all the *Acidovorax* strains (Table 3.1) to each phage the double agar overlay method was used, by adding 250  $\mu$ L of an overnight culture to 4 mL of LB soft agar and poured on top of an LB agar plate. After that, 3  $\mu$ L of each phage (at least 10<sup>6</sup> PFU/mL) were spotted onto the solidified overlays. After overnight incubation at 25°C, the plates were examined for plaques.

### 3.2.4 Adsorption and Infection Curves

In adsorption assays, the host strain GBBC 3161 was grown to an OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.3 and infected with Alfacinha3 at MOI of 0.01. Immediately after infection, a 200  $\mu$ L sample was taken and transferred into a Zymo-Spin IC column (Zymo Research) in a pre-cooled eppendorf tube and centrifuged for a few seconds. The filtered suspension, kept on ice, was titrated to determine the amount of non-adsorbed or reversibly adsorbed phages. This was repeated after 1, 5 and 10 minutes.

Killing curves were established for the strain GBBC 3161 infected with Alfacinha3 at MOIs of 0.1, 1 and 10, and for the strain GBBC 3357 infected with Alfacinha1 at MOIs of 0.1 and 1, and Aval at MOI of 0.1. The bacterial culture was initially infected at  $OD_{600}$  of 0.3, and monitored every 10 min for 2h (GBBC 3161) and 3h (GBBC 3357) and compared with that of an uninfected culture. OD results are the average of three independent biological repeats.

# 3.3 Lysogeny Assessment

To screen for lysogenic behavior in Aval a phenotypic test was performed following the protocol described in [208], with small differences, as shown in Figure 3.2. First, the phages were spotted (10 µL) in a bacterial lawn and incubated for 3 days. Aval was spotted in 2 different host strains, GBBC 3357 and GBBC 3043. Three turbid plaques were scraped and streaked in new LBms agar plates, and incubated until the growth of clearly isolated colonies. Streaking of new colonies in fresh LB<sub>ms</sub> agar plates was repeated three successive times. Nine different colonies from GBBC 3043 and six from GBBC 3357, each three from a different original turbid plaque, were inoculated in 4 mL LB<sub>ms</sub>. The patch plate assay described in [208] was performed by spotting the liquid cultures of the possible lysogens on the wild-type host lawn (5 µL), instead of streaking the colony. Spontaneous release of phage was assessed by the presence of a halo around the spot after overnight incubation. For the supernatant assay, the cultures were centrifuged (10 min, 4000 rpm) and the supernatant was spotted in the wildtype host lawn (5 µL). After overnight incubation, it was checked for lysis in the spot zones. Finally, in the immunity assay, phages were spotted in the bacterial lawns of the possible lysogens (5 µL) to check for resistance. In the case of the lysogens of the strain GBBC 3357, all phages Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Aval were used to screen for superinfection exclusion, while the lysogens of the strain GBBC 3043 were only spotted with Aval.



**Figure 3.2:** Screening pipeline for lysogen activity of a given phage. First, the phage for which the lysogenic behavior is being tested is spotted on a bacterial host lawn and incubated until the formation of turbid plaques or mesas (zones of confluent bacterial growth in the center of the lysis spots). A turbid plaque (or a mesa) is scraped with a sterile wire loop and used as the primary inoculum for streaking a fresh LB agar plate, repeating for each turbid plaque. The plates are incubated until the growth of clearly isolated colonies. The new colonies are picked up and streaked in new LB agar plates for 3 successive times, to remove any phages present. Each different colony, that possibly contain the integrated prophage, is inoculated in a glass tube with 4 mL of LB media, and incubated overnight. The cultures are used in three different assays. In 1 - Patch Plate Assay and 2 - Supernatant Assay, the spontaneous release of phages is tested, by spotting in the bacterial host lawn either the inoculated cultures (1) or the supernatant after centrifuging the cultures (10 min, 4000 rpm,  $4^{\circ}$ ) (2). The plate can be divided into a grid with as many sections as colonies to be screened. The presence of a halo (1) or a lysis zone (2) are assessed. In 3 - Immunity Assay, the inoculated cultures are used as bacterial lawn and homoimmunity or superinfection exclusion are tested by spotting different phages of interest and checking for resistance. Adapted from [208].

# 3.4 Proteome Analysis

## 3.4.1 Protein Isolation

The phage proteins were isolated through methanol-chloroform extraction. 100  $\mu$ L of phage PEG stock (at least 10<sup>7</sup> PFU/mL) were mixed with 450  $\mu$ L of phage buffer, 500  $\mu$ L of ice-cooled methanol (Acros Organics) and 375  $\mu$ L of chloroform (AnalaR), and then centrifuged (5 min, 13000 rpm, 4°C) in a Microfuge 22R (Beckman Coulter). The top phase was discarded without removing the white interface. Following new addition of 500  $\mu$ L of methanol, it was again centrifuged (5 min, 13000 rpm, 4°C), the supernatant was discarded and the pellet was dried.

## 3.4.2 SDS-PAGE

The isolated proteins were suspended in 50 µL SDS-PAGE loading buffer (1% SDS, 6% sucrose (Acros Organics), 100 mM 1,4-dithiothreitol (DTT, Roche Applied Science), 10 mM Tris (Acros Organics), pH 6.8, 0.0625% bromophenol blue). After boiling for 5 min at 95°C, samples were loaded on a 12% polyacrylamide gel for electrophoresis. Gels were stained with SimplyBlue<sup>™</sup> Safestain (Invitrogen<sup>™</sup>, Life Technologies).

# 3.5 Genome Analysis

### 3.5.1 DNA Extraction and Sequencing

Phage DNA was extracted from a high-titer lysate (minimum of  $10^8$  PFU/mL). 1 µL of DNasel (ThermoFisher Scientific) and 1 µL of RNaseA (ThermoFisher Scientific) were added to 10 µL of the phage stock. After incubation at 37°C for 30 minutes, 4 µL of EDTA (Acros Organics), 5 µL of SDS 10% (Acros Organics) and 1 µL of ProteinaseK (ThermoFisher Scientific) were added, and then incubated at 56°C in a thermal bath for 45 minutes. The Kit DNA Clean & Concentrator<sup>TM</sup>-5 (Zymo Research) was used to purify the phage DNA following the manufacturer's instructions.

The genomic DNA was sequenced using Illumina MiniSeq platform at the Laboratory of Gene Technology, KU Leuven. A library was prepared using the Nextera<sup>TM</sup> Flex DNA Library Kit for each sample, according to the manufacturer's guidelines. The quality of each library preparation was controlled using an Agilent Bioanalyzer 2100. All library preps were equally pooled and sequenced using a MiniSeq Mid Output flowcell (300 cycles; 2\*150 bp reads). The reads were trimmed with the Trimmomatic tool (v0.36.5), using standard settings with the addition of an initial ILLUMINA CLIP step to remove the Nextera adapters [209]. Next, the quality of the reads was assessed using the FastQC tool (v0.11.8) [210].

### 3.5.2 Data Processing and Analysis

The raw read data was processed (assembly and annotation) using online tools on the public servers of Galaxy (v21.05) [211] and PATRIC (v3.6.9) [212]. The reads were assembled using Unicycler (v0.4.8) [213] or SPAdes [214]. The assembled contigs were visualized and their quality was assessed using Bandage (v0.8.1) [215]. To access the variation of coverage between the sequenced reads and assembled sequence, Bowtie2 (v2.4.2) was used for the alignment [216], using Unipro UGENE (v38.1) for visualization [217]. The automated annotation was manually curated by verifying the translated ORFs in a BLASTp analysis ((National Centre for Biotechnology Information (NCBI)) [218] against the nonredundant GenBank protein database [219], and Artemis (v18.1.0) [220] was used to polish the genbank files. To classify the phages based on genome-wide similarities, a viral proteomic tree was generated with the online ViPTree server (v1.9) [221] (accessed in April 2021), and the intergenomic distances/similarities amongst the related viral genomes were computed using the VIRIDIC web tool [222]. Seaborn Python library (v0.11.1) [223] was used for the construction of the heatmaps. Easyfig (v2.2.2) [224] was used to create linear comparison figures of multiple genomes and BLAST comparisons between multiple genomic regions. MegaX (v10.2.4) [225] was run to conduct automatic sequence alignments, using the MUSCLE algorithm [226], and to construct phylogenetic trees according to the neighbor-joining method with 1000 bootstraps.

## 3.6 Bioassays

### 3.6.1 Seed bioassay in vitro

*Valerianella locusta* seeds (Groene van Cambrai (Aveve)) were first sterilized by suspending and shaking them for 7 minutes in a 1% NaClO solution. Next, the seeds were rinsed three times with sterile mQ water and left to dry under a laminar flow. The surface sterility of the seeds was tested on  $LB_{ms}$  agar plates. The seeds were infected with GBBC 3161 with  $OD_{600} = 0.15$  (around  $10^8$  CFU/mL) and incubated for 1h30, while shaking using the HulaMixer<sup>TM</sup> Sample Mixer (Thermo Scientific) at 25 rpm

and room temperature. Following seed drying, Alfacinha3 phage solution was added to the seeds with a concentration of  $10^9$  PFU/mL and shaked overnight using the HulaMixer<sup>TM</sup> Sample Mixer at 25 rpm at 16°C. The seeds were crushed and suspended in phage buffer. The bacterial concentrations were quantified by plating them on LB<sub>ms</sub> agar plates. The quantification of phages was done by using soft agar overlay method. Overall, three independent repeats were performed for each one of the 4 different conditions (negative control, phage only, bacteria only and bacteria plus phage).

### 3.6.2 Seedlings bioassay in vitro

Similarly as previously described, lamb's lettuce seeds (Aveve) were surface sterilized, infected  $(OD_{600} = 0.15)$  and phage primed. After priming, the seeds were dried under a laminar flow. Using sterilized tweezers, 30 seeds per condition were then sown onto plant growth medium, 1/4 MS Agar (1.1 g/L Murashige and Skoog basal medium (Sigma Aldrich); 15 g/L bacteriological agar (Neogen)), in each plate. The plant growth medium enclosed half of the plates so that the seedling started growing parallel to the plate bottom. Furthermore, the plates were sealed with Parafilm (Sigma-Aldrich) to keep the moisture in, and set vertically under a lamp providing light for 16 hours and 8 hours of darkness, in a room maintained at 16 °C. For each condition, three independent repeats were performed, and so, 90 seeds of each condition were sown in total. After 22 days, the shoot and root length of each seedling was measured using a caliper.

Statistical analyses were performed with JMP Pro 15. Multiple non-parametric Wilcoxon comparison tests were performed at a significance level of 0.05. For statistical data visualization, such as the design of the boxplots, Seaborn (v0.11.1) was used [223].

# Chapter 4

# **Results and Discussion**

# 4.1 Isolation of Novel Bacteriophages

Phages were first isolated from soil samples taken in Flanders (Belgium) from infected lamb's lettuce beds. Using an enrichment, three novel phages were discovered infecting *A. valerianellae*. The first isolate showed small plaques (2-3 mm) with a bull's eyes morphology and was called Alfacinha1 (*Alfacinha* is the Portuguese word for "little lettuce", with lettuce being the main target of *A. valerianellae* and the focus of this study; *Alfacinha* is also popularly used to designate the natives of Lisbon, including the author of this thesis). The other isolates found were Aval (referring to <u>Acidovorax valerianellae</u>) and Alfacinha3, showing very small (<2 mm) and small (2-3 mm) plaques, respectively. One additional phage, also presenting very small plaques (<2 mm), was discovered later for *A. cattleyae*, from samples collected from soil surrounding orchids, and was named Acica (referring to <u>Acidovorax cattleyae</u>). Figure A.1 in Appendix A shows the plaque morphologies of all four phages.

The isolate of Alfacinha1 was found by enriching soil samples with *A. valerianellae* strain GBBC 3357, Aval with GBBC 3043, Alfacinha3 with GBBC 3161 and Acica with GBBC 1148. These strains were used to optimize phage amplifications, with the exception of Aval, that was amplified with GBBC 3357 instead of GBBC 3043, since the latter did not allow to obtain concentrations higher than 10<sup>5</sup> PFU/mL. Alfacinha3 was the only phage that could be easily amplified at high concentrations reaching 10<sup>11</sup> PFU/mL, while for Alfacinha1, Aval and Acica, titers of 10<sup>9</sup> PFU/mL, 10<sup>8</sup> and 10<sup>7</sup> PFU/mL PFU/mL were obtained, respectively.

Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) was employed to image the morphology of the phages and estimate their sizes. As shown in Figure 4.1, the four phages exhibited typical head and tail morphologies associated with the *Caudovirales* order. The micrographs showed particles with icosahedral heads and long, contractile tails, typical of a myovirus morphology. The head diameters ranged from 60 nm (Aval and Acica) to 110 nm (Alfacinha1), with Alfacinha3 having a head diameter of 75 nm. The tail length varied from 140nm in Acica and Aval to 135 nm in Alfacinha1 and 125 nm in Alfacinha3. In all cases the tail width was around 23 nm, except in Alfacinha1 where it was considerably narrower (15 nm). Interestingly, the tail of Alfacinha1 exhibited convoluted fibers, being therefore clearly distinguishable from the other phages. Also, both Aval and Acica showed a large amount of empty capsids, revealing the presence of several inactive phages in the stock.



Figure 4.1: Transmission Electron Microscopy images of the phages Alfacinha1 (A), Alfacinha3 (B), Aval(C) and Acica (D). The scale bar represents 100 nm. Phages negatively stained with 0.5% uranyl acetate.

## 4.1.1 Host Range

The host specificity of a phage is an important factor to consider for its use in biocontrol. To test the host range of the four phages, all the *Acidovorax* strains in collection (Table 3.1) were screened for susceptibility, and the results are presented in Table 4.1.

Aval has the narrowest host range, limited to three *A. valerianellae* strains, while Alfacinha1 has the broadest one, being able to infect not only strains of the *A. valerianellae* species but also strains from the *A. cattleyae* species. Alfacinha3 infects seven different strains of *A. valerianellae* and Acica infects solely *A. cattleyae*. The strain GBBC 3357 could be infected by all three *A. valerianellae* phages, Alfacinha1 and 3 and Aval. In total, 57% of the collection of *Acidovorax* strains could be infected by at least one of the phages, corresponding to 63% of the *A. valerianellae* strains and 67% of the *A. cattleyae* strains. *Acidovorax anthuri, oryzae* and *citrulli* strains were not infected by any of the isolated phages.

Species	Strain	Alfacinha1	Alfacinha3	Aval	Acica
Acidovorax anthuri	CFBP 3232	-	-	-	-
Acidovorax oryzae	CFBP 2426	-	-	-	-
A - i - l	LMO 5070				
ACIGOVOFAX CILFUIII	LIVIG 5376	-	-	-	-
Acidovorax cattlevae	I MG 5286	-	-	-	-
nondeverax eauleyae	GBBC 705	+	-	-	+
	GBBC 1100	-	-	-	
	GBBC 1148	+	-	-	+
	GBBC 1149	+	-	-	+
	GBBC 1303	+	-	-	+
Acidovorax valerianellae	CFBP 6945	-	+	-	-
	GBBC 3037	+	-	-	-
	GBBC 3038	-	-	-	-
	GBBC 3039	+	-	-	-
	GBBC 3042	-	-	-	-
	GBBC 3043	-	-	+	-
	GBBC 3129	+	+	-	-
	GBBC 3161	-	+	-	-
	GBBC 3208	+	-	-	-
	GBBC 3209	-	+	-	-
	GBBC 3340	-	-	-	-
	GBBC 3341	-	-	+	-
	GBBC 3342	-	+	-	-
	GBBC 3353	+	+	-	-
	GBBC 3354	-	-	-	-
	GBBC 3355	-	-	-	-
	GBBC 3356	-	-	-	-
	GBBC 3357	+	+	+	-
	GBBC 3358	-	-	-	-

### Table 4.1: Host range analysis of the phages Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3, Aval and Acica.

# 4.2 Aval - an Orphan Temperate A.valerianellae Phage

### 4.2.1 Genomic Analysis

Whole genome sequencing of bacteriophage Aval revealed a genome of 39,584 bp and a GC content of 66.1%. After assembling, the location of the physical start of the phage genome was determined by identifying the packaging strategy. By aligning the sequencing reads against the assembled sequence, it was possible to compare the differences in coverage over the genome. A sudden drop in fold coverage in a unique precise location (*cos* site) revealed the presence of *cos* ends (Figure 4.2). Thus, before genome annotation, the start of the phage genome sequence was first adjusted to begin right after the *cos* site.

in participant participant	a sea statement and a statement of the statement of the	والمحافظ والمحافظ والمعارب والمحافظ ومراجع المحافظ والمحافظ والمحافظ والمحافظ والمحافظ والمحافظ والمحافظ والمح	An an a diana pakamang ng katalan a dia katala
0 to 39 584 (39 584 bp)	A CONTRACTOR OF		10 249 to 12 424 (2 176 bp)

Figure 4.2: Variation in coverage of the sequencing reads over the genome of Aval. The square identifies the drop in coverage, indicating the location of the *cos* site.

This packaging strategy was also confirmed by comparing the large terminase of Aval with the sequences from several other phages, whose packaging mechanisms and physical ends were experimentally determined. Figure 4.3 shows the neighbor-joining tree generated from the alignment of the protein sequences of the large terminase from different phages, including Aval, as described by Merrill and colleagues [227].



**Figure 4.3: Neighbor-joining tree of large terminase protein sequences of Aval and phages whose packaging strategy is known.** The black rectangle indicates Aval's cluster. The brackets indicate the packaging strategies experimentally determined for each cluster, according to Merrill *et al.* [227]. Bootstrap values are for 1000 trials. The scale bar shows 0.2 amino acid substitutions per site. Generated in MegaX.

As indicated in Figure 4.3, Aval's large terminase clustered together with the ones from the *Enter-obacteria* phages HK97 and HK022 and with the *Rhizobium* phage 16-3, that present 3' *cos* ends [227]. In order to investigate the viral taxonomy of Aval and its similarity with other known phages, a pro-

teomic tree based on genome-wide sequence similarities was generated with the ViPTree server [221] (Figure 4.4), and the pairwise intergenomic distances/similarities amongst the related viral genomes were computed using VIRIDIC [222]. A heatmap based on the calculated intergenomic similarities was constructed and is shown in Figure 4.5.



Figure 4.4: Proteomic tree based on global genomic similarity relationships between Aval and other known phages, predicting the virus family and host group. Only the section with the most related phages of the tree is presented in this figure. Aval is indicated with a red star. Generated in ViPTree server.

In the presented section of the proteomic tree (Figure 4.4), which includes only the phages most closely related to Aval, Aval clustered together with phages of the *Siphoviridae* family, mainly with *Caulobacter* phages. However, it has less than 5% of similarity with the phages of its cluster, thus representing a novel species and genus based on the current ICTV guidelines [228].

In the heatmap presented in Figure 4.5 it is possible to distinguish three main clusters, one composed by the *Streptomyces* phages SF1, SF3 and VWB, other with the *Propionibacterium* phages PFR1 and PFR2, and the third one with the *Caulobacter* phages CCrColossus, CCrRogue, CCrSwift, phiCbK, CCrKarma and CCrMagneto. Aval does not belong to any cluster and does not show any homology with any known phage, thus representing an orphan phage genus.



Figure 4.5: Heatmap based on the calculated sequence similarities (using VIRIDIC) between Aval and their most related phages.

Phylogenetic analyses were performed to further explore and characterize Aval. A neighbor-joining

tree of the major capsid protein, a highly conserved protein, is presented in Figure 4.6.



**Figure 4.6: Phylogenetic tree of the major capsid proteins of Aval and related phages, by neighbor-joining method.** Statistical support for the internal nodes was determined by 1,000 bootstrap replicates. The scale bar shows 0.2 amino acid substitutions per site. Generated in MegaX.

This analysis reveals the same three clusters within the related phage genomes also verified in the heatmap (Fig 4.5). In contrast with the proteomic tree (Fig 4.4), the result of this analysis show that Aval is more distant to the *Caulobacter* phages than, for instance, the *Propionibacterium* phages PFR1 and PFR2, which are two temperate phages [229]. Similar to the previous analyses, Aval is not included in any specific cluster, which reinforces its genomic differences to any known phage, and its representation as orphan phage of a novel genus.

The genome was annotated using Patric [212] and manually curated, predicting a total of 48 open reading frames (ORFs) on both strands. The functions of 22 proteins encoded by the distinguished ORFs could be predicted on the basis of their similarity to known proteins, by manual verification with Blastp analysis. Features of all the genes, including their position and orientation, the sizes of the encoded proteins, and their closest known homologs can be found in Table B.1 in Appendix B. The genome organization is visualized in Figure 4.7.



**Figure 4.7: Genome map of phage Aval.** The arrows indicate predicted ORFs and the direction of their translation: in white—encoding hypothetical proteins, blue-encoding DNA associated proteins, green-encoding structural proteins, yellow—encoding DNA packaging proteins, pink-encoding lysogeny related proteins and purple-encoding other proteins. Generated with EasyFig.

The first module, comprised of DNA-associated genes, starts with an integrase gene (gp1), that is commonly found to mediate the integration of the phage genome on its host by efficient site-specific recombination [230]. In gp6, a chromosome/plasmid partitioning protein, ParB, is encoded. Partitioning systems enable the segregation of plasmid molecules into both daughter cells at division, and has been

described as a factor in the stable maintenance of temperate phages that replicate as extrachromosomal prophages [231]. In this module can also be distinguished different genes encoding transcriptional regulators/regulatory proteins, such as the AlpA family phage regulatory protein (gp2), a helix-turn-helix (HTH) domain-containing protein (gp13) and the transcriptional activator CII (gp14). AlpA acts as a transcriptional regulator of the slpA gene whose activation is necessary to suppress two phenotypes- the overproduction of capsular polysaccharide and the sensitivity to UV light [232]. The HTH domains play a role in DNA repair and replication, RNA metabolism and protein–protein interactions [233]. The HTH encoded by gp13 is a Cro/C1-type conserved domain involved in the DNA-binding of the phage repressor protein C (COG2932), a repressor that is linked to phage lysogenic development. The transcriptional activator CII, encoded by gp14, is also associated with a temperate lifestyle. CII is responsible for the transcription of gene products, such as integrase genes, required for the establishment of a latent state, playing a key role in determining whether the bacteriophage will incorporate its genome or follow the lytic cycle [234].

In the end of this module, gp21 encodes a small nucleic acid-binding protein, His-Asn-His (HNH) endonuclease, right before the small and large terminase subunits, encoded by gp22 and gp23 respectively, all representing key components in phage DNA packaging [235]. This packaging module also harbors gp24, encoding the phage portal protein, which plays a crucial role by forming a portal to DNA passage during packaging and ejection. This protein is also involved in the formation of a junction between the phage head and the tail proteins, bridging to the structural module, represented in green in the Figure 4.7. The structural module, from gp24 to gp39, begins with the genes involved in the head/capsid structure and assembly- encoding the mentioned phage portal protein (gp24), a prohead protease (gp25) and the major capsid protein (gp26), followed by gp28, gp30 and gp31 that encode tail components, and gp32 encoding the tail length tape-measure protein.

It was also found a pyocin knob domain-containing protein, encoded by gp36, and a DNA adenine methylase encoded by gp44. A pyocin is a phage tail-like bacteriocin that employ the same contractility to kill competing bacteria by dissipating their membrane potential. DNA methyltransferases catalyze the transfer of methyl groups to DNA and are present in the genomes of various lytic and lysogenic phages [236].

### 4.2.2 Protein Isolation

To complement the genome annotation, structural phage proteins were first extracted from purified virions and then analyzed on an SDS-PAGE gel (Figure 4.8). Each band was assigned a specific identity based on the molecular weight of the predicted protein sequences.





The band at the highest molecular weight, around 65 kDa, is likely to correspond to the terminase large subunit, encoded by gp23. The second (44 kDa) matches the predicted size of gp26 that encodes the major capsid protein, followed by a band at 35 kDa that presumably coincides with the gp28-encoded HK97 family protein, that is a putative tail component. Next, a band at 32 kDa matches the size of gp35, a protein with no annotated function. Since this protein is also positioned close to structural cassette, it is then hypothesized that this hypothetical protein has a structural function. A band at 24 kDa can correspond to gp25, a HK97 family prohead protease and the following band at around 19 kDa can possibly be associated with gp30 that encodes a phage tail protein. The bands at molecular weights lower than 17 kDa do not have a clear separation in the gel, not being easily distinguished. Nevertheless, it is possible to see at least one band around 15 kDa with two probable matches, the structural protein P5 (gp39) and a phage tail assembly chaperone (gp31).

It should be noted that mass spectrometry analyses would be required to confirm the identity of the resolved proteins.

### 4.2.3 Infection Curve

In order to investigate the infection profile of the temperate phage Aval, a killing curve was performed in GBBC 3357 with MOI 0.1, presented in Figure 4.9.



Figure 4.9: Infection curves of *A.valerianellae* GBBC 3357 with Aval with MOI 0.1. The change in optical density ( $OD_{600}$ ) during growth of *A.valerianellae* GBBC 3357 with the presence of phage is followed through time. The negative control is indicated with lilac • and Aval (MOI 0.1) with blue •. Error bars indicate the standard deviation and are based on three independent repeats.

It is observed that the evolution of the optical density through time of the negative control appear to follow the same profile of the infected culture for the first 100 minutes. After that, a slight difference is noticed, in which the optical density of the negative control has a higher increase than the infected culture. This shows that the infection with Aval, with a MOI of 0.1, only has a minor impact on the host's growth.

### 4.2.4 Assessing the Lysogen Activity of Aval

Indicators associated with lysogenic behavior were found in Aval, including the formation of turbid plaques and the difficulty to amplify in high concentrations, including the lysis activity in liquid medium and the presence of specific genes. More specifically, the presence of an integrase gene is usually used as another hallmark for lysogenic activity, even if it may not be a definite confirmation of the ability

to lysogenize a host [208]. Therefore, a phenotypic test was used to screen for lysogen activity in Aval, relying on the identification of spontaneous phage release from their lysogenized host and gain of resistance.

This assay was performed in two different hosts: a strain that can be infected by all the three *A. valerianellae* phages - GBBC 3357 - and a strain that can only be infected by Aval - GBBC 3043. After isolating the possible lysogens from turbid plaques (cells that were growing in the presence of the phage Aval), and growing in liquid culture, two spot assays were done to screen for the release of phages. The Figures 4.10 and 4.11 show the results of the strain GBBC 3357. In a first assay the lysogen cultures were spotted on the host lawn (Figure 4.10A), and in a second assay were spotted the supernatants of the same cultures after centrifugation (Figure 4.10B). In this case, lysis spots were observed in both assays in three of the cultures (marked as 1, 2 and 3 in the Figure), revealing spontaneous phage release. With the host GBBC 3043, seven out of nine cultures also showed phage release (images not shown).



Figure 4.10: Screening of spontaneous phage release from spot assays. A) Spots of the cultures of the possible lysogens; B) Spots of the supernatant after centrifuging the cultures. In 1, 2 and 3 are observed lysis zones.

The cultures that were positive were further used to explore the hypothesis of resistance to the same phage (homoimmunity) with Aval, and in the case of GBBC 3357 also to other phages (superinfection exclusion), using Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3. For this purpose, the phages were spotted on the lysogens' lawns and also on the wildtype host lawn to compare. As observed in Figure 4.11, the lysogens did not acquire complete resistance to Aval, Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3. However, it is possible to see an impact on the susceptibility of the three GBBC 3357 lysogens to Aval since there is approximately a 10-fold difference in the production of plaques when comparing to the wildtype host (more noticeable in the lower concentration spots of phage (10<sup>2</sup> - 10<sup>3</sup> PFU/mL)). In GBBC 3043, all the lysogens showed resistance to Aval (images not shown).



Figure 4.11: Screening of homoimmunity and superinfection exclusion in three GBBC 3357 lysogenized with Aval. Aval was spotted in a sequential dilution in the wild type host and in the three possible lysogens, along with Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3 with a single spot.

Once it was verified spontaneous release of phages in the first two assays, and a decrease in the susceptibility to Aval (homoimmunity), this assay confirmed that Aval can indeed adopt a temperate lifestyle as suspected.

### 4.2.5 Discussion

This section described the genomic characterization of Aval, one of the first isolated bacteriophages infecting *A. valerianellae*. The difficulties presented in amplifying this phage at high concentrations and the inconsistent production of both clear and turbid small plaques did not allow a further laboratory microbiological characterization, discarding Aval as a biocontrol agent. Despite this, a deep genomic analysis of this phage, along with a phylogenetic analysis, offered new and interesting findings, revealing that it is a representative of a novel genus and the association with a temperate lifestyle. Besides the genomic indicators, the lysogenic activity of Aval was also experimentally confirmed with a phenotypic test in two different hosts.

Intriguingly, Aval showed to have a highly specific and narrow host range, able to lyse only three out of nineteen strains of Acidovorax valerianellae. However, the host range analysis was only based on the successful production of plaques. In the case of a temperate phage, it can also integrate the host's genome after infection without killing the bacteria. Thus, Aval might potentially be infecting other hosts without that being detected. On the other hand, just as there is the possibility of Aval to integrate into the genome, there may also be another prophage already integrated in the same host. As there is still no information about the genome of the strains in collection, it can be possible that they contain integrated prophages, such as previously reported for A. citrulli, in which at least seven integrated prophages were found in the genome [115]. Prophages are known to cause autoimmunity, making the strain that is parasitized by a specific phage resistant to a superinfection by other phages, including themselves (homoimmunity) [121]. This phenomenon is also referred to as superinfection exclusion and can be achieved through a wide variety of mechanisms, mainly involving alterations to the cell surface or other cell envelope components that block phage receptors [237] or prevent DNA entry into the cytoplasm [122]. Thus, the presence of integrated prophages that inhibit Aval superinfection could also be a hypothesis to its narrow host range. Also Aval showed ability to cause homoimmunity, as experimentally demonstrated in the phenotypic test performed in two different A. valerianellae strains. The presence of integrated prophages could be, for instance, verified by inducing them into the lytic cycle, for example with the use of mitomycin C. Indeed, several prophages were already discovered and isolated after exposure with mitomycin C, such as the Propionibacterium phages PFR1 and PFR2 [229].

TEM images of Aval revealed a typical myovirus phage with an icosahedral head and a long contractile tail. It was also observed in both phages of the image (Fig 4.1C) that the tail sheath was contracted, and the capsid already empty, indicating a previous ejection of the DNA, and so, the presence of several inactive phages in the stock. That suggests that the stock, after the removal of the bacterial cells by filtration, or even after PEG purification, still contain molecules that act as receptors to the phages, allowing them to bind and eject the DNA but without producing any progeny. Indeed, PEG precipitation has been shown to not completely remove endotoxins [238, 239], typically requiring downstream implementation of other endotoxin removal techniques, such as LPS affinity interactions, two-phase extractions, ultrafiltration, affinity chromatography or anion exchange chromatography [240]. Endotoxins, also known as lipopolysaccharides (LPS), are found in the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria and have been reported to commonly act as phage receptors [105]. For instance, LPS was shown to be the receptor of the *Pseudomonas* phage JG004 [241]. Therefore, problems faced in Aval amplifications can rely not only in the possibility of lysogenic behavior, but also because of a relatively fast inactivation of the phages in the stock due to interaction with possible host receptors.

Surprisingly, although the TEM images showed a *Myoviridae* morphology, the genomic features all pointed to a *Siphoviridae* classification. Indeed, the known phages with higher similarity with Aval, presented in the proteomic tree (Fig 4.4), all belong to the *Siphoviridae* family. Also, its large terminase subunit clustered together with the *Siphoviridae* member *Escherichia* phage HK97 (Fig 4.3) and some of

the annotated structural proteins, such as the tail component (gp28) and the prohead protease (gp25), are genomically associated again with the HK97 family. These inconsistencies between morphology and genome-based relationships with other tailed phages support a system of taxonomical classification not based on the three classical families *Myoviridae*, *Podoviridae*, and *Siphoviridae*, such as ICTV proposed recently [101], by replacing them with monophyletic, genome-based families.

Different approaches were used for providing further insight into the diversity and taxonomy of Aval. The proteomic tree (Fig 4.4), the heatmap (Fig 4.5) and the phylogenetic analysis (Fig 4.6) demonstrate that Aval is a novel phage without any relevant homology with any known phage- an orphan phageand so, a new genus should be proposed, e.g. 'Avalvirus' genus. The genome of Aval showed an organization of three main modules (Fig 4.7), beginning with DNA-binding, followed by DNA packaging and structural modules. In the first module, genes related with lysogenic activity were identified, namely encoding the transcriptional activator CII, that determines if the phage will incorporate the genome or follow the lytic cycle, and the integrase that mediates the incorporation in the host's genome, upon activation by CII [234]. In the same module, a partitioning protein was found, that shows an alternative ability to maintain a temperate lifestyle, by replication as an extrachromosomal prophage [231]. It is interesting to notice the simultaneous presence of these two different ways of prophage maintenance in Aval's genome, since genes with partitioning functions are usually present in temperate phages as a replacement of the integration cassette [231]. Using third generation sequencing technologies (Oxford nanopore sequencing), the behavior of Aval inside the bacterial cell could be captured. More specifically, using long read sequencing, the flanking regions of the phage genome could be captured, revealing the genomic integration of the phage into the bacterial genome, or its extrachromosomal state [242]. Additionally, the encoded DNA methyltransferase might be complementing this 'double ability' to generate and maintain stable lysogens by protecting the phage from host's restriction endonucleases, as has been shown in various lytic and lysogenic phages [236]. If, on the one hand, the phage tries to protect itself from its own host, on the other hand it is also conferring it a competitive advantage by turning the host more virulent through lysogenic conversion. Indeed, several encoded bacteriocins, such as the pyocin, have been discovered in temperate phages, providing evolutionary benefits to the infected host in intraspecies competition [243], once they can be deployed to kill the bacterial neighbors.

In conclusion, genomic and experimental evidence revealed Aval as a novel and orphan phage that can adopt a temperate lifestyle. In addition, Aval is likely associated with lysogenic conversion, as it encodes bacteriocins that can provide the host an evolutionary advantage over competitors.

# 4.3 New Clade Consisting of two Phage Genera Infecting *A. valerianellae* and *A. cattleyae*

### 4.3.1 Genomic Analysis

In order to characterize the other three isolated bacteriophages Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Acica, whole genome sequencing was performed. The main genomic characteristics determined for these three phages are summarized in Table 4.2.

No accentuated differences could be detected in the reads' coverage over the assembled genome. The packaging strategy was then identified by comparing the large terminase protein sequences with those of phages with known packaging mechanisms in a neighbor-joining tree (Figure 4.12), following the description of Merrill and colleagues [227]. The large terminase sequences of Acica, Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3, clustered together with the ones from the *Pseudomonas* virus phiCTX and *Escherichia* phages 186 and P2, that present 5' *cos* ends [227]. The physical start of the phages was then deter-

mined by aligning their genomes against the one from *Escherichia* phage P2.

	Genome length	GC content	# OBEe	# Annotated functions	
	(bp)	(%)	# 011 5		
Alfacinha1	40,274	65.2	53	33	
Alfacinha3	40,526	65.0	53	33	
Acica	37,472	67.5	49	32	



Figure 4.12: Neighbor-joining tree of large terminase protein sequences of Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3, Acica and phages whose packaging strategy is known. The black rectangle indicates Alfacinha's and Acica's cluster. The brackets indicate the packaging strategies experimentally determined for each cluster, according to Merrill et al. [227]. Bootstrap values are for 1000 trials. The scale bar shows 0.2 amino acid substitutions per site. Generated in MegaX.

The viral taxonomy of the three bacteriophages and their similarity with other known phages was investigated by generating a proteomic tree based on genome-wide sequence similarities (Figure 4.13), using the ViPTree server [221]. VIRIDIC [222] was then used to compute the pairwise intergenomic

similarities amongst the related viral genomes present in the heatmap of the Figure 4.14.



Figure 4.13: Proteomic tree based on global genomic similarity relationships between Acica, Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and other known phages, predicting the virus family and host group. Only the section with the most related phages of the tree is presented in this figure. Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Acica are indicated with red stars. Generated in ViPTree server.



Figure 4.14: Heatmap based on the calculated sequence similarities (using VIRIDIC) between Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3, Acica and their most related phages.

The presented section of the proteomic tree (Figure 4.13) shows that Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Acica clustered together with phages of the *Myoviridae* family, that is in accordance with the morphology shown in the TEM images (Figure 4.1). It is observed that these three phages represent a single cluster, related with two other clusters, one mainly composed of *Burkholderia* phages, and the other of *Mannheimia, Salmonella* and *Escherichia* phages, mainly belonging to the *Peduovirinae* subfamily. Within the cluster, Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3 are more closely related to each other than Acica. This is also confirmed by the heatmap, in Figure 4.14, in which is possible to distinguish more quantitatively the relationships within and between the different clusters. Indeed, while Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3 have a similarity of 97.5%, belonging to the same genus and species, Acica is only around 57% similar to them, thus belonging to a different genus, based on the current ICTV guidelines [228]. These three phages show homologies of less than 15% to all the remaining phages, with a maximum similarity of around 14% with the *Ralstonia* phages phiRSA1 and RSY1. Therefore, two novel phage genera, one composed by Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3 and the other composed by Acica, were found.

The sequences of highly conserved proteins were used in phylogenetic analyses in order to explore possible evolutionary relationships among the most related phages. Figure 4.15 shows the neighbor-joining trees of the major capsid protein and the large terminase subunit of the new *Acidovorax* phages Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Acica and related phages.



Figure 4.15: Phylogenetic trees of the major capsid protein (A) and large terminase subunit (B) of Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3, Acica and related phages, by neighbor-joining method. Statistical support for the internal nodes was determined by 1,000 bootstrap replicates. The scale bar represents 0.1 amino acid substitutions per site. Generated in MegaX.

In both phylogenetic trees the proteins of the *Acidovorax* phages stayed in an isolated cluster. In the case of the major capsid protein (Fig 4.15A), they are closer to the *Burkholderia* phage ST79 protein, while the large terminase subunits (Fig 4.15B) are more related with the ones from *Pseudomonas* phage phiCTX (as also shown in Fig 4.12) and from *Stenotrophomonas* phage Smp131. Interestingly, it is clear the difference between the phylogenetic relationships of the major capsid and large terminase, since the phage with the most closely related major capsid is, on the other hand, one of the phages with the most distant large terminase, and vice versa. It should also be noted that, although the *Ralstonia* phages were shown to be the most genomically similar to the *Acidovorax* phages, their proteins, especially the large terminase, are phylogenetically more distant.

To better understand the genome organization of these three phages and to compare it with other known related phages, their genomes were annotated using Patric [212] and manually curated. The encoded ORFs, ranging from 49 to 53 (Table 4.2) were identified, and some functions could be assigned

by verifying similarity at the protein level by Blastp analysis. Features of all the genes, including their position and orientation, the sizes of the encoded proteins, and their closest known homologs can be found in Tables B.2, B.3 and B.4 in the Appendix B. Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Acica genome maps and their comparison to the genomes of the *Ralstonia* phages phiRSA1 (accession number: NC\_009382.1) and RSY1 (accession number: NC\_025115.1) are visualized in Figure 4.16.





All the genomes appeared to be similarly structured, starting with a DNA packaging module, followed by lysis-related genes, the structural module and finally a module encoding DNA-binding proteins.

The initial module is nearly identical in all the five phages, harboring genes required for DNA packaging and also for the capsid synthesis. In Alfacinha and Acica phages, gp1 and gp2 correspond to the packaging-related genes of the portal protein and the large subunit of the terminase, respectively. In Alfacinha phages, these are followed by gp3 and gp4, encoding a capsid scaffolding protein and the major capsid protein (gp3 in Acica), respectively, and ending with the gp5 gene of the terminase small subunit and gp6 for the head completion protein.

Just before the structural module, a region of lysis-associated genes is present. All the five phages have genes encoding for holins, small membrane proteins that allow bacteriolytic enzymes to escape to the periplasm and to attack the cell wall. Additionally, the *Acidovorax* phages have genes encoding a lysozyme, in the case of Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3, and an endolysin, in the case of Acica. These enzymes are able to degrade the peptidoglycan layer of the host's cell wall from within, resulting in cell lysis and the release of phage progeny [244].

The structure module that follows is mainly comprised of genes encoding proteins associated with the tail and baseplate structure and assembly. In the case of Acica, nine out of fifteen genes encode tail proteins (gp6, gp10, gp15, gp20-gp25) and the genes gp12, gp13 and gp14 encode baseplate proteins. Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3 have ten genes encoding tail proteins but only one encoding a baseplate protein (gp13).

The structural module is followed by a module of genes encoding DNA-binding proteins, including transcriptional regulators, such as a helix-turn-helix transcriptional regulator (encoded by gp22 in both Alfacinha phages and by gp30c in Acica), an Ogr/Delta-like zinc finger family protein (encoded by gp35 in both Alfacinha phages and by gp34 in Acica) and an AlpA family phage regulatory protein (encoded by gp51 in both Alfacinha phages and by gp47 in Acica). There are also genes encoding DNA modifying proteins, such as the phage replication endonuclease, responsible for the initial scission required for the linearization of the circular replication intermediates at the cos-sites during packaging of the phage DNA [245], and a cytosine-specific methyltransferase that can catalyze the transfer of methyl groups to DNA. Notably, the Blastn comparison of this module does not show any similarity between the *Acidovorax* and the *Ralstonia* phages. In the end of the genome, all the five phages present a site-specific integrase, that is often related with integration of the phage genome into the bacterial chromosome.

In contrast with the other phages, Acica's genome showed the presence of toxin-related genes. The BrnT/BrnA toxin-antitoxin system consists of a set of two closely linked genes (gp27 and gp28) that, when together, form a high-affinity, neutral complex that encode both a stable toxin protein and the corresponding antitoxin. A rearrangement hotspot (RHS) repeat, encoded by gp17, is also present, which was previously reported to mediate intercellular competition by inhibiting the growth of neighboring cells [246].

To further explore and compare the differences between the new isolated *Acidovorax* phages, a proteome comparison was performed, and can be visualized in Figure 4.17.



**Figure 4.17: Proteome comparison of Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Acica.** The proteomic comparison between the phage Acica (outer circumference) and the phages Alfacinha1 (inner circumference) and Alfacinha3 (middle circumference) is shown on the left side and between Alfacinha1 (inner circumference) and Alfacinha3 (outer circumference) on the right side. The colours indicate the percentage of protein sequence identity in the subject genome to the matching protein sequence in the reference genome. A white space indicates that a gene/protein is missing compared to the reference.

On the circle on the left side of Figure 4.17, it is shown the comparison between the Acica's genome, represented by the purple outer circumference, and the genomes of Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3. The sequence similarity found between Acica's proteins and the ones from the other phages ranged from 51%, found in a baseplate protein, and 90% in a protein of the tail sheath. However, there are also proteins for which no similarity was found (represented by the gaps in Figure 4.17), including the lysis proteins, the baseplate assembly protein, the toxin-antitoxin system, the DNA methylase and seven proteins with unknown function.

Previously, the two Alfacinha phages showed to be very similar, sharing an intergenomic similarity of 97.5% and an identical genome organization, as seen in Figure 4.16. On the circle of the right side of the Figure 4.17 it is possible to evaluate their differences. Part of the genome, from gp12 to gp45, appears to be highly conserved (with more than 99.5% of similarity) while the remaining part is more variable. The latter is mainly comprised of proteins associated with DNA packaging, such as the portal protein and the terminase subunits, and with capsid synthesis, including the capsid scaffolding protein, the major capsid and the head completion/stabilization protein. Also the lysozyme and some of the tail and baseplate proteins showed less similarity. Additionally, differences were found in DNA-associated proteins, such as the helix-turn-helix transcriptional regulator, the endonuclease, the cytosine-specific methyltransferase and the integrase.

## 4.3.2 Protein Isolation

As was done for the phage Aval, the structural proteins of Alfacinha1 were analyzed on an SDS-PAGE gel, after their extraction from purified virions. The resulting gel is shown in Figure 4.18, where each band was assigned a specific identity based on the molecular weight of the predicted protein sequences. It is hypothesized that, given the high similarity found between the proteins of Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3, the band profile of Alfacinha3 would be equivalent to the one of Alfacinha1.



Figure 4.18: Analysis of Alfacinha1 structural proteins by SDS-PAGE (12%). On the right side of the figure are indicated the proteins predicted to correspond to each band, based on the known molecular weight.

The bands at 95 kDa and 56 kDa probably correspond to the tail length tape-measure protein and to the baseplate protein, encoded by gp27 and gp13, respectively. The third (44 kDa) matches the predicted size of gp23, that encodes a protein of the tail sheath. Two bands at molecular weight about 34 kDa follow, that presumably coincide with the proteins encoded by gp24 and gp14, the major capsid protein and a tail protein, respectively. Next, a band at 27 kDa matches the size of the envelope protein (encoded by gp18). The last band at around 19 kDa may correspond to the gp24-encoded major tail tube protein. It is noted that to confirm the identity of the resolved proteins, mass spectrometry analyses would be required. Nevertheless, the profile observed in the gel appears to be in accordance with the structural proteins predicted by the genomic analysis.

## 4.3.3 Microbiological Characterization of Alfacinha3

From the four isolated *Acidovorax* phages, Alfacinha3 was the only one that could easily reach high titers (10<sup>11</sup> PFU/mL), completely lysing the bacterial cultures. It also has a high specificity for *Acidovorax* 

*valerianellae* strains, unlike Alfacinha1 which can infect *A. cattleyae*. Since it produces clear plaques and does not show the presence of genes encoding toxins or related to lysogenic conversion, it was chosen for further microbiological experiments and bioassays in order to access its potential in biocontrol.

#### 4.3.3.1 Adsorption Assay

The phage infection process starts with adsorption to the bacterial receptor. An adsorption assay (Figure 4.19) was performed with Alfacinha3 at MOI of 0.01 to assess the speed of irreversible adsorption of the phage particle to the host cell (*A. valerianellae* GBBC 3161) and the efficacy of this process.





After one minute, 64.3% of the phage particles were adsorbed to the host cell and after ten minutes more than 77.3%. Under these circumstances, this gives an adsorption constant, described by Equation 4.1 [247], with B representing the bacterial titer, t the time,  $P_0$  the initial phage titer and P the phage titer after time t, of  $3.52 \times 10^{-9}$  mL/min after one minute.

$$k = \frac{2.3}{B * t} * \log_{10} \frac{P_0}{P}$$
(4.1)

Upon comparison of the adsorption constant to other *Myoviridae* phages, Alfacinha3 adsorption was slower than that of the *Dickeya* phage LIMEstone2 ( $2.1 \times 10^{-8} \text{ mL/min}$ ) [248] the *Pseudomonas* phage KIL3 ( $7.5 \times 10^{-9} \text{ mL/min}$ ) [152], but still faster than what was reported for the phage T4 ( $2.4 \times 10^{-9} \text{ mL/min}$ ) [247]. On the other hand, when comparing the total amount of phages irreversibly adsorbed to the host cell after ten minutes, Alfacinha3 shows lower numbers (77.3%), than, for instance, the phages LIMEstone2 and KIL3, that adsorb more than 99%.

### 4.3.3.2 Infection Curves

To assess the speed of the infection and cell lysis process, exponentially growing cultures of *A. valerianellae* GBBC 3161 were infected with the phage Alfacinha3 at different MOIs, and the variation in optical density ( $OD_{600}$ ) during growth was monitored through time (Figure 4.20).



Figure 4.20: Infection curves of *A.valerianellae* GBBC 3161 infected with phage Alfacinha3 at different multiplicities of infection (MOI). The variation in optical density ( $OD_{600}$ ) during growth of *A.valerianellae* GBBC 3161 with different concentrations of phage is followed through time. The negative control is indicated with lilac (•), MOI 0.1 with blue (•), MOI 1 with turquoise (•) and MOI 10 with light green (•). Error bars indicate the standard deviation and are based on three independent repeats.

When comparing the optical density of the infected bacterial cultures with the negative control, it is observed that after 40 minutes, a decrease in growth is detected with all the MOIs, demonstrating the virulence of the phage. Noteworthy, a steeper decline reaching an  $OD_{600}$  of almost 0.1 is observed with MOI 10 within 120 minutes.

### 4.3.4 Seed Bioassay

Considering that *Acidovorax valerianellae* transmission by contaminated seeds is discussed as a major infection source, the capability of bacteriophages to treat contaminated seeds was tested. To this end, lamb's lettuce seeds were first inoculated with *A. valerianellae* strain GBBC 3161 (10<sup>8</sup> CFU/mL) and then primed with the phage Alfacinha3 (10<sup>9</sup> PFU/mL). The final concentration of phage and bacteria per gram of seeds was determined after phage incubation overnight and the results are present in Figure 4.21.



Figure 4.21: Bacterial (A) and phage (B) concentration on the seeds for the four different conditions - Negative control, bacteria only (infected with *A.valerianellae* strain GBBC 3161 at  $10^8$  CFU/mL), phage only (primed with Alfacinha3 at  $10^9$  PFU/mL) and bacteria plus phage (GBBC 3161 + Alfacinha3). Error bars indicate the standard deviation and are based on three independent repeats. Statistical support is based on T-test, showing significant difference in (A) (p<0.05) and no significant difference in (B) (p=0.15).

After artificially infecting the seeds with *A. valerianellae* ( $10^8$  CFU/mL), a bacterial concentration of around 2 x  $10^7$  CFU/g seeds was detected inside the seeds. When treated with the phage Alfacinha3,

a 10-fold reduction (equivalent to 87% reduction) could be achieved. It is worth highlighting that despite having applied a phage solution with a concentration of  $10^9$  PFU/mL, the measured phage concentration inside the seeds was of only 4 x  $10^5$  PFU/g seed. This can mean that the phages are not easily entering the seeds, or that they possibly have a low persistence inside them, reaching slightly higher concentrations when the host is present since they can infect it and generate progeny.

To evaluate the effects of phage Alfacinha3 on plant growth and symptoms in the presence of *A. valerianellae*, the infected seeds primed with phage solution were grown in MS Agar under laboratorial conditions over 22 days. In Figure 4.22 the seedlings are visualized after growing under four different conditions, A- negative control, B- infected with bacteria, C- primed with phage and D- infected with bacteria and primed with phage.



**Figure 4.22: Lamb's lettuce seedlings after germination in four different conditions**- A) negative control; B) bacteria only (infected with *A.valerianellae* strain GBBC 3161 at 10<sup>8</sup> CFU/mL); C) phage only (primed with Alfacinha3 at 10<sup>9</sup> PFU/mL) and D) bacteria plus phage (GBBC 3161 + Alfacinha3).

A clear difference can be observed between the untreated infected seedlings (B) and the other conditions, showing lower germination and poor growth, with very short roots and small shoots. On other hand, the phage-treated infected seedlings (D) show much higher germination rates and longer roots when comparing with the untreated ones, qualitatively demonstrating a positive effect of the phage treatment on plant growth. Interestingly, the seedlings which were phage-primed appear to have more developed roots, with increased lateral root density and lateral root length, indicating that the phage solution might also be inducing a plant response.

After 22 days of growth, the germination rate, the shoot and root length were measured, and the vigor index was calculated by the product of the shoot and root lengths with the percentage of seed germination. The main parameters are summarized in Table 4.3. The distribution of the shoot (A) and root (B) length data for each condition is presented in the box plots of Figure 4.23.

**Table 4.3: Measurements of seedlings grown for 22 days from each condition** - Negative control, bacteria only (strain GBBC 3161), phage only (Alfacinha3) and bacteria plus phage (GBBC 3161 + Alfacinha3). The vigor index was calculated by the product of the shoot and root lengths with the percentage of seed germination. The results are based on three independent repeats, each one using 30 seeds per condition. Statistical support is given for the vigor index parameter by the connecting letters (<sup>a</sup> and <sup>b</sup>), based on the comparisons performed with Wilcoxon method (p=0.05).

	Mean shoot	Mean root	Germination	Vigor index	
	length (mm)	length (mm)	rate (%)		
Negative Control	25.4	40.9	96.7	1044.1 <sup>a</sup>	
GBBC 3161	9.7	8.5	58.9	62.1 <sup>b</sup>	
Alfacinha3	22.5	50.7	90.0	1085.6 <sup>a</sup>	
GBBC 3161 + Alfacinha3	20.1	54.2	93.3	1054.3 <sup>a</sup>	

The results demonstrate that the addition of the phage Alfacinha3 to the *A. valerianellae* infected seeds increased the germination rate from 58.9% to 93.3% and resulted in a dramatic rise in the vigor index. In addition, the infected seedlings presented a marked reduction in root and shoot length (as also noticed in Figure 4.22). The germination rate of the non-infected phage-primed seeds revealed to be lower than the negative control. On other hand, its vigor index was the highest. This is likely correlated with the root length, since the phage-primed seedlings had longer roots, as observed in Table 4.3 and in the box plots of Figure 4.23B. Also, the phage-treated seedlings revealed longer roots, supporting the hypothesis that there is an interaction between the plants and the phage solution that is causing a phenotype change in the roots.



**Figure 4.23: Measurements of the shoot and root length after germination in four different conditions** - Negative control; bacteria only (infected with *A.valerianellae* strain GBBC 3161 at  $10^8$  CFU/mL); phage only (primed with Alfacinha3 at  $10^9$  PFU/mL) and bacteria plus phage (GBBC 3161 + Alfacinha3). The results are based on three independent repeats, each one using 30 seeds per condition. Statistical relevance is represented by the connecting letters based on the nonparametric comparisons performed with Wilcoxon method (p=0.05).

## 4.3.5 Discussion

This chapter described the characterization of three novel bacteriophages (Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Acica) infecting *Acidovorax valerianellae* and *Acidovorax cattleyae*. Furthermore, the potential use of the phage Alfacinha3 as an agent in biocontrol of *A. valerianellae* was also assessed in a seed bioassay.

Host range analysis demonstrated that the phages infected different strains, covering around 60% of the strain collection. Good candidates for phage biocontrol preferably present a wide host range to maximize the chance of also lysing unknown strains in field conditions. However, it also must be

species specific to avoid detrimental effects to other, beneficial bacteria. Although Alfacinha1 showed the widest host range, it infected strains of both A. cattleyae and A. valerianellae, therefore not favorable to be used as a biocontrol agent. In sharp contrast, Alfacinha3 showed to be specific and to infect a higher number of A. valerianellae strains. Genomic differences can modulate host range at different stages, such as in surface-adhesion, genome replication and host cell lysis. They frequently rely on differences in the phage receptor binding proteins, recognizing, in turn, different host receptors. For example, a spontaneous mutation in a tail fiber protein (replacement of a positively charged lysine by an uncharged asparagine) led to changes in the host range of two related phages. *Pseudomonas* phages PaP1 and JG004 [249]. Furthermore, phages can show different adaptations to evade the host intracellular defense systems, protecting their DNA during replication and transcription, as demonstrated by the Pseudomonas phage 201w2-1 [250], or for instance, presenting distinct endolysins that lyse divergent cell-wall structures to release phage progeny [251]. Intriguingly, when looking into the genomic analysis, the phages Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3 share a high similarity (97.5%) and the same genome organization, not presenting a direct straightforward link to this host range diversity. On other hand, the TEM images revealed some morphological differences, especially in Alfacinha1 tail that, besides being narrower, appeared to have convoluted fibers, in contrast with Alfacinha3. Indeed, also the proteome comparison between these phages showed differences, albeit small, on the protein sequence of some of the tail proteins (gp10, gp11, gp23, and gp27). As described before for PaP1 and JG004, small differences such as the replacement of an aminoacid in a tail protein can, nevertheless, lead to significant changes in host range, by altering the interaction with the receptors. It is also worth noting the differences revealed by the proteome comparison in the DNA methyltransferase and in the lysozyme, since they play a role in anti-defense systems and host lysis respectively, which have been suggested to influence phage host range [251]. Therefore, it can be hypothesized that the differences found in these proteins could be correlated with the differences observed in host range. However further investigation would be required to unravel the exact role of the variation observed.

Genome sequencing confirmed that the three new phages Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Acica are very closely related myoviruses, in accordance with the TEM images. The different approaches used for giving insight into their diversity and taxonomy, such as the proteomic tree and the heatmap, along with the phylogenetic analysis, show that these three phages have low similarity to other phage genomes in the database, with a maximum similarity of about 14% with the *Ralstonia* phages phiRSA1 and RSY1. Therefore, they can be considered as novel phages, which should be placed in a new taxonomic group, belonging to the *Peduovirinae* subfamily, such as the majority of the most related phages. It is worth noting that, with the new taxonomic proposal of ICTV, this subfamily will be reclassified up to family level [101], and so these three phages will likely form a new subfamily. Within their cluster, Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3 present higher similarity between each other (97.5%) than with Acica (57%). Thus, according to the current ICTV guidelines [228], two new different genera should be proposed, e.g. 'Alfacinhavirus' and 'Acicavirus'.

The genome followed the same organization in the three phages, also corresponding to the one of the *Ralstonia* phages phiRSA1 and RSY1. It is comprised of four main modules beginning with DNA-packaging, followed by a lysis-related region, the structural module and ending with the DNA-associated module. Noteworthy, all the genomes finish with a site-specific integrase gene, which is often related with integration into the host's genome, and thereby, with a lysogenic lifestyle. However, Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3 consistently produced clear plaques and were able to fully lyse the bacterial cultures, exhibiting evidence of following the lytic cycle. In addition, no other lysogeny-related genes were found, such as repressor genes like CII, which are known to regulate the transcription of integrase genes and other elements necessary for lysogenic activity [234]. Phage integration is known to be a host-specific process, in which the integrase relies on distinct target sequences, such as within conserved tRNA
genes, to act [251]. Thus, phages can only integrate into hosts that contain the correct integration target site. As such, it can be hypothesized that either the Alfacinha phages have lost a key gene needed for lysogenic establishment or the host itself can be limiting their integration through the absence of the integrase-recognizing sites. Sequencing of the host genome could confirm whether a phage is generating or not an integrated prophage, by looking for a match in the bacterial genome corresponding to the full length of the phage [252]. Searching for the prophage integration sites, whose exact sequence matches between the phage and bacterial genomes [252], could also help to evaluate the capacity of the phage to specifically integrate that host, even if it is not following the lysogenic route.

Moreover, the phages Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha3 do not encode toxins or other known proteins associated with virulence or antibiotic resistance. In sharp contrast, the phage Acica revealed the presence of the BrnT/BrnA toxin-antitoxin system (gp27 and gp28), that has been reported to regulate stress adaptation and persistence during antimicrobial treatment [253]. In more detail, in response to various environmental stressors, such as low pH and oxidative stress, transcription of the toxin induces a bacteriostatic condition, in which the cells are still viable but unable to proliferate. This condition can be fully reversed by expression of the cognate antitoxins, thereby protecting the cells from long-term starvation. Additionally, Acica encodes a rearrangement hotspot (RHS) repeat (gp17). Despite the functions of this gene family are not yet well understood, it has been reported to be associated with toxin domains, which can be deployed to inhibit the growth of neighboring cell [246]. These toxin systems present in Acica's genome likely contribute to a strong positive selection of its host, thus providing it a competitive and evolutionary advantage. Therefore, even though Acica was found to specifically infect most of the A. cattleyae strains collection, its capability to turn its host into a more virulent and competitive pathogen discarded Acica as biocontrol agent. Alfacinha3, on other hand, showed to infect specifically A. valerianellae strains, producing clear plaques, thus indicating a lytic lifestyle. It was easily amplified in high concentrations and the killing curves showed to considerably reduce the bacterial population, demonstrating its ability to effectively lyse bacterial cells. Additionally, no toxins or virulence factors were found in its genome. Therefore, it was selected for further investigation in phage-based biocontrol.

Seed treatment has been proposed as a control strategy for A. valerianellae, since transmission by contaminated seeds is one major infection source. For instance, the use of aerated steam, hot water and sodium hypochlorite revealed to have an effect against A. valerianellae. However, it should be noted that due to its poor degradability and potential toxicity, sodium hypochlorite is not allowed in organic farming [80]. Alternatively, the use of bacteriophages in seed treatment could provide several advantages when compared with these available treatments, as phages are able to remain infective for long periods around the seeds, even after germination, and represent a more selective and ecologically sustainable strategy. The use of phage-coated seeds has been previously reported to be an effective approach in the biocontrol of another Acidovorax species, A. citrulli, being able to reduce the development of bacterial fruit blotch (BFB). Indeed, the treatment showed to increase the germination rate of watermelon infested seeds from 55% to 88% and the plant survival rate after three weeks from 15% to 100% [205]. As such, in this study, a seed bioassay was performed to test the efficacy of the Alfacinha3 phage in the control of Acidovorax valerianellae on seeds. A reduction of 87% of the bacterial concentration inside the seeds, and an increase from 58.9% to 93.3% in the germination rate were verified, showing that the phage could significantly reduce the progression of the disease. After three weeks, the non-treated infected seedlings showed an abnormal growth, in contrast to the phage-treated ones, which did not develop symptoms and were able to grow almost similarly to the non-infected plants. This demonstrates the potential of the phage Alfacinha3 in the biocontrol of A. valerianellae. It is worth noting that, in these experiments, the seeds were artificially infected with only one strain of A. valerianellae, while under natural field conditions, plants can be infected with several different strains. Thus, different combinations of phage-host should be tested, as it can possibly lead to different rates of success in reducing disease development.

Additionally, when coating healthy seeds with the Alfacinha3 phage solution of 10<sup>9</sup> PFU/mL, a phage concentration of only 10<sup>5</sup> PFU per gram of seed was detected. This suggests a low persistence of the phage when not accompanied by a host. Even though it did not appear as an issue in suppressing the bacterial population in a treatment strategy, it can impose an obstacle in a protective/preventive framework. It is known that lower phage titers often result in lower levels of disease protection [254]. In addition, phage concentrations tend to naturally decay over time when in the plant environment, since they are more subject to environmental stresses, especially if the host is not present [255]. To improve phage persistence, the addition of non-pathogenic or attenuated phage-propagating bacterial strains has been proposed [172]. The phage stability in the seeds can also possibly be increased by incorporation into polymer-based coatings, such as polymethyl vinyl ether (PMVE), skim milk and maltodextrin [255].

Despite these results present bacteriophages as promising coating agents to treat seed-borne disease, seed contamination is not the only source of infection described for *A. valerianellae*, and so, the phage must also be able to treat the disease when developed on the foliage. Soil-based approaches have been proposed as an alternative option to foliar spraying, given the low phage persistence associated with the latter [157]. For this purpose, the translocation of the phage through the plant vascular system and the concentration that it would achieve on the leaves upon phage application in the soil should be evaluated. For instance, the absorption and transport of the *A. citrulli* phage ACPWH from soil to leaf tissue could reach a phage titer of  $6.5 \times 10^6$  PFU/g leaf and reduce BFB disease severity by 60% in melon plants [206].

Interestingly, the plants whose seeds were phage-primed revealed significant differences in morphology. Despite shorter shoots they presented considerably longer and more developed roots, with increased lateral root density. This indicates that the interaction with the phage solution is inducing a plant response. Plants are known to respond to a variety of stimuli, including PAMPs (pathogen-associated molecular patterns), such as lipopolysaccharides, peptidoglycans and bacterial flagellin, that trigger a defense response to protect the plant from invading pathogens [256]. The detection of quorum sensing (QS) signaling molecules of microorganisms, including amino acids, fat derivatives, and other organic compounds has also been reported to induce a plant response. For instance, a recent study showed that diketopiperazines (QS signal molecules) promoted lateral root development and root hair formation in Arabidopsis thaliana by enhancing the polar transport of the plant hormone auxin from the shoots to the roots. This led to the accumulation of auxin at the root tip, that in turn, accelerated root growth [257]. Therefore, it is hypothesized that the phage stock used in the seed priming still contains bacterial compounds that cause a plant response. The bacterial compounds could include endotoxins, such as LPS, that could not be completely removed by PEG precipitation [239], or QS signaling molecules, that induce hormone signaling, promoting the specific growth and development of the root. As such, prior to phage application, purification methods should be applied to avoid harming plant shoots growth. For instance, alternative methods to PEG precipitation, including combinations of dead-end filtration, cross-flow filtration and affinity chromatography have been suggested [239].

In conclusion, the genomic characterization of the bacteriophages Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3 and Acica, the first isolated phages infecting *A. valerianellae* and *A. cattleyae*, revealed two novel phage genera. While the Alfacinha phages showed to display lytic lifestyle, Acica encoded toxin systems, typically correlated with lysogenic behavior, and possibly associated with lysogenic conversion. In addition, the potential of the phage Alfacinha3 in the biocontrol of *A. valerianellae* in lamb's lettuce was demonstrated, as it could significantly reduce the development and the progression of the disease.

### **Chapter 5**

## **Conclusions and Future Perspectives**

The growing human population, along with the limited area of cultivable land, requires an increase of current crop yields. However, plant pathogenic bacteria represent a key limiting factor. Issues concerning resistance towards the existing treatments are prominent, and therefore, there is a great need for long-term and safe alternatives. In this regard, bacteriophages are hypothesized as a potential solution to control plant diseases, and so, their applicability to combat *Acidovorax valerianellae*, the causing agent of lamb's lettuce black spot, was further investigated in this research work.

# 5.1 The characterization of the new *Acidovorax* isolated phages reveals a high diversity of host-phage interactions

In this study, the first phages infecting *A. valerianellae* and *A. cattleyae*, Alfacinha1, Alfacinha3, Acica and Aval were isolated and characterized. Based on their overall genome architecture, they showed to be representative of three novel genera, 'Alfacinhavirus', 'Acicavirus' and 'Avalvirus', revealing significant genomic differences to other known phages.

Within the four new phages, the host range analysis revealed diverse specificities, suggesting that they can, for instance, target different receptors or use different proteins to lyse their hosts. Both hypotheses were indeed supported by the proteome comparison, but no specific mechanism could be confirmed to explain the observed host range differences. To provide further insight about these differences, a knock-out library of the host strains using transposon mutagenesis could be used in future studies to assess which genes determine the infection mechanism in each phage. This strategy was successfully used by Holtappels et al. to identify host genes that affect the adsorption of the Pseudomonas phages KIL3b and KIL5. In addition, they were able to find a knocked-out gene, encoding an inner membrane protein, that was distinguishing the ability of KIL5 to infect the host [155]. This approach could also be very useful, when designing a cocktail, to select for phages that present different infection mechanisms, as these differences can represent an advantage by turning more difficult the selection for phage-resistant strains in the bacterial populations. Indeed, if the phages have similar infection strategies, they can compete during coinfection, reducing the access of the most effective phage, and, in turn, the efficacy of the cocktail. Consequently, a treatment based on a single phage can, in some cases, show higher disease protection compared to a phage cocktail [254]. Notably, despite the diversity observed in the host range of the Acidovorax phages, only 63% of the A. valerianellae strains collection could be infected, and the phage that was considered suitable for phage biocontrol, Alfacinha3, was able to infect only 37% of the collection. Therefore, isolation of additional phages, targeting different strains and distinct host proteins during infection, would be necessary to develop a biocontrol product relevant for application. Another possibility could rely on the genetic modification of the temperate phage Aval to become a virulent phage, such as demonstrated by Dedrick *et al.* with a *Mycobacterium smegmatis* phage [145], and combining it with Alfacinha3, thus allowing to infect a wider array of strains.

The new isolated phages also revealed differences regarding their life cycle and genomic features. While the Alfacinha phages displayed a lytic lifestyle, Aval and Acica appeared to follow the lysogenic route. Additionally, Aval and Acica encoded toxins associated with lysogenic conversion, in contrast to both Alfacinha phages. These genes can also be passed on to other bacteria via horizontal gene transfer, and consequently select for more virulent and competitive hosts, worsening the disease transmission rather than treating it. Nevertheless, further investigation would be required to clarify the exact contribution or impact of these phages in the evolution and virulence of the Acidovorax strains. This might, for instance, be investigated by comparison of phenotypes between a lysogen, with an introduced temperate phage, and the parental strain lacking the prophage. In addition, although genomic characterization can predict the ability of some phages to overcome phage-targeting resistance systems, including, for instance, the expression of methyltransferases that confer protection from host restriction endonucleases, it cannot predict how the development of bacterial resistance will evolve. Therefore, a study of the long-term interaction dynamics between the phage candidate(s) and the host could provide insight into the possible development of resistance by the host and its rate. That should be taken in account when designing a phage-based product, and especially when it is based on a single phage, since bacteria are likely to develop resistance more rapidly in this case [258]. Furthermore, evaluating the emerging phage-resistant mutants could also reveal resistance mechanisms and whether they have an altered effect on virulence. Acquired phage-resistance mutations are known to be often accompanied by a secondary cost, such as attenuated pathogenicity [156, 189], and therefore this would not be necessarily detrimental in the context of phage biocontrol.

### 5.2 Alfacinha3 may be a promising seed-coating agent for biocontrol of *Acidovorax valerianellae*

The significant effect on seed germination and seedling development, shown in the performed bioassay, demonstrated the applicability of the Alfacinha3 phage as a seed-priming biocontrol agent. As seeds are considered one major source of infection of *A. valerianellae*, their treatment can represent a relevant strategy in reducing the emergence of this pathogen. Despite the phage has proven to prevent the progression of the disease at an early stage, it should also be able to curb it at a later stage, when transmission can occur from contaminated soil or when the pathogen enters the plant foliage. Therefore, further research should consider soil-based phage delivery and include the evaluation of the vascular uptake of phages and their translocation to the leaves. Although foliar spraying could be an alternative option, this type of treatment is often compromised by the sensitivity of phages to UV radiation [157]. Thus, following the concentration of phages over time could unravel their long-term protective effect based on different application strategies, and assess the need of protective formulations.

It was also concluded that, for phage application in seed-coating, the PEG stocks would require additional steps of purification, since they contained compounds, likely from bacterial source, that promoted the growth and development specific of the root. Therefore, further assays regarding phage purification would be important before application as a seed treatment.

Typically, in a phage-based biocontrol framework, phage stability is tested under various conditions such as temperature and pH, to assess possible limitations in infectivity in the plant environment [152]. In this research, phages were only applied in controlled conditions at a constant temperature of 16°C. Further stability assays could be relevant when focusing field application, in which the phages are more

exposed to temperature changes and other diverse environmental conditions. Nevertheless, cultivation methods of leafy vegetables have been reformed to new cropping systems that enhance land use efficiency, such as vertical farming, in highly controlled stacking growth rooms and glasshouses. These solutions have allowed to grow 20-fold more plants per unit area than the traditional horizontal methods, increasing the crop productivity more than 10 times [259]. These systems keep a highly controlled environment, limiting, for instance, temperature fluctuations, to optimize the germination and growing rates. Specifically, for lettuce cropping, including lamb's lettuce, temperatures do not significantly deviate from 16°C, for which the application of the phage Alfacinha3 proved to perform well in this research work.

Furthermore, phage-based products could be implemented along with smart farming techniques, that integrate robotics, machine learning and sensor-based technologies to exploit early disease detection and precise biocontrol. Hyperspectral sensors trained with machine learning algorithms can be used for the detection of different phytopathogens [260, 261], which could then be specifically targeted by bacteriophages, possibly combined with other biocontrol organisms or biopesticides, in an automated and precise manner. In this perspective, phage application could be customized to meet the specific needs of both phages and crops, allowing to fully exploit the benefits of an integrated biocontrol strategy.

### 5.3 General conclusion

In conclusion, this research project contributed to expand knowledge of new bacteriophages infecting *Acidovorax* phytopathogens, and to explore their potential as a biocontrol tool.

Genomic analyses allowed to obtain a thorough understanding about phage biology and its interactions with the host, representing a fundamental tool to ensure safe phage application. Combining this extensive knowledge along with the examination of the practical applicability of phages in different settings, would help to improve and optimize a phage-based biocontrol strategy.

In the future, much more attention should be provided to sustainable pest control, in order to boost crop yield with a more rational application of resources. Global crop production must continue to grow to keep up with the predicted population growth and consumption trends. However, that should not impose an agricultural expansion of croplands. Integrated pest management techniques, combining the use of biological control agents, such as bacteriophages, with optimized cultural practices, including vertical and smart farming, can be used to achieve an increased potential of the available agricultural areas. In addition, phages tend to persist in high numbers only as long as the host is present, without presenting accumulation in the soil like copper-based or other chemical pesticides. Therefore, bacteriophages, as naturally occurring bacterial predators, can play a revolutionary role in a more sustainable future for crop production.

### Bibliography

- FAO, "The future of food and agriculture Alternative pathways to 2050," 2018. Rome. 224 pp. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- [2] N. Ramankutty, Z. Mehrabi, K. Waha, L. Jarvis, C. Kremen, M. Herrero, and L. H. Rieseberg, "Trends in Global Agricultural Land Use: Implications for Environmental Health and Food Security," *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, vol. 69, pp. 789–815, 2018.
- [3] D. K. Ray, N. D. Mueller, P. C. West, and J. A. Foley, "Yield Trends Are Insufficient to Double Global Crop Production by 2050," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 6, 2013.
- [4] A. Beltran-Pea, L. Rosa, and P. D'Odorico, "Global food self-sufficiency in the 21st century under sustainable intensification of agriculture," *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 15, no. 9, 2020.
- [5] Food and A. O. of the United Stations, "Plant health 2020." http://www.fao.org/ plant-health-2020/about/en/. Accessed: 2021-07-10.
- [6] G. W. Sundin, L. F. Castiblanco, X. Yuan, Q. Zeng, and C. H. Yang, "Bacterial disease management: Challenges, experience, innovation and future prospects: Challenges in bacterial molecular plant pathology," *Molecular Plant Pathology*, vol. 17, no. 9, pp. 1506–1518, 2016.
- [7] P. S. McManus, V. O. Stockwell, G. W. Sundin, and A. L. Jones, "Antibiotic use in plant agriculture," *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, vol. 40, pp. 443–465, 2002.
- [8] G. W. Sundin and N. Wang, "Antibiotic resistance in plant-pathogenic bacteria," Annual Review of Phytopathology, vol. 56, pp. 161–180, 2018.
- [9] C. S. Chiou and A. L. Jones, "Nucleotide sequence analysis of a transposon (Tn5393) carrying streptomycin resistance genes in Erwinia amylovora and other gram-negative bacteria," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 175, no. 3, pp. 732–740, 1993.
- [10] P. S. McManus and A. L. Jones, "Epidemiology and genetic analysis of streptomycin-resistant Erwinia amylovora from Michigan and evaluation of oxytetracycline for control," *Phytopathology*, vol. 84, no. 6, pp. 627–633, 1994.
- [11] R. A. Spotts and L. A. Cervantes, "Copper, oxytetracycline, and streptomycin resistance of Pseudomonas syringae pv. syringae strains from pear orchards in Oregon and Washington," *Plant Disease*, vol. 79, no. 11, pp. 1132–1135, 1995.
- [12] Z. Q. Luo and S. K. Farrand, "Cloning and characterization of a tetracycline resistance determinant present in Agrobacterium tumefaciens C58," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 181, no. 2, pp. 618–626, 1999.

- [13] A. Yoshii, H. Moriyama, and T. Fukuhara, "The novel kasugamycin 2'-N-acetyltransferase gene aac(2')-IIa, carried by the IncP Island, confers kasugamycin resistance to rice-pathogenic bacteria," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 78, no. 16, pp. 5555–5564, 2012.
- [14] N. Meenakshi Raman, M. Easwaran, R. Kaul, J. Bharti, K. Fathy Abdel Motelb, and T. Kaul, "Antimicrobial Resistance with Special Emphasis on Pathogens in Agriculture," in *Antimicrobial Resistance - A One Health Perspective*, 2021.
- [15] D. Holtappels, R. Lavigne, I. Huys, and J. Wagemans, "Protection of phage applications in crop production: A patent landscape," *Viruses*, vol. 11, no. 3, 2019.
- [16] J. Mansfield, S. Genin, S. Magori, V. Citovsky, M. Sriariyanum, P. Ronald, M. Dow, V. Verdier, S. V. Beer, M. A. Machado, I. Toth, G. Salmond, and G. D. Foster, "Top 10 plant pathogenic bacteria in molecular plant pathology," *Molecular Plant Pathology*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 614–629, 2012.
- [17] A. Willems, E. Falsen, B. Pot, E. Jantzen, B. Hoste, P. Vandamme, M. Gillis, K. Kersters, and J. De Ley, "Acidovorax, a new genus for Pseudomonas facilis, Pseudomonas delafieldii, E. Falsen (EF) Group 13, EF Group 16, and several clinical isolates, with the species Acidovorax facilis comb. nov., Acidovorax delafieldii comb. nov., and Acidovorax temperans sp. nov.," *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 384–398, 1990.
- [18] A. Willems, M. Goor, S. Thielemans, M. Gillis, K. Kersters, and J. De Ley, "Transfer of several phytopathogenic Pseudomonas species to Acidovorax as Acidovorax avenae subsp. avenae subsp. nov., comb. nov., Acidovorax avenae subsp. citrulli, Acidovorax avenae subsp. cattleyae, and Acidovorax konjaci," *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 107–119, 1992.
- [19] L. Gardan, C. Dauga, P. Prior, M. Gillis, and G. S. Saddler, "Acidovorax anthurii sp. nov., a new phytopathogenic bacterium which causes bacterial leaf-spot of anthurium," *International Journal* of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 235–246, 2000.
- [20] L. Gardan, D. E. Stead, C. Dauga, and M. Gillis, "Acidovorax valerianellae sp. nov., a novel pathogen of lamb's lettuce [Valerianella locusta (L.) Laterr.]," *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 795–800, 2003.
- [21] N. W. Schaad, E. Postnikova, A. Sechler, L. E. Claflin, A. K. Vidaver, J. B. Jones, I. Agarkova, A. Ignatov, E. Dickstein, and B. A. Ramundo, "Reclassification of subspecies of Acidovorax avenae as A. Avenae (Manns 1905) emend., A. cattleyae (Pavarino, 1911) comb. nov., A. citrulli Schaad et al., 1978) comb. nov., and proposal of A. oryzae sp. nov.," *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, vol. 31, no. 6-8, pp. 434–446, 2008.
- [22] Y. Huang, H. Li, C. Rensing, K. Zhao, L. Johnstone, and G. Wang, "Genome Sequence of the Facultative Anaerobic Arsenite-Oxidizing and Nitrate-Reducing Bacterium Acidovorax sp. Strain NO1," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 194, no. 6, pp. 1635–1636, 2012.
- [23] Y. Ohtsubo, Y. Ishibashi, H. Naganawa, S. Hirokawa, S. Atobe, Y. Nagata, and M. Tsuda, "Conjugal transfer of polychlorinated biphenyl/biphenyl degradation genes in acidovorax sp. strain KKS102, which are located on an integrative and conjugative element," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 194, no. 16, pp. 4237–4248, 2012.
- [24] K. S. Lee, J. V. Parales, R. Friemann, and R. E. Parales, "Active site residues controlling substrate specificity in 2-nitrotoluene dioxygenase from Acidovorax sp. strain JS42," *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 32, no. 10, pp. 465–473, 2005.

- [25] J. Mergaert and J. Swings, "Biodiversity of microorganisms that degrade bacterial and synthetic polyesters," *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology*, vol. 17, no. 5-6, pp. 463–469, 1996.
- [26] P. D. Fontana, A. M. Rago, C. A. Fontana, G. M. Vignolo, P. S. Cocconcelli, and J. A. Mariotti, "Isolation and genetic characterization of Acidovorax avenae from red stripe infected sugarcane in Northwestern Argentina," *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, vol. 137, no. 3, pp. 525–534, 2013.
- [27] W. Y. Song, A. J. Sechler, E. Hatziloukas, H. M. Kim, and N. W. Schaad, "Use of PCR for Rapid Identification of Acidovorax avenae and A. avenae subsp. citrulli," in *Pseudomonas syringae and related pathogens*, pp. 531–544, 2003.
- [28] I. H. Sung, Y. R. Lai, and C. J. Huang, "First report of Acidovorax avenae subsp. avenae causing bacterial leaf blight of tea in Taiwan," *Journal of Plant Pathology*, vol. 102, no. 3, p. 981, 2020.
- [29] M. Fegan, "Plant pathogenic members of the genera Acidovorax and Herbaspirillum," in *Plant-Associated Bacteria*, pp. 671–702, 2006.
- [30] H. Shan, W. Li, Y. Huang, X. Wang, R. Zhang, Z. Luo, and J. Yin, "First detection of sugarcane red stripe caused by Acidovorax avenae subsp. avenae in Yuanjiang, Yunnan, China," *Tropical Plant Pathology*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 137–141, 2017.
- [31] N. Chu, J. R. Zhou, H. Y. Fu, M. T. Huang, H. L. Zhang, and S. J. Gao, "Global gene responses of resistant and susceptible sugarcane cultivars to acidovorax avenae subsp. Avenae identified using comparative transcriptome analysis," *Microorganisms*, vol. 8, no. 1, 2020.
- [32] R. M. Johnson, M. P. Grisham, K. Z. Warnke, and J. R. Maggio, "Relationship of soil properties and sugarcane yields to red stripe in Louisiana," *Phytopathology*, vol. 106, no. 7, pp. 737–744, 2016.
- [33] G. Pavarino, "Malattie causate da bacteri nelle Orchidee," *Atti Accademia dei Lincei*, vol. 20, pp. 233–237, 1911.
- [34] G. E. Stovold, J. Bradley, and P. C. Fahy, "Acidovorax avenae subsp . cattleyae (Pseudomonas cattleyae) causing leafspot and death of Phalaenopsis orchids in New South Wales," *Australasian Plant Pathology*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 73–74, 2001.
- [35] M. Scortichini, D. D'Ascenzo, M. Rossi, H. Aksoy, and C. Çirak, "New record of acidovorax avenae subsp cattleyae on orchid in italy," *JOURNAL OF PLANT PATHOLOGY*, vol. 87, 11 2005.
- [36] J. Pulawska, A. Mikicinski, and L. B. Orlikowski, "Acidovorax cattleyae-the causal agent of bacterial brown spot of phalaenopsis lueddemanniana in Poland," *Journal of Plant Pathology*, vol. 95, no. 2, pp. 407–410, 2013.
- [37] P. A. Ark and H. E. Thomas, "Bacterial leaf spot and bud rot of orchids caused by Phytomonas cattleyae," *Phytopathology*, vol. 36, pp. 695–698, 1946.
- [38] J. D. Janse, "CHAPTER 8: Acidovorax cattleyae: Bacterial Brown Spot of Orchids," in Plant-Pathogenic Acidovorax Species, Bacteriology, pp. 111–119, The American Phytopathological Society, jan 2018.
- [39] R. E. Webb and R. W. Goth, "A seedborne bacterium isolated from watermelon," *Plant Disease Reporter*, vol. 49, pp. 818–21, 1965.

- [40] R. Yang, D. S. Garcia, F. P. Montaño, G. M. Da Silva, M. Zhao, I. J. Guerrero, T. Rosenberg, G. Chen, I. Plaschkes, S. Morin, R. Walcott, and S. Burdman, "Complete assembly of the genome of an Acidovorax citrulli strain reveals a naturally occurring plasmid in this species," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 10, no. JUN, 2019.
- [41] M. Zhao and R. R. Walcott, "CHAPTER 3: Acidovorax citrulli : History, Epidemiology, and Management of Bacterial Fruit Blotch of Cucurbits," in *Plant-Pathogenic Acidovorax Species*, Bacteriology, pp. 39–57, The American Phytopathological Society, jan 2018.
- [42] A. Rahimi-Midani and T.-J. Choi, "Bacteriophage Biocontrol of Acidovorax citrulli, the Causal Agent of Bacterial Fruit Blotch," *Proceedings*, vol. 50, no. 1, p. 10, 2020.
- [43] D. Malliarakis, E. Mpalantinaki, M. G. Pagoulatou, K. Lorenzou, and D. E. Goumas, "First report of Acidovorax citrulli causing a leaf spot disease on tomato plants in Greece," *Journal of Plant Pathology*, vol. 103, no. 1, p. 353, 2021.
- [44] L. B. Kumagai, P. W. Woods, and X. Moua, "First report of bacterial fruit blotch on melon Caused by acidovorax citrulli in California," *Plant Disease*, vol. 98, no. 10, p. 1423, 2014.
- [45] D. L. Hopkins, "Chemical Control of Bacterial Fruit Blotch of Watermelon," in *Phytopathology*, vol. 104, pp. 270–272, 1991.
- [46] C. C. Block and L. M. Shepherd, "Long-term Survival and Seed Transmission of Acidovorax avenae subsp. citrulli in Melon and Watermelon Seed," *Plant Health Progress*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. 36, 2008.
- [47] B. Li, X. Wang, J. Chen, H. Liu, K. A. Ali, Y. Wang, W. Qiu, and G. Sun, "IcmF and DotU are required for the virulence of Acidovorax oryzae strain RS-1," *Archives of Microbiology*, vol. 200, no. 6, pp. 897–910, 2018.
- [48] S. O. Ogunyemi, F. Zhang, Y. Abdallah, M. Zhang, Y. Wang, G. Sun, W. Qiu, and B. Li, "Biosynthesis and characterization of magnesium oxide and manganese dioxide nanoparticles using Matricaria chamomilla L. extract and its inhibitory effect on Acidovorax oryzae strain RS-2," *Artificial Cells, Nanomedicine and Biotechnology*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 2230–2239, 2019.
- [49] S. O. Ogunyemi, Y. Fang, W. Qiu, B. Li, J. Chen, M. Yang, X. Hong, J. Luo, Y. Wang, and G. Sun, "Role of type IV secretion system genes in virulence of rice bacterial brown stripe pathogen Acidovorax oryzae strain RS-2," *Microbial Pathogenesis*, vol. 126, pp. 343–350, 2019.
- [50] B. Li, B. Liu, R. Yu, Z. Tao, Y. Wang, G. Xie, H. Li, and G. Sun, "Bacterial brown stripe of rice in soil-less culture system caused by Acidovorax avenae subsp. avenae in China," *Journal of General Plant Pathology*, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 64–67, 2011.
- [51] I. O. Adisa, V. L. Pullagurala, J. R. Peralta-Videa, C. O. Dimkpa, W. H. Elmer, J. L. Gardea-Torresdey, and J. C. White, "Recent advances in nano-enabled fertilizers and pesticides: A critical review of mechanisms of action," *Environmental Science: Nano*, vol. 6, no. 7, pp. 2002–2030, 2019.
- [52] T. Ahmed, M. Noman, J. Luo, S. Muhammad, M. Shahid, M. A. Ali, M. Zhang, and B. Li, "Bioengineered chitosan-magnesium nanocomposite: A novel agricultural antimicrobial agent against Acidovorax oryzae and Rhizoctonia solani for sustainable rice production," *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, vol. 168, pp. 834–845, 2021.

- [53] C. Manyi-Loh, S. Mamphweli, E. Meyer, and A. Okoh, "Antibiotic use in agriculture and its consequential resistance in environmental sources: Potential public health implications," *Molecules*, vol. 23, no. 4, 2018.
- [54] T. Ahmed, M. Noman, M. Shahid, M. S. Shahid, and B. Li, "Antibacterial potential of green magnesium oxide nanoparticles against rice pathogen Acidovorax oryzae," *Materials Letters*, vol. 282, 2021.
- [55] E. Ibrahim, H. Fouad, M. Zhang, Y. Zhang, W. Qiu, C. Yan, B. Li, J. Mo, and J. Chen, "Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using endophytic bacteria and their role in inhibition of rice pathogenic bacteria and plant growth promotion," *RSC Advances*, vol. 9, no. 50, pp. 29293–29299, 2019.
- [56] M. I. Masum, M. M. Siddiqa, K. A. Ali, Y. Zhang, Y. Abdallah, E. Ibrahim, W. Qiu, C. Yan, and B. Li, "Biogenic synthesis of silver nanoparticles using phyllanthus emblicafruit extract and its inhibitory action against the pathogen acidovorax oryzaestrain RS-2 of rice bacterial brown stripe," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 10, no. APR, 2019.
- [57] K. A. Ali, R. Yao, W. Wu, M. M. I. Masum, J. Luo, Y. Wang, Y. Zhang, Q. An, G. Sun, and B. Li, "Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticle from pomelo (Citrus Maxima) and their antibacterial activity against acidovorax oryzae RS-2," *Materials Research Express*, vol. 7, no. 1, 2020.
- [58] P. Prior and P. Rott, "Bacterial Leaf Spot of Anthurium (Anthurium spp.) Caused by a Pseudomonas sp. in the French West Indies," *Journal of Phytopathology*, vol. 124, no. 3, pp. 215–224, 1989.
- [59] A. W. Holder, W. Elibox, and P. Umaharan, "Status of bacterial leaf spot disease of Anthurium in trinidad and characterization of native isolates of the causal organism, Acidovorax anthurii," *HortScience*, vol. 50, no. 7, pp. 1023–1027, 2015.
- [60] A. W. Holder, W. Elibox, and P. Umaharan, "A first approach to develop a quantitative screening method to identify resistance to bacterial leaf spot disease caused by Acidovorax anthurii in anthurium," *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 2021.
- [61] M. GOTO, "Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes subsp. konjaci subsp. nov., the Causal Agent of Bacterial Leaf Blight of Konjac (Amorphophalus konjac Koch.)," *International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 539–545, 1983.
- [62] N. HAYASHI, "Secondary Dissemination of Konnyaku Bacterial Leaf Blight Caused by Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes subsp. konjaci.," *Japanese Journal of Phytopathology*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 345–350, 1991.
- [63] I.-S. Myung, Y.-K. Lee, I. Jeong, S. Moon, S. Lee, and H. Shim, "A new disease, bacterial black rot of Korean radish, caused by Acidovorax konjaci," *New Disease Reports*, vol. 22, p. 26, 2010.
- [64] C. G. Back, M. J. Park, Y. H. You, P. H. Yi, K. S. Han, J. H. Park, H. G. Kim, and Y. S. Lee, "First report of bacterial black spot disease in cucumber caused by acidovorax konjaci in Korea," *Plant Disease*, vol. 100, no. 7, p. 1492, 2016.
- [65] C. Grondeau, R. Samson, and L. Gardan, "Description and Identification of the new Phytopathogenic Bacterium causing Bacterial Black Spots on Corn Salad (Valerianella locusta), as Acidovorax valerianellae," in *Plant Pathogenic Bacteria*, pp. 165–166, 2001.
- [66] Y.-K. Han, K.-S. Han, S.-C. Lee, S. Kim, and J. Lee, "First Report of Bacterial Black Spot Disease in Watermelon Caused by Acidovorax valerianellae in Korea," *Plant Disease*, vol. 96, no. 5, pp. 759–759, 2012.

- [67] H.-S. Kim, Y.-T. Kim, K.-S. Park, J.-H. Lee, H.-I. Lee, and J.-S. Cha, "Two Pathogenic Groups in Acidovorax valerianellae Causing Bacterial Black Spot on the Various Crop Plants," *Research in Plant Disease*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 314–321, 2017.
- [68] T. Tomihama, T. Nonaka, M. Nakamura, H. Iwai, and K. Arai, "Bacterial spot of tea caused by Acidovorax valerianellae," *Japanese Journal of Phytopathology*, vol. 72, no. 4, pp. 185–190, 2006.
- [69] K. Ikeda, K. Kuwabara, O. Furuya, and Y. Takikawa, "The Occurrence of Bacterial Leaf Spot of Hydrangea Caused by Acidovorax valerianellae in Gunma Prefecture and its Pathogenicity," *Annual Report of the Kanto-Tosan Plant Protection Society*, vol. 2009, no. 56, pp. 79–83, 2009.
- [70] C. Grondeau, C. Manceau, and R. Samson, "A semiselective medium for the isolation of Acidovorax valerianellae from soil and plant debris," *Plant Pathology*, vol. 56, no. 2, pp. 302–310, 2007.
- [71] K. Thiele, K. Smalla, S. Kropf, and F. Rabenstein, "Detection of Acidovorax valerianellae, the causing agent of bacterial leaf spots in corn salad [Valerianella locusta (L.) Laterr.], in corn salad seeds," *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, vol. 54, no. 2, pp. 112–118, 2012.
- [72] C. Manceau, E. Charbit, M. Lecerf, and P. Portier, "CHAPTER 9: Acidovorax valerianellae: Bacterial Black Spot of Lamb's Lettuce," in *Plant-Pathogenic Acidovorax Species*, Bacteriology, pp. 121– 130, The American Phytopathological Society, jan 2018.
- [73] C. Grondeau and R. Samson, "Detection of acidovorax valerianellae in corn-salad seeds, seed transmission of the pathogen and disease development in the field," *Plant Pathology*, vol. 58, no. 5, pp. 846–852, 2009.
- [74] S. Q. An, N. Potnis, M. Dow, F. J. Vorhölter, Y. Q. He, A. Becker, D. Teper, Y. Li, N. Wang, L. Bleris, and J. L. Tang, "Mechanistic insights into host adaptation, virulence and epidemiology of the phytopathogen Xanthomonas," *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 1–32, 2019.
- [75] M. Torrellas, A. Antón, M. Ruijs, N. García Victoria, C. Stanghellini, and J. I. Montero, "Environmental and economic assessment of protected crops in four European scenarios," *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 28, pp. 45–55, 2012.
- [76] A. Fusi, V. Castellani, J. Bacenetti, G. Cocetta, M. Fiala, and R. Guidetti, "The environmental impact of the production of fresh cut salad: a case study in Italy," *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 162–175, 2016.
- [77] J. Muminovic, A. E. Melchinger, and T. Lübberstedt, "Genetic diversity in cornsalad (Valerianella locusta) and related species as determined by AFLP markers," *Plant Breeding*, vol. 123, no. 5, pp. 460–466, 2004.
- [78] J. Y. Péron and D. C. Rees, "High-tech production of Corn Salad (Valerianella locusta (L) Laterr.), a local, French vegetable crop," *Acta Horticulturae*, vol. 467, pp. 259–268, 1998.
- [79] J. Herforth-Rahmé, J. G. Fuchs, V. Hofer, M. Schnueriger, H. J. Schärer, and M. Koller, "Bioseedling: A chain approach to the production of healthier seeds and seedlings of Lamb's lettuce Valerianella locusta," in *Acta Horticulturae*, vol. 1164, pp. 39–45, 2017.
- [80] H. J. Schärer, M. Schnueriger, V. Hofer, J. Herforth-Rahmé, and M. Koller, "Effect of different seed treatments against seed borne diseases on corn salad," in *Acta Horticulturae*, vol. 1164, pp. 33– 38, 2017.

- [81] S. Horuz and Y. Aysan, "Biological control of watermelon seedling blight caused by acidovorax citrulli using antagonistic bacteria from the genera Curtobacterium, Microbacterium and Pseudomonas," *Plant Protection Science*, vol. 54, no. 3, pp. 138–146, 2018.
- [82] F. H. Medeiros, I. S. Moraes, E. B. da Silva Neto, E. B. Silveira, and R. L. R. Mariano, "Management of melon bacterial blotch by plant beneficial bacteria," *Phytoparasitica*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 453–460, 2009.
- [83] H. Fan, Z. Zhang, Y. Li, X. Zhang, Y. Duan, and Q. Wang, "Biocontrol of bacterial fruit blotch by Bacillus subtilis 9407 via surfactin-mediated antibacterial activity and colonization," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 8, no. OCT, 2017.
- [84] C. H. Jiang, F. Wu, Z. Y. Yu, P. Xie, H. J. Ke, H. W. Li, Y. Y. Yu, and J. H. Guo, "Study on screening and antagonistic mechanisms of Bacillus amyloliquefaciens 54 against bacterial fruit blotch (BFB) caused by Acidovorax avenae subsp. citrulli," *Microbiological Research*, vol. 170, pp. 95–104, 2015.
- [85] X. Gu, Q. Zeng, Y. Wang, J. Li, Y. Zhao, Y. Li, and Q. Wang, "Comprehensive genomic analysis of Bacillus subtilis 9407 reveals its biocontrol potential against bacterial fruit blotch," *Phytopathology Research*, vol. 3, no. 1, 2021.
- [86] M. M. Masum, L. Liu, M. Yang, M. M. Hossain, M. M. Siddiqa, M. E. Supty, S. O. Ogunyemi, A. Hossain, Q. An, and B. Li, "Halotolerant bacteria belonging to operational group Bacillus amyloliquefaciens in biocontrol of the rice brown stripe pathogen Acidovorax oryzae," *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, vol. 125, no. 6, pp. 1852–1867, 2018.
- [87] A. Fessehaie and R. R. Walcott, "Biological control to protect watermelon blossoms and seed from infection by Acidovorax avenae subsp. citrulli," *Phytopathology*, vol. 95, no. 4, pp. 413–419, 2005.
- [88] K. L. Johnson, G. V. Minsavage, T. Le, J. B. Jones, and R. R. Walcott, "Efficacy of a nonpathogenic Acidovorax citrulli strain as a biocontrol seed treatment for bacterial fruit blotch of cucurbits," *Plant Disease*, vol. 95, no. 6, pp. 697–704, 2011.
- [89] M. Adhikari, D. R. Yadav, S. W. Kim, Y. H. Um, H. S. Kim, S. C. Lee, J. Y. Song, H. G. Kim, and Y. S. Lee, "Biological control of bacterial fruit blotch of watermelon pathogen (Acidovorax citrulli) with Rhizosphere associated bacteria," *Plant Pathology Journal*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 170–183, 2017.
- [90] X. Wang, G. Li, D. Jiang, and H. C. Huang, "Screening of plant epiphytic yeasts for biocontrol of bacterial fruit blotch (Acidovorax avenae subsp. citrulli) of hami melon," *Biological Control*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 164–171, 2009.
- [91] A. Rahimi-Midani, Y. S. Lee, S. W. Kang, M. K. Kim, and T. J. Choi, "First isolation and molecular characterization of bacteriophages infecting acidovorax citrulli, the causal agent of bacterial fruit blotch," *Plant Pathology Journal*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 59–64, 2018.
- [92] C. Buttimer, O. McAuliffe, R. P. Ross, C. Hill, J. O'Mahony, and A. Coffey, "Bacteriophages and bacterial plant diseases," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 8, no. JAN, 2017.
- [93] F. W. Twort, "An investigation on the nature of ultra-microscopic viruses.," *The Lancet*, vol. 186, no. 4814, pp. 1241–1243, 1915.
- [94] F. D'Herelle, "Sur un microbe invisible antagoniste des Bacillies dysentériques," C. R. Acad. Sci, vol. 165, pp. 373–375, 1917.

- [95] X. Wittebole, S. De Roock, and S. M. Opal, "A historical overview of bacteriophage therapy as an alternative to antibiotics for the treatment of bacterial pathogens," *Virulence*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 226– 235, 2014.
- [96] W. Mallmann and C. Hemstreet, "Isolation of an inhibitory substance from plants," Agric. Res., vol. 28, pp. 599–602, 1924.
- [97] G. Coons and J. Kotila, "The transmissible lytic principle (bacteriophage) in relation to plant pathogens," *Phytopathology*, vol. 15, pp. 357–370, 1925.
- [98] J. Kotila and G. Coons, "Investigations on the blackleg disease of potato," *Michigan Agric. Exp. Stn. Tech. Bull*, vol. 67, pp. 3–29, 1925.
- [99] R. Thomas, "A bacteriophage in relation to Stewart's disease of corn," *Phytopathology*, vol. 25, pp. 371–372, 1935.
- [100] H. W. Ackermann, "5500 Phages examined in the electron microscope," Archives of Virology, vol. 152, no. 2, pp. 227–243, 2007.
- [101] D. Turner, A. M. Kropinski, and E. M. Adriaenssens, "A roadmap for genome-based phage taxonomy," *Viruses*, vol. 13, no. 3, 2021.
- [102] M. Elbreki, R. P. Ross, C. Hill, J. O'Mahony, O. McAuliffe, and A. Coffey, "Bacteriophages and Their Derivatives as Biotherapeutic Agents in Disease Prevention and Treatment," *Journal of Viruses*, vol. 2014, pp. 1–20, 2014.
- [103] ICTV, "Virus Taxonomy: 2020 Release." https://talk.ictvonline.org/taxonomy/. Accessed: 2021-07-19.
- [104] K. Christi, J. Elliman, and L. Owens, "A synthesis of the divalent cation requirements for efficient adsorption of bacteriophage onto bacterial cells," in *Bacteriophages: An Overview and Synthesis* of a Re-Emerging Field, pp. 43–70, 2016.
- [105] J. Bertozzi Silva, Z. Storms, and D. Sauvageau, "Host receptors for bacteriophage adsorption," FEMS Microbiology Letters, vol. 363, no. 4, 2016.
- [106] Y. J. Heo, I. Y. Chung, K. B. Choi, G. W. Lau, and Y. H. Cho, "Genome sequence comparison and superinfection between two related Pseudomonas aeruginosa phages, D3112 and MP22," *Microbiology*, vol. 153, no. 9, pp. 2885–2895, 2007.
- [107] Y. Choi, H. Shin, J. H. Lee, and S. Ryua, "Identification and characterization of a novel flagellumdependent Salmonella-infecting bacteriophage, iEPS5," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 79, no. 16, pp. 4829–4837, 2013.
- [108] F. Oechslin, "Resistance development to bacteriophages occurring during bacteriophage therapy," *Viruses*, vol. 10, no. 7, 2018.
- [109] P. Zaleski, M. Wojciechowski, and A. Piekarowicz, "The role of Dam methylation in phase variation of Haemophilus influenzae genes involved in defence against phage infection," *Microbiology*, vol. 151, no. 10, pp. 3361–3369, 2005.
- [110] E. Kutter, A. Sulakvelidze, W. Summers, B. Guttman, R. Raya, H. Brüssow, P. Ecology, and K. Carlson, *Basic Phage Biology*. 2004.

- [111] M. Liu, R. Deora, S. R. Doulatov, M. Gingery, F. A. Eiserling, A. Preston, D. J. Maskell, R. W. Simons, P. A. Cotter, J. Parkhill, and J. F. Miller, "Reverse transcriptase-mediated tropism switching in Bordetella bacteriophage," *Science*, vol. 295, no. 5562, pp. 2091–2094, 2002.
- [112] D. Scholl, S. Rogers, S. Adhya, and C. R. Merril, "Bacteriophage K1-5 Encodes Two Different Tail Fiber Proteins, Allowing It To Infect and Replicate on both K1 and K5 Strains of Escherichia coli," *Journal of Virology*, vol. 75, no. 6, pp. 2509–2515, 2001.
- [113] S. R. Casjens and E. B. Gilcrease, "Determining DNA packaging strategy by analysis of the termini of the chromosomes in tailed-bacteriophage virions.," *Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.)*, vol. 502, pp. 91–111, 2009.
- [114] L. C. Fortier and O. Sekulovic, "Importance of prophages to evolution and virulence of bacterial pathogens," *Virulence*, vol. 4, no. 5, pp. 354–365, 2013.
- [115] A. M. Varani, C. B. Monteiro-Vitorello, H. I. Nakaya, and M. A. Van Sluys, "The role of prophage in plant-pathogenic bacteria," *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, vol. 51, pp. 429–451, 2013.
- [116] A. M. Nanda, K. Thormann, and J. Frunzke, "Impact of spontaneous prophage induction on the fitness of bacterial populations and host-microbe interactions," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 197, no. 3, pp. 410–419, 2015.
- [117] T. Sime-Ngando, J. C. Bertrand, D. Bogusz, J. F. Brugère, C. Franche, M. L. Fardeau, E. Froussart, A. Geiger, M. S. Goñi-Urriza, B. Ollivier, and P. W. O'Toole, "The evolution of living beings started with prokaryotes and in interaction with prokaryotes," in *Prokaryotes and Evolution*, pp. 241–338, 2019.
- [118] H. Brüssow, C. Canchaya, and W.-D. Hardt, "Phages and the Evolution of Bacterial Pathogens: from Genomic Rearrangements to Lysogenic Conversion," *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 560–602, 2004.
- [119] Y. Chen, L. Yang, D. Yang, J. Song, C. Wang, E. Sun, C. Gu, H. Chen, Y. Tong, P. Tao, and B. Wu, "Specific Integration of Temperate Phage Decreases the Pathogenicity of Host Bacteria," *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, vol. 10, 2020.
- [120] R. T. Okinaka, E. P. Price, S. R. Wolken, J. M. Gruendike, W. K. Chung, T. Pearson, G. Xie, C. Munk, K. K. Hill, J. Challacombe, B. E. Ivins, J. M. Schupp, S. M. Beckstrom-Sternberg, A. Friedlander, and P. Keim, "An attenuated strain of Bacillus anthracis (CDC 684) has a large chromosomal inversion and altered growth kinetics," *BMC Genomics*, vol. 12, 2011.
- [121] J. Bondy-Denomy and A. R. Davidson, "When a virus is not a parasite: The beneficial effects of prophages on bacterial fitness," *Journal of Microbiology*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 235–242, 2014.
- [122] N. Cumby, A. M. Edwards, A. R. Davidson, and K. L. Maxwell, "The bacteriophage HK97 gp15 moron element encodes a novel superinfection exclusion protein," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 194, no. 18, pp. 5012–5019, 2012.
- [123] C. L. Schneider, "Bacteriophage-Mediated Horizontal Gene Transfer: Transduction," in *Bacterio-phages*, pp. 1–42, 2017.
- [124] A. Fillol-Salom, A. Alsaadi, J. A. de Sousa, L. Zhong, K. R. Foster, E. P. Rocha, J. R. Penadés, H. Ingmer, and J. Haaber, "Bacteriophages benefit from generalized transduction," *PLoS Pathogens*, vol. 15, no. 7, 2019.

- [125] J. Haaber, J. J. Leisner, M. T. Cohn, A. Catalan-Moreno, J. B. Nielsen, H. Westh, J. R. Penadés, and H. Ingmer, "Bacterial viruses enable their host to acquire antibiotic resistance genes from neighbouring cells," *Nature Communications*, vol. 7, 2016.
- [126] M. G. Weinbauer, "Ecology of prokaryotic viruses," FEMS Microbiology Reviews, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 127–181, 2004.
- [127] I. Baess, "Report on a Pseudolysogenic Mycobacterium and a Review of the Literature Concerning Pseudolysogeny," Acta Pathologica Microbiologica Scandinavica Section B Microbiology and Immunology, vol. 79 B, no. 3, pp. 428–434, 1971.
- [128] M. Łoś and G. Wegrzyn, "Pseudolysogeny," in Advances in Virus Research, vol. 82, pp. 339–349, 2012.
- [129] W. Cenens, M. T. Mebrhatu, A. Makumi, P. J. Ceyssens, R. Lavigne, R. Van Houdt, F. Taddei, and A. Aertsen, "Expression of a Novel P22 ORFan Gene Reveals the Phage Carrier State in Salmonella Typhimurium," *PLoS Genetics*, vol. 9, no. 2, 2013.
- [130] L. Latino, C. Midoux, Y. Hauck, G. Vergnaud, and C. Pourcel, "Pseudolysogeny and sequential mutations build multiresistance to virulent bacteriophages in pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Microbiology (United Kingdom)*, vol. 162, no. 5, pp. 748–763, 2016.
- [131] L. Latino, C. Midoux, G. Vergnaud, and C. Pourcel, "Investigation of Pseudomonas aeruginosa strain PcyII-10 variants resisting infection by N4-like phage Ab09 in search for genes involved in phage adsorption," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 14, no. 4, 2019.
- [132] C. Pource, C. Midoux, G. Vergnaud, and L. Latino, "A carrier state is established in pseudomonas aeruginosa by phage LeviOr01, a newly isolated ssRNA levivirus," *Journal of General Virology*, vol. 98, no. 8, pp. 2181–2189, 2017.
- [133] F. van Charante, D. Holtappels, B. Blasdel, and B. H. Burrowes, "Isolation of Bacteriophages," in Bacteriophages, pp. 433–464, jan 2021.
- [134] J. Gill and P. Hyman, "Phage Choice, Isolation, and Preparation for Phage Therapy," *Current Pharmaceutical Biotechnology*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 2–14, 2010.
- [135] S. Hjorleifsdottir, A. Aevarsson, G. O. Hreggvidsson, O. H. Fridjonsson, and J. K. Kristjansson, "Isolation, growth and genome of the Rhodothermus RM378 thermophilic bacteriophage," *Extremophiles*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 261–270, 2014.
- [136] M. Li, J. Wang, Q. Zhang, L. Lin, A. Kuang, L. A. Materon, X. Ji, and Y. Wei, "Isolation and Characterization of the Lytic Cold-Active Bacteriophage MYSP06 from the Mingyong Glacier in China," *Current Microbiology*, vol. 72, no. 2, pp. 120–127, 2016.
- [137] A. M. Luhtanen, E. Eronen-Rasimus, H. Kaartokallio, J. M. Rintala, R. Autio, and E. Roine, "Isolation and characterization of phage-host systems from the Baltic Sea ice," *Extremophiles*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 121–130, 2014.
- [138] K. Moulton, M. Movassaghi, J. Jamison, N. Lobo, C. Lobo, W. Witbeck, K. Gikonyo, J. Gaynor, L. Rothschild, F. Mwaura, and S. Duboise, "Isolation and Initial Study of ØM3-16, a Bacteriophage Infecting an Alkaliphilic Vibrio metschnikovii Isolate from Lake Magadi, a Soda Lake in Kenya's Great Rift Valley," *Microscopy and Microanalysis*, vol. 17, no. S2, pp. 350–351, 2011.

- [139] Y. Xie, L. Wahab, and J. J. Gill, "Development and validation of a microtiter plate-based assay for determination of bacteriophage host range and virulence," *Viruses*, vol. 10, no. 4, 2018.
- [140] M. Henry, B. Biswas, L. Vincent, V. Mokashi, R. Schuch, K. A. Bishop-Lilly, and S. Sozhamannan, " Development of a high throughput assay for indirectly measuring phage growth using the OmniLog TM system," *Bacteriophage*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 159–167, 2012.
- [141] A. Yakimovich, V. Andriasyan, R. Witte, I. H. Wang, V. Prasad, M. Suomalainen, and U. F. Greber, "Plaque2.0-a high-throughput analysis framework to score virus-cell transmission and clonal cell expansion," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 10, no. 9, 2015.
- [142] Locus Biosciences, "Precision Therapeutics Platform." https://www.locus-bio.com/ technology/. Accessed: 2021-09-29.
- [143] D. K. Karaolis, S. Somara, D. R. Maneval, J. A. Johnson, and J. B. Kaper, "A bacteriophage encoding a pathogenicity island, a type-IV pilus and a phage receptor in cholera bacteria," *Nature*, vol. 399, no. 6734, pp. 375–379, 1999.
- [144] P. C. Fineran, N. K. Petty, and G. P. Salmond, "Transduction: Host DNA Transfer by Bacteriophages," in *Encyclopedia of Microbiology*, pp. 666–679, 2009.
- [145] R. M. Dedrick, C. A. Guerrero-Bustamante, R. A. Garlena, D. A. Russell, K. Ford, K. Harris, K. C. Gilmour, J. Soothill, D. Jacobs-Sera, R. T. Schooley, G. F. Hatfull, and H. Spencer, "Engineered bacteriophages for treatment of a patient with a disseminated drug-resistant Mycobacterium abscessus," *Nature Medicine*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 730–733, 2019.
- [146] T. Yamada, "Filamentous phages of Ralstonia solanacearum: Double-edged swords for pathogenic bacteria," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 4, no. NOV, 2013.
- [147] H. S. Addy, A. Askora, T. Kawasaki, M. Fujie, and T. Yamada, "Loss of virulence of the phytopathogen Ralstonia solanacearum through infection by  $\phi$  RSM filamentous phages," *Phytopathology*, vol. 102, no. 5, pp. 469–477, 2012.
- [148] A. A. Ahmad, A. Askora, T. Kawasaki, M. Fujie, and T. Yamada, "The filamentous phage XacF1 causes loss of virulence in Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. citri, the causative agent of citrus canker disease," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 5, no. JULY, 2014.
- [149] H. S. Addy, A. Askora, T. Kawasaki, M. Fujie, and T. Yamada, "The filamentous phage φrSS1 enhances virulence of phytopathogenic Ralstonia solanacearum on tomato," *Phytopathology*, vol. 102, no. 3, pp. 244–251, 2012.
- [150] I. Akremi, D. Holtappels, W. Brabra, M. Jlidi, A. H. Ibrahim, M. B. Ali, K. Fortuna, M. Ahmed, B. Van Meerbeek, A. Rhouma, R. Lavigne, M. B. Ali, and J. Wagemans, "First report of filamentous phages isolated from tunisian orchards to control erwinia amylovora," *Microorganisms*, vol. 8, no. 11, pp. 1–17, 2020.
- [151] R. A. Frampton, A. R. Pitman, and P. C. Fineran, "Advances in bacteriophage-mediated control of plant pathogens," *International Journal of Microbiology*, 2012.
- [152] S. Rombouts, A. Volckaert, S. Venneman, B. Declercq, D. Vandenheuvel, C. N. Allonsius, C. Van Malderghem, H. B. Jang, Y. Briers, J. P. Noben, J. Klumpp, J. Van Vaerenbergh, M. Maes, and R. Lavigne, "Characterization of novel bacteriophages for biocontrol of bacterial blight in leek caused by Pseudomonas syringae pv. porri," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 7, no. MAR, 2016.

- [153] P. Ni, L. Wang, B. Deng, S. Jiu, C. Ma, C. Zhang, A. Almeida, D. Wang, W. Xu, and S. Wang, "Characterization of a lytic bacteriophage against pseudomonas syringae pv. Actinidiae and its endolysin," *Viruses*, vol. 13, no. 4, 2021.
- [154] M. Rabiey, S. R. Roy, D. Holtappels, L. Franceschetti, B. J. Quilty, R. Creeth, G. W. Sundin, J. Wagemans, R. Lavigne, and R. W. Jackson, "Phage biocontrol to combat Pseudomonas syringae pathogens causing disease in cherry," *Microbial Biotechnology*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 1428– 1445, 2020.
- [155] D. Holtappels, A. Kerremans, Y. Busschots, J. V. Vaerenbergh Van, M. Maes, R. Lavigne, and J. Wagemans, "Preparing for the KIL: Receptor analysis of pseudomonas syringae pv. porri phages and their impact on bacterial virulence," *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, vol. 21, no. 8, 2020.
- [156] T. J. Evans, A. Trauner, E. Komitopoulou, and G. P. Salmond, "Exploitation of a new flagellatropic phage of Erwinia for positive selection of bacterial mutants attenuated in plant virulence: Towards phage therapy," *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, vol. 108, no. 2, pp. 676–685, 2010.
- [157] F. B. Iriarte, A. Obradović, M. H. Wernsing, L. E. Jackson, B. Balogh, J. A. Hong, M. T. Momol, J. B. Jones, and G. E. Vallad, "Soil-based systemic delivery and phyllosphere in vivo propagation of bacteriophages," *Bacteriophage*, vol. 2, no. 4, p. e23530, 2012.
- [158] T. M. Straub, I. L. Pepper, and C. P. Gerba, "Persistence of viruses in desert soils amended with anaerobically digested sewage sludge," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 636–641, 1992.
- [159] I. K. Sykes, S. Lanning, and S. T. Williams, "The effect of pH on soil actinophage," *Journal of General Microbiology*, vol. 122, no. 2, pp. 271–280, 1981.
- [160] M. Schiffenbauer and G. Stotzky, "Adsorption of coliphages T1 and T7 to clay minerals," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 590–596, 1982.
- [161] S. M. Goyal and C. P. Gerba, "Comparative adsorption of human enteroviruses, simian rotavirus, and selected bacteriophages to soils," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 241–247, 1979.
- [162] J. Zhuang and Y. Jin, "Virus Retention and Transport as Influenced by Different Forms of Soil Organic Matter," *Journal of Environmental Quality*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 816–823, 2003.
- [163] S. M. Goyal, C. P. Gerba, and G. Bitton, "Ecology of soil bacteriophages," in *Phage Ecology*, Wiley Series in Ecological and Applied Microbiology, pp. 157–179, Wiley, 1987.
- [164] A. Fujiwara, M. Fujisawa, R. Hamasaki, T. Kawasaki, M. Fujie, and T. Yamada, "Biocontrol of Ralstonia solanacearum by treatment with lytic bacteriophages," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 77, no. 12, pp. 4155–4162, 2011.
- [165] J. Gill and S. Abedon, "Bacteriophage Ecology and Plants.," APSnet Feature Articles, 2003.
- [166] M. Pantastico-Caldas, K. E. Duncan, C. A. Istock, and J. A. Bell, "Population dynamics of bacteriophage and Bacillus subtilis in soil," *Ecology*, vol. 73, no. 5, pp. 1888–1902, 1992.
- [167] B. Balogh, J. B. Jones, M. T. Momol, S. M. Olson, A. Obradovic, P. King, and L. E. Jackson, "Improved efficacy of newly formulated bacteriophages for management of bacterial spot on tomato," *Plant Disease*, vol. 87, no. 8, pp. 949–954, 2003.

- [168] F. B. Iriarte, B. Balogh, M. T. Momol, L. M. Smith, M. Wilson, and J. B. Jones, "Factors affecting survival of bacteriophage on tomato leaf surfaces," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 73, no. 6, pp. 1704–1711, 2007.
- [169] Y. Born, L. Bosshard, B. Duffy, M. J. Loessner, and L. Fieseler, "Protection of Erwinia amylovora bacteriophage Y2 from UV-induced damage by natural compounds," *Bacteriophage*, vol. 5, no. 4, p. e1074330, 2015.
- [170] I. R. Khalil, V. U. Irorere, I. Radecka, A. T. Burns, M. Kowalczuk, J. L. Mason, and M. P. Khechara, "Poly-γ-glutamic acid: Biodegradable polymer for potential protection of beneficial viruses," *Materials*, vol. 9, no. 1, 2016.
- [171] A. T. Orynbayev, F. S. U. Dzhalilov, and A. N. Ignatov, "Improved efficacy of formulated bacteriophage in control of black rot caused by Xanthomonas campestris pv. campestris on cabbage seedlings," *Archives of Phytopathology and Plant Protection*, vol. 53, no. 7-8, pp. 379–394, 2020.
- [172] H. Nagai, N. Miyake, S. Kato, D. Maekawa, Y. Inoue, and Y. Takikawa, "Improved control of black rot of broccoli caused by Xanthomonas campestris pv. campestris using a bacteriophage and a nonpathogenic Xanthomonas sp. strain," *Journal of General Plant Pathology*, vol. 83, no. 6, pp. 373–381, 2017.
- [173] P. K. Borah, J. K. Jindal, and J. P. Verma, "Integrated management of bacterial leaf spot of mungbean with bacteriophages of Xav and chemicals.," *Journal of Mycology and Plant Pathology*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 19–21, 2000.
- [174] M. Ravensdale, T. J. Blom, J. A. Gracia-Garza, A. M. Svircev, and R. J. Smith, "Bacteriophages and the control of Erwinia carotovora subsp. carotovora," *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 121–130, 2007.
- [175] B. Balogh, J. B. Jones, M. T. Momol, and S. M. Olson, "Persistence of bacteriophages as biocontrol agents in the tomato canopy," *Acta Horticulturae*, vol. 695, pp. 299–302, 2005.
- [176] M. Zaccardelli, A. Saccardi, E. Gambin, and U. Mazzucchi, "Xanthomonas campestris pv. pruni bacteriophages on peach trees and their potential use for biological control," *Phytopathologia Mediterranea*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 133–140, 1992.
- [177] N. Yamamoto, D. Fraser, and H. R. Mahler, "Chelating Agent Shock of Bacteriophage T5," *Journal of Virology*, vol. 2, no. 9, pp. 944–950, 1968.
- [178] D. Chattopadhyay, S. Chattopadhyay, W. G. Lyon, and J. T. Wilson, "Effect of surfactants on the survival and sorption of viruses," *Environmental Science and Technology*, vol. 36, no. 19, pp. 4017–4024, 2002.
- [179] J. Li and J. J. Dennehy, "Differential bacteriophage mortality on exposure to copper," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 77, no. 19, pp. 6878–6883, 2011.
- [180] A. Obradovic, J. B. Jones, M. T. Momol, B. Balogh, and S. M. Olson, "Management of tomato bacterial spot in the field by foliar applications of bacteriophages and SAR inducers," *Plant Disease*, vol. 88, no. 7, pp. 736–740, 2004.
- [181] P. Gómez and A. Buckling, "Bacteria-phage antagonistic coevolution in soil," *Science*, vol. 332, no. 6025, pp. 106–109, 2011.

- [182] L. D. C. Lopez-Pascua and A. Buckling, "Increasing productivity accelerates host-parasite coevolution," *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 853–860, 2008.
- [183] L. D. Lopez-Pascua, M. A. Brockhurst, and A. Buckling, "Antagonistic coevolution across productivity gradients: An experimental test of the effects of dispersal," *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 207–211, 2010.
- [184] L. Lopez Pascua, A. R. Hall, A. Best, A. D. Morgan, M. Boots, and A. Buckling, "Higher resources decrease fluctuating selection during host-parasite coevolution," *Ecology Letters*, vol. 17, no. 11, pp. 1380–1388, 2014.
- [185] S. J. Labrie, J. E. Samson, and S. Moineau, "Bacteriophage resistance mechanisms," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 317–327, 2010.
- [186] M. R. Tock and D. T. Dryden, "The biology of restriction and anti-restriction," *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 466–472, 2005.
- [187] D. H. Parma, M. Snyder, S. Sobolevski, M. Nawroz, E. Brody, and L. Gold, "The Rex system of bacteriophage  $\lambda$ : Tolerance and altruistic cell death," *Genes and Development*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 497–510, 1992.
- [188] J. Van Der Oost, E. R. Westra, R. N. Jackson, and B. Wiedenheft, "Unravelling the structural and mechanistic basis of CRISPR-Cas systems," *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 479–492, 2014.
- [189] T. J. Evans, A. Ind, E. Komitopoulou, and G. P. Salmond, "Phage-selected lipopolysaccharide mutants of Pectobacterium atrosepticum exhibit different impacts on virulence," *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, vol. 109, no. 2, pp. 505–514, 2010.
- [190] P. C. Fineran, T. R. Blower, I. J. Foulds, D. P. Humphreys, K. S. Lilley, and G. P. Salmond, "The phage abortive infection system, ToxIN, functions as a protein-RNA toxin-antitoxin pair," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 106, no. 3, pp. 894– 899, 2009.
- [191] R. Przybilski, C. Richter, T. Gristwood, J. S. Clulow, R. B. Vercoe, and P. C. Fineran, "Csy4 is responsible for CRISPR RNA processing in Pectobacterium atrosepticum," *RNA Biology*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 517–528, 2011.
- [192] A. R. Ayers, S. B. Ayers, and R. N. Goodman, "Extracellular polysaccharide of Erwinia amylovora: A correlation with virulence," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 659–666, 1979.
- [193] S. J. Ahern, M. Das, T. S. Bhowmick, R. Young, and C. F. Gonzalez, "Characterization of novel virulent broad-host-range phages of Xylella fastidiosa and Xanthomonas," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 196, no. 2, pp. 459–471, 2014.
- [194] M. León and R. Bastías, "Virulence reduction in bacteriophage resistant bacteria," Frontiers in Microbiology, vol. 6, 2015.
- [195] T. R. Blower, P. C. Fineran, M. J. Johnson, I. K. Toth, D. P. Humphreys, and G. P. Salmond, "Mutagenesis and functional characterization of the RNA and protein components of the toxIN abortive infection and toxin-antitoxin locus of Erwinia," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 191, no. 19, pp. 6029–6039, 2009.

- [196] H. Deveau, R. Barrangou, J. E. Garneau, J. Labonté, C. Fremaux, P. Boyaval, D. A. Romero, P. Horvath, and S. Moineau, "Phage response to CRISPR-encoded resistance in Streptococcus thermophilus," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 190, no. 4, pp. 1390–1400, 2008.
- [197] M. Landsberger, S. Gandon, S. Meaden, C. Rollie, A. Chevallereau, H. Chabas, A. Buckling, E. R. Westra, and S. van Houte, "Anti-CRISPR Phages Cooperate to Overcome CRISPR-Cas Immunity," *Cell*, vol. 174, no. 4, pp. 908–916.e12, 2018.
- [198] OmniLytics Inc., "AgriPhage." https://www.agriphage.com. Accessed: 2021-07-18.
- [199] AP Inphatec, "XyIPhi-PD." https://inphatec.com/xylphi\_pd. Accessed: 2021-09-19.
- [200] Enviroinvest Zrt., "Erwiphage." https://www.erwiphage.com. Accessed: 2021-07-18.
- [201] APS Biocontrol Ltd., "Biolyse." https://www.apsbiocontrol.com/products. Accessed: 2021-07-18.
- [202] P. G. Marrone, "The market and potential for biopesticides," in ACS Symposium Series, vol. 1172, pp. 245–258, 2014.
- [203] Mordor Intelligence, "Biopesticides Market Growth, trends, Covid-19 impact, and forecasts (2021 2026)," tech. rep., 2020.
- [204] P. G. Marrone, "Status and potential of bioprotection products for crop protection," in *Recent Highlights in the Discovery and Optimization of Crop Protection Products*, pp. 25–38, 2021.
- [205] A. Rahimi-Midani, J. O. Kim, J. H. Kim, J. Lim, J. G. Ryu, M. K. Kim, and T. J. Choi, "Potential use of newly isolated bacteriophage as a biocontrol against Acidovorax citrulli," *Archives of Microbiology*, vol. 202, no. 2, pp. 377–389, 2020.
- [206] A. Rahimi-Midani and T. J. Choi, "Transport of phage in melon plants and inhibition of progression of bacterial fruit blotch," *Viruses*, vol. 12, no. 4, 2020.
- [207] J. Schindelin, I. Arganda-Carreras, E. Frise, V. Kaynig, M. Longair, T. Pietzsch, S. Preibisch, C. Rueden, S. Saalfeld, B. Schmid, J. Y. Tinevez, D. J. White, V. Hartenstein, K. Eliceiri, P. Tomancak, and A. Cardona, "Fiji: An open-source platform for biological-image analysis," *Nature Methods*, vol. 9, no. 7, pp. 676–682, 2012.
- [208] F. Gordillo and J. Barr, "Screening for Lysogen Activity in Therapeutically Relevant Bacteriophages," *Bio-Protocol*, vol. 11, no. 8, 2021.
- [209] A. M. Bolger, M. Lohse, and B. Usadel, "Trimmomatic: A flexible trimmer for Illumina sequence data," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 30, no. 15, pp. 2114–2120, 2014.
- [210] S. Andrews, F. Krueger, A. Seconds-Pichon, F. Biggins, and S. Wingett, "FastQC. A quality control tool for high throughput sequence data. Babraham Bioinformatics," 2015.
- [211] V. Jalili, E. Afgan, Q. Gu, D. Clements, D. Blankenberg, J. Goecks, J. Taylor, and A. Nekrutenko, "The Galaxy platform for accessible, reproducible and collaborative biomedical analyses: 2020 update," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 48, no. W1, pp. W395–W402, 2021.
- [212] J. J. Davis, A. R. Wattam, R. K. Aziz, T. Brettin, R. Butler, R. M. Butler, P. Chlenski, N. Conrad, A. Dickerman, E. M. Dietrich, J. L. Gabbard, S. Gerdes, A. Guard, R. W. Kenyon, D. MacHi, C. Mao, D. Murphy-Olson, M. Nguyen, E. K. Nordberg, G. J. Olsen, R. D. Olson, J. C. Overbeek, R. Overbeek, B. Parrello, G. D. Pusch, M. Shukla, C. Thomas, M. Vanoeffelen, V. Vonstein, A. S.

Warren, F. Xia, D. Xie, H. Yoo, and R. Stevens, "The PATRIC Bioinformatics Resource Center: Expanding data and analysis capabilities," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 48, no. D1, pp. D606–D612, 2020.

- [213] R. R. Wick, L. M. Judd, C. L. Gorrie, and K. E. Holt, "Unicycler: Resolving bacterial genome assemblies from short and long sequencing reads," *PLoS Computational Biology*, vol. 13, no. 6, 2017.
- [214] A. Bankevich, S. Nurk, D. Antipov, A. A. Gurevich, M. Dvorkin, A. S. Kulikov, V. M. Lesin, S. I. Nikolenko, S. Pham, A. D. Prjibelski, A. V. Pyshkin, A. V. Sirotkin, N. Vyahhi, G. Tesler, M. A. Alekseyev, and P. A. Pevzner, "SPAdes: A new genome assembly algorithm and its applications to single-cell sequencing," *Journal of Computational Biology*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 455–477, 2012.
- [215] R. R. Wick, M. B. Schultz, J. Zobel, and K. E. Holt, "Bandage: Interactive visualization of de novo genome assemblies," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 31, no. 20, pp. 3350–3352, 2015.
- [216] B. Langmead and S. L. Salzberg, "Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2," Nature Methods, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 357–359, 2012.
- [217] K. Okonechnikov, O. Golosova, M. Fursov, A. Varlamov, Y. Vaskin, I. Efremov, O. G. German Grehov, D. Kandrov, K. Rasputin, M. Syabro, and T. Tleukenov, "Unipro UGENE: A unified bioinformatics toolkit," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 28, no. 8, pp. 1166–1167, 2012.
- [218] S. F. Altschul, J. C. Wootton, E. M. Gertz, R. Agarwala, A. Morgulis, A. A. Schäffer, and Y. K. Yu, "Protein database searches using compositionally adjusted substitution matrices," *FEBS Journal*, vol. 272, no. 20, pp. 5101–5109, 2005.
- [219] L. A. Kelley and M. J. Sternberg, "Protein structure prediction on the web: A case study using the phyre server," *Nature Protocols*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 363–373, 2009.
- [220] T. Carver, S. R. Harris, M. Berriman, J. Parkhill, and J. A. McQuillan, "Artemis: An integrated platform for visualization and analysis of high-throughput sequence-based experimental data," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 464–469, 2012.
- [221] Y. Nishimura, T. Yoshida, M. Kuronishi, H. Uehara, H. Ogata, and S. Goto, "ViPTree: The viral proteomic tree server," *Bioinformatics*, vol. 33, no. 15, pp. 2379–2380, 2017.
- [222] C. Moraru, A. Varsani, and A. M. Kropinski, "VIRIDIC—A novel tool to calculate the intergenomic similarities of prokaryote-infecting viruses," *Viruses*, vol. 12, no. 11, 2020.
- [223] M. Waskom, "Seaborn: Statistical Data Visualization," *Journal of Open Source Software*, vol. 6, no. 60, p. 3021, 2021.
- [224] M. J. Sullivan, N. K. Petty, and S. A. Beatson, "Easyfig: A genome comparison visualizer," *Bioin-formatics*, vol. 27, no. 7, pp. 1009–1010, 2011.
- [225] S. Kumar, G. Stecher, M. Li, C. Knyaz, and K. Tamura, "MEGA X: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis across computing platforms," *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 1547– 1549, 2018.
- [226] R. C. Edgar, "MUSCLE: Multiple sequence alignment with high accuracy and high throughput," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 1792–1797, 2004.
- [227] B. D. Merrill, A. T. Ward, J. H. Grose, and S. Hope, "Software-based analysis of bacteriophage genomes, physical ends, and packaging strategies," *BMC Genomics*, vol. 17, no. 1, 2016.

- [228] E. M. Adriaenssens and J. Rodney Brister, "How to name and classify your phage: An informal guide," *Viruses*, vol. 9, no. 4, 2017.
- [229] T. L. Brown, J. Tucci, Z. A. Dyson, P. Lock, C. G. Adda, and S. Petrovski, "Dynamic interactions between prophages induce lysis in Propionibacterium acnes," *Research in Microbiology*, vol. 168, no. 2, pp. 103–112, 2017.
- [230] A. C. Groth and M. P. Calos, "Phage integrases: Biology and applications," *Journal of Molecular Biology*, vol. 335, no. 3, pp. 667–678, 2004.
- [231] R. M. Dedrick, T. N. Mavrich, W. L. Ng, J. C. Cervantes Reyes, M. R. Olm, R. E. Rush, D. Jacobs-Sera, D. A. Russell, and G. F. Hatfull, "Function, expression, specificity, diversity and incompatibility of actinobacteriophage parABS systems," *Molecular Microbiology*, vol. 101, no. 4, pp. 625–644, 2016.
- [232] J. E. Trempy, J. E. Kirby, and S. Gottesman, "Alp suppression of Lon: Dependence on the slpA gene," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 176, no. 7, pp. 2061–2067, 1994.
- [233] L. Aravind, V. Anantharaman, S. Balaji, M. M. Babu, and L. M. Iyer, "The many faces of the helixturn-helix domain: Transcription regulation and beyond," *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 231–262, 2005.
- [234] D. L. Court, A. B. Oppenheim, and S. L. Adhya, "A new look at bacteriophage λ genetic networks," *Journal of Bacteriology*, vol. 189, no. 2, pp. 298–304, 2007.
- [235] L. Zhang, D. Xu, Y. Huang, X. Zhu, M. Rui, T. Wan, X. Zheng, Y. Shen, X. Chen, K. Ma, and Y. Gong, "Structural and functional characterization of deep-sea thermophilic bacteriophage GVE2 HNH endonuclease," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 7, 2017.
- [236] J. Murphy, J. Mahony, S. Ainsworth, A. Nauta, and D. van Sinderen, "Bacteriophage orphan DNA methyltransferases: Insights from their bacterial origin, function, and occurrence," *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, vol. 79, no. 24, pp. 7547–7555, 2013.
- [237] A. Uc-Mass, E. J. Loeza, M. De La Garza, G. Guarneros, J. Hernández-Sánchez, and L. Kameyama, "An orthologue of the cor gene is involved in the exclusion of temperate lambdoid phages. Evidence that Cor inactivates FhuA receptor functions," *Virology*, vol. 329, no. 2, pp. 425–433, 2004.
- [238] N. Bonilla, M. I. Rojas, G. N. F. Cruz, S. H. Hung, F. Rohwer, and J. J. Barr, "Phage on tap-a quick and efficient protocol for the preparation of bacteriophage laboratory stocks," *PeerJ*, vol. 2016, no. 7, 2016.
- [239] T. Luong, A. C. Salabarria, R. A. Edwards, and D. R. Roach, "Standardized bacteriophage purification for personalized phage therapy," *Nature Protocols*, vol. 15, no. 9, pp. 2867–2890, 2020.
- [240] C. M. Ongkudon, J. H. Chew, B. Liu, and M. K. Danquah, "Chromatographic Removal of Endotoxins: A Bioprocess Engineer's Perspective," *ISRN Chromatography*, vol. 2012, pp. 1–9, 2012.
- [241] J. Garbe, B. Bunk, M. Rohde, and M. Schobert, "Sequencing and Characterization of Pseudomonas aeruginosa phage JG004," *BMC Microbiology*, vol. 11, 2011.
- [242] P. Deptula, P. K. Laine, R. J. Roberts, O. P. Smolander, H. Vihinen, V. Piironen, L. Paulin, E. Jokitalo, K. Savijoki, P. Auvinen, and P. Varmanen, "De novo assembly of genomes from long sequence reads reveals uncharted territories of Propionibacterium freudenreichii," *BMC Genomics*, vol. 18, no. 1, 2017.

- [243] A. Dragoš, A. J. Andersen, C. N. Lozano-Andrade, P. J. Kempen, Á. T. Kovács, and M. L. Strube, "Phages carry interbacterial weapons encoded by biosynthetic gene clusters," *Current Biology*, 2021.
- [244] M. Schmelcher, D. M. Donovan, and M. J. Loessner, "Bacteriophage endolysins as novel antimicrobials," *Future Microbiology*, vol. 7, no. 10, pp. 1147–1171, 2012.
- [245] C. Weigel and H. Seitz, "Bacteriophage replication modules," *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 321–381, 2006.
- [246] S. Koskiniemi, J. G. Lamoureux, K. C. Nikolakakis, C. T. De Roodenbeke, M. D. Kaplan, D. A. Low, and C. S. Hayes, "Rhs proteins from diverse bacteria mediate intercellular competition," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 110, no. 17, pp. 7032–7037, 2013.
- [247] L. M. Kasman, A. Kasman, C. Westwater, J. Dolan, M. G. Schmidt, and J. S. Norris, "Overcoming the Phage Replication Threshold: a Mathematical Model with Implications for Phage Therapy," *Journal of Virology*, vol. 76, no. 11, pp. 5557–5564, 2002.
- [248] E. M. Adriaenssens, J. van Vaerenbergh, D. Vandenheuvel, V. Dunon, P. J. Ceyssens, M. de Proft, A. M. Kropinski, J. P. Noben, M. Maes, and R. Lavigne, "T4-related bacteriophage LIMEstone isolates for the control of soft rot on potato caused by 'Dickeya solani'," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 7, no. 3, 2012.
- [249] S. Le, X. He, Y. Tan, G. Huang, L. Zhang, R. Lux, W. Shi, and F. Hu, "Mapping the Tail Fiber as the Receptor Binding Protein Responsible for Differential Host Specificity of Pseudomonas aeruginosa Bacteriophages PaP1 and JG004," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 7, 2013.
- [250] V. Chaikeeratisak, K. Nguyen, K. Khanna, A. F. Brilot, M. L. Erb, J. K. Coker, A. Vavilina, G. L. Newton, R. Buschauer, K. Pogliano, E. Villa, D. A. Agard, and J. Pogliano, "Assembly of a nucleus-like structure during viral replication in bacteria," *Science*, vol. 355, no. 6321, pp. 194–197, 2017.
- [251] P. A. de Jonge, F. L. Nobrega, S. J. Brouns, and B. E. Dutilh, "Molecular and Evolutionary Determinants of Bacteriophage Host Range," *Trends in Microbiology*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 51–63, 2019.
- [252] R. A. Edwards, K. McNair, K. Faust, J. Raes, and B. E. Dutilh, "Computational approaches to predict bacteriophage-host relationships," *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 258– 272, 2016.
- [253] B. E. Heaton, J. Herrou, A. E. Blackwell, V. H. Wysocki, and S. Crosson, "Molecular structure and function of the novel BrnT/BrnA toxin-antitoxin system of Brucella abortus," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 287, no. 15, pp. 12098–12110, 2012.
- [254] N. T. T. Nga, T. N. Tran, D. Holtappels, N. L. Kim Ngan, N. P. Hao, M. Vallino, D. T. K. Tien, N. H. Khanh-Pham, R. Lavigne, K. Kamei, J. Wagemans, and J. B. Jones, "Phage biocontrol of bacterial leaf blight disease on welsh onion caused by xanthomonas axonopodis pv. Allii," *Antibiotics*, vol. 10, no. 5, 2021.
- [255] C. Kimmelshue, A. S. Goggi, and R. Cademartiri, "The use of biological seed coatings based on bacteriophages and polymers against Clavibacter michiganensis subsp. nebraskensis in maize seeds," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 9, no. 1, 2019.
- [256] A. K. Grennan, "Plant response to bacterial pathogens. Overlap between innate and gene-forgene defense response," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 142, no. 3, pp. 809–811, 2006.

- [257] L. Yin, X. Chen, Q. Chen, D. Wei, X.-Y. Hu, and A.-Q. Jia, "Diketopiperazine Modulates Arabidopsis Thaliana Root System Architecture by Promoting Interactions of Auxin Receptor TIR1 and IAA7/17 Proteins," *Plant and Cell Physiology*, sep 2021.
- [258] Y. Yang, W. Shen, Q. Zhong, Q. Chen, X. He, J. L. Baker, K. Xiong, X. Jin, J. Wang, F. Hu, and S. Le, "Development of a Bacteriophage Cocktail to Constrain the Emergence of Phage-Resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa," *Frontiers in Microbiology*, vol. 11, 2020.
- [259] D. Touliatos, I. C. Dodd, and M. Mcainsh, "Vertical farming increases lettuce yield per unit area compared to conventional horizontal hydroponics," *Food and Energy Security*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 184–191, 2016.
- [260] M. Pineda, M. L. Pérez-Bueno, and M. Barón, "Detection of bacterial infection in melon plants by classification methods based on imaging data," *Frontiers in Plant Science*, vol. 9, 2018.
- [261] J. Abdulridha, O. Batuman, and Y. Ampatzidis, "UAV-based remote sensing technique to detect citrus canker disease utilizing hyperspectral imaging and machine learning," *Remote Sensing*, vol. 11, no. 11, 2019.

### Appendix A

# **Plaque Morphologies**



Figure A.1: Plaque morphologies of the four phages Alfacinha1 (A), Alfacinha3 (B), Aval (C) and Acica (D). Alfacinha1 and Alfacinha 3 show small plaques (2-3 mm) and Aval and Acica very small plaques (<2 mm).

# Appendix B

# **Phage Genome Annotations**

ORF	Start	Stop	Strand	Top BLAST hit
1	82	1542	+	Integrase arm-type DNA-binding domain-containing protein
2	1771	1514	-	AlpA family phage regulatory protein
3	2004	1768	-	hypothetical protein
4	3146	2004	-	hypothetical protein
5	3592	3143	-	hypothetical protein
6	6371	3510	-	Chromosome (plasmid) partitioning protein ParB
7	6673	6374	-	hypothetical protein
8	7002	6691	-	hypothetical protein
9	7194	7021	-	hypothetical protein
10	7322	7191	-	hypothetical protein
11	7699	7319	-	hypothetical protein
12	7899	7699	-	hypothetical protein
13	8699	8037	-	Helix-turn-helix domain-containing protein
14	9180	9656	+	Phage activator protein cll
15	9794	9946	+	hypothetical protein
16	10028	12706	+	Virulence protein E
17	12693	12845	+	hypothetical protein
18	13071	13427	+	hypothetical protein
19	13414	13836	+	hypothetical protein
20	14549	13932	-	hypothetical protein
21	14588	14971	+	HNH endonuclease
22	15154	15723	+	P27 family phage terminase small subunit
23	15730	17466	+	Terminase large subunit
24	17463	18719	+	Phage portal protein
25	18719	19354	+	HK97 family phage prohead protease
26	19357	20616	+	Phage major capsid protein
27	20688	21125	+	hypothetical protein
28	21350	22354	+	HK97 gp10 family phage protein: putative tail-component
29	22351	22707	+	hypothetical protein
30	22788	23441	+	Phage tail protein
31	23541	23960	+	Phage tail assembly chaperone
32	23978	24289	+	FAD-dependent oxidoreductase
33	24338	24793	+	hypothetical protein

#### Table B.1: Annotation of the genome of the bacteriophage Aval.

ORF	Start	Stop	Strand	Top BLAST hit
34	24871	30423	+	Phage tail length tape measure family protein H
35	30456	31364	+	hypothetical protein
36	31361	32449	+	Pyocin knob domain-containing protein
37	32413	33840	+	hypothetical protein
38	33842	34465	+	hypothetical protein
39	34530	34946	+	Structural protein P5
40	34946	35332	+	Methyl-accepting chemotaxis protein
41	35319	35729	+	hypothetical protein
42	35726	35938	+	hypothetical protein
43	35935	36300	+	Lipopolysaccharide assembly protein A domain
44	36239	37501	+	DNA adenine methylase
45	37750	38259	+	hypothetical protein
46	38688	38497	-	hypothetical protein
47	39146	38685	-	hypothetical protein
48	39439	39143	-	hypothetical protein

Table B.2: Annotation of the genome of the bacteriophage Alfacinha1.

ORF	Start	Stop	Strand	Top BLAST hit
1	1254	160	-	Phage portal vertex protein GpQ
2	3305	1251	-	Phage terminase, ATPase subunit GpP
3	3247	4134	+	Phage capsid scaffolding protein GpO
4	4196	5200	+	Phage major capsid protein, P2 family
5	5295	6020	+	Phage terminase, endonuclease subunit GpM
6	6126	6608	+	Phage head completion/stabilization protein
7	6605	6823	+	Phage tail protein X
8	6827	7033	+	Phage holin T7 family
9	7161	7724	+	Lysozyme
10	7842	8384	+	hypothetical protein
11	8386	8901	+	Phage tail protein
12	8905	9378	+	Phage virion morphogenesis protein
13	9765	11267	+	Baseplate J/gp47 family protein
14	11267	12187	+	Phage tail protein
15	12381	15941	+	putative VrIC protein
16	15951	17435	+	Phage tail protein
17	17432	17818	+	hypothetical protein
18	17837	18577	+	Envelope protein
19	18677	19009	+	hypothetical protein
20	19006	19251	+	hypothetical protein
21	19214	19549	+	hypothetical protein
22	19546	19755	+	Helix-turn-helix transcriptional regulator
23	19868	21112	+	Phage tail sheath subtilisin-like domain-containing protein
24	21158	21667	+	Phage major tail tube protein
25	21790	22125	+	Phage tail assembly protein
26	22176	22265	+	GpE family phage tail protein

ORF	Start	Stop	Strand	Top BLAST hit
27	22318	24969	+	Phage tail length tape-measure protein GpT
28	24997	25458	+	Phage tail protein
29	25462	26517	+	Phage late control D family protein
30	27002	26562	-	hypothetical protein
31	28163	27390	-	Helix-turn-helix transcriptional regulator
32	28209	28430	+	hypothetical protein
33	28450	28731	+	hypothetical protein
34	28751	28912	+	hypothetical protein
35	28958	29404	+	ogr/Delta-like zinc finger family protein
36	29521	29946	+	ABC transporter ATP-binding protein
37	29937	30089	+	hypothetical protein
38	30086	30346	+	hypothetical protein
39	30349	30507	+	hypothetical protein
40	30504	30911	+	hypothetical protein
41	30926	32884	+	Phage replication protein GpA, endonuclease
42	32884	33156	+	hypothetical protein
43	33172	33390	+	hypothetical protein
44	33418	33681	+	hypothetical protein
45	33685	33915	+	hypothetical protein
46	33915	35048	+	Cytosine-specific methyltransferase
47	35045	35956	+	hypothetical protein
48	35953	36210	+	ABC transporter substrate-binding protein
49	36427	37806	+	Phosphoadenosine phosphosulfate reductase family protein
50	37815	38345	+	hypothetical protein
51	38345	38545	+	AlpA family phage regulatory protein
52	38609	38848	+	hypothetical protein
53	39877	38843	-	Site-specific integrase

#### Table B.3: Annotation of the genome of the bacteriophage Alfacinha3.

ORF	Start	Stop	Strand	Top BLAST hit
1	1318	224	-	Phage portal vertex protein GpQ
2	3226	1322	-	Phage terminase, ATPase subunit GpP
3	3312	4199	+	Phage capsid scaffolding protein GpO
4	4262	5266	+	Phage major capsid protein, P2 family
5	5360	6085	+	Phage terminase, endonuclease subunit GpM
6	6191	6673	+	Phage head completion/stabilization protein
7	6670	6888	+	Phage tail protein X
8	6892	7098	+	Phage holin T7 family
9	7098	7667	+	Lysozyme
10	7785	8327	+	hypothetical protein
11	8329	8844	+	Phage tail protein
12	8848	9321	+	Phage virion morphogenesis protein
13	9708	11210	+	Baseplate J/gp47 family protein
14	11210	12130	+	Phage tail protein

ORF	Start	Stop	Strand	Top BLAST hit
15	12324	15884	+	Putative VrIC protein
16	15894	17378	+	Phage tail protein
17	17375	17761	+	hypothetical protein
18	17780	18520	+	Envelope protein
19	18620	18952	+	hypothetical protein
20	18949	19194	+	hypothetical protein
21	19157	19492	+	hypothetical protein
22	19489	19698	+	Helix-turn-helix transcriptional regulator
23	19811	21055	+	Phage tail sheath subtilisin-like domain-containing protein
24	21101	21610	+	Phage major tail tube protein GpFII
25	21733	22068	+	Phage tail assembly protein
26	22119	22208	+	GpE family phage tail protein
27	22261	24912	+	Phage tail length tape-measure protein GpT
28	24940	25401	+	Phage tail protein
29	25405	26460	+	Phage late control D family protein
30	26945	26505	-	hypothetical protein
31	28157	27333	-	Helix-turn-helix transcriptional regulator
32	28151	28372	+	hypothetical protein
33	28392	28673	+	hypothetical protein
34	28693	28854	+	hypothetical protein
35	28924	29346	+	ogr/Delta-like zinc finger family protein
36	29463	29888	+	ABC transporter ATP-binding protein
37	29879	30031	+	hypothetical protein
38	30028	30288	+	hypothetical protein
39	30291	30449	+	hypothetical protein
40	30446	30853	+	hypothetical protein
41	30868	32826	+	Phage replication protein GpA, endonuclease
42	32826	33098	+	hypothetical protein
43	33114	33332	+	hypothetical protein
44	33360	33623	+	hypothetical protein
45	33627	33857	+	hypothetical protein
46	33857	35023	+	Cytosine-specific methyltransferase
47	35020	36024	+	hypothetical protein
48	36021	36278	+	ABC transporter substrate-binding protein
49	36495	37874	+	Phosphoadenosine phosphosulfate reductase family protein
50	37883	38413	+	hypothetical protein
51	38413	38613	+	AlpA family phage regulatory protein
52	38677	38916	+	hypothetical protein
53	40104	38911	-	Site-specific integrase

ORF	Start	Stop	Strand	Top BLAST hit
1	1096	23	-	Phage portal vertex protein GpQ
2	2940	1102	-	Phage terminase. ATPase subunit GpP
3	2779	4962	+	Phage major capsid protein, P2 family
4	5050	5754	+	Phage terminase, endonuclease subunit GpM
5	5868	6350	+	Phage head completion-stabilization protein
6	6347	6568	+	Phage tail protein X
7	6605	6937	+	Type II Holin
8	6937	7569	+	Endolysin
9	7569	8156	+	hypothetical protein
10	8122	8691	+	Phage tail protein
11	8695	9165	+	Phage virion morphogenesis protein
12	9240	9836	+	Phage baseplate assembly protein V
13	9836	10198	+	Phage baseplate assembly chaperone
14	10195	11046	+	Baseplate J/gp47 family protein
15	11043	11975	+	Phage tail protein
16	12124	15738	+	putative VrIC protein
17	15707	16234	+	RHS repeat protein
18	16231	17091	+	hypothetical protein
19	17097	17411	+	hypothetical protein
20	17561	18757	+	Phage tail sheath subtilisin-like domain-containing protein
21	18793	19302	+	Phage major tail tube protein
22	19399	19746	+	Phage tail assembly protein
23	19755	19886	+	GpE family phage tail protein
24	19900	22545	+	Phage tail protein
25	22570	23034	+	Phage tail protein
26	23037	24095	+	Phage late control D family protein
27	24149	24418	+	BrnT family toxin
28	24402	24698	+	BrnA antitoxin family protein
29	25227	24709	-	hypothetical protein
30	25913	25245	-	helix-turn-helix transcriptional regulator
31	26026	26253	+	hypothetical protein
32	26271	26498	+	hypothetical protein
33	26491	26760	+	hypothetical protein
34	26828	27250	+	ogr/Delta-like zinc finger family protein
35	27368	27790	+	hypothetical protein
36	27930	28091	+	hypothetical protein
37	28133	28411	+	hypothetical protein
38	28415	30358	+	Phage replication protein GpA, endonuclease
39	30358	30642	+	hypothetical protein
40	30639	30860	+	hypothetical protein
41	30896	31171	+	hypothetical protein
42	31175	31402	+	hypothetical protein
43	31422	32132	+	hypothetical protein
44	32129	32779	+	hypothetical protein
45	32776	33699	+	C-5 cytosine-specific DNA methylase family protein
46	33735	34835	+	Phosphoadenosine phosphosulfate reductase family protein
47	34832	35068	+	AlpA family phage regulatory protein
48	36306	35035	-	Phage integrase, site-specific tyrosine recombinase
49	37472	37008	-	hypothetical protein

#### Table B.4: Annotation of the genome of the bacteriophage Acica.